# POSTSECONDARY EXPERIENCES OF TITLE I HIGH SCHOOL GRADUATES WHO WERE AT-RISK STUDENTS OF LOW SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS: A TRANSCENDENTAL PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY

by

Raquel A. Grindley

Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment
Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University

2022

# POSTSECONDARY EXPERIENCES OF TITLE I HIGH SCHOOL GRADUATES WHO WERE AT-RISK STUDENTS OF LOW SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS: A TRANSCENDENTAL PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY

by Raquel A. Grindley

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment
Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA
2022

APPROVED BY:

Sherrita Y. Rogers, Ed.D., Committee Chair April Small, Ed.D. Committee Member

#### Abstract

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the lived experiences of high school graduates who were at-risk students (ARS) of low socioeconomic status (SES) who completed the state standards-based college and career readiness (CCR) curriculum at Title I high schools. For the purposes of this study, ARS of low SES were generally defined as students of low-income households with at least one parents failing to complete high school or a postsecondary degree program. CCR is defined as the level of preparedness for postsecondary schools and workforce settings. A Title I school is defined as a school that receives additional federal funding for the purpose of equalizing education for students of low SES. The theory that guided this study was Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory, which proposes that human development is affected by a combination of influences from different areas of an individual's ecological environment. This study occurred in the state of Georgia with 10 participants. Data were gathered through individual semi-structured interviews, focus groups, and written response prompts, which were then analyzed and synthesized into similar themes experienced by the participants. Three major themes and eight subthemes were identified from the analysis of the participant experiences. The major themes were preparedness for college, preparedness for the workforce, and high school environment. Additional research is required to continue exploring the impact of the CCR curriculum of Title I high schools on the postsecondary outcomes of students of low SES, particularly in relation to their preparedness for postsecondary settings and financial literacy.

Keywords: postsecondary readiness, at-risk students, Title I schools, ecological theory

# **Copyright Page**

Copyright 2022, Raquel A. Grindley

#### **Dedication**

I dedicate this dissertation to Dr. Eva Beatrice Dykes who was a servant of God,
English teacher, and the first Black woman in the United States to earn her doctoral degree.

She was an unwavering proponent of the power of education, particularly for children of low-SES, and she spent over half a century working within school systems of traditionally disadvantaged communities so those students could have a better chance at achieving postsecondary success in college and workforce settings.

I dedicate this dissertation to my ancestors who guided me spiritually and reinforced my faith in The Creator at moments when the doctoral journey was most harrowing; I am because they were.

### **Acknowledgments**

I attribute all aspects of my success in completing this dissertation to The Creator; without the power of faith driving me forward, completion would not have been possible. This is the greatest feat I have accomplished in my academic and professional life, and I recognize that the power of faith in The Creator underscored every part of my ability to complete my doctoral journey.

I would like to thank my mother Joy for her unwavering support. The completion of this terminal degree would not have been possible without your encouragement and love. Thank you for always routing for my success and believing in my ability to achieve my goals. Thank you to my godfather Dr. Ian Smith for being my first example of excellence in the field of education. You were instrumental in my decision to pursue a doctoral degree. Thank you to my godmother Dr. Grace Anderson, for your sage advice and constant encouragement. I also acknowledge the support and love of my best friends and extended family whose prayers and support were cornerstones of my success in this endeavor. Completing this degree would not have been possible without their collective support; I am eternally grateful to have been blessed with the love of my tribe.

With sincerest thanks, I wish to acknowledge the guidance of my committee chairperson Dr. Sherrita Rogers, who steered me through the difficult moments of my dissertation journey and celebrated with me at each victory. To my esteemed committee member, Dr. April Small, your support was invaluable.

Finally, I wish to acknowledge the future versions of myself. Thinking about the versions of myself that would exist only after I completed this process gave me the mental images and discipline I needed to evolve into a higher, more enlightened version of the person I am today. They inspired me, the way I hope to inspire others.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	3
Copyright Page	4
Dedication	5
Acknowledgments	6
Table of Contents	7
List of Tables	11
List of Abbreviations	12
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	13
Overview	13
Background	14
Historical Context	14
Social Context	17
Theoretical Context	19
CCR Education and Postsecondary Life Outcomes of ARS of Low SES	19
Problem Statement	21
Purpose Statement	22
Significance of the Study	22
Research Questions	25
Central Research Question	25
Sub-Question One	26
Sub-Question Two	26
Definitions	26
Summary	27

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	29
Overview	29
Theoretical Framework	30
Related Literature	33
Summary	58
CHAPTER THREE: METHODS	61
Overview	61
Research Design	61
Research Questions	63
Central Research Question	63
Sub-Question One	63
Sub-Question Two	63
Setting and Participants	63
Setting	64
Participants	65
Researcher Positionality	66
Interpretive Framework	67
Philosophical Assumptions	68
Researcher's Role	70
Procedures	71
Permissions	71
Recruitment Plan	71
Data Collection Plan	72
Recruitment Survey	72

Semi-Structured Individual Interviews (Data Collection Approach #1)	73
Focus Groups (Data Collection Approach #2)	76
Writing Prompts (Data Collection Approach #3)	78
Data Synthesis	79
Trustworthiness	80
Credibility	80
Transferability	81
Dependability	81
Confirmability	82
Ethical Considerations	82
Summary	83
CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS	84
Overview	84
Participants	84
Results	89
Preparedness for College	90
Remedial Courses in College	91
Research Question Responses	109
Central Research Question	110
Sub-Question One	111
Sub-Question Two	112
Summary	113
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION	115
Overview	115

Discussion	115
Interpretation of Findings	116
Implications for Policy or Practice	119
Theoretical and Empirical Implications	121
Limitations and Delimitations	124
Recommendations for Future Research	124
Conclusion	125
References	128
Appendix A: IRB Approval	155
Appendix B: Consent Form	156
Appendix C: Recruitment Letter	159
Appendix D: Recruitment Survey	160
Appendix E: Semi-Structured Individual Interview Questions	161
Appendix F: Focus Group Questions	163
Appendix G: Written Response Prompts	164
Appendix H: Audit Trail	165
Appendix I: Sample Interview	166

# **List of Tables**

Table 1	Participant Demographics	85
Table 2	Theme Organization	89

# **List of Abbreviations**

At-Risk Students (ARS)

College and Career Readiness (CCR)

Common Core State Standards (CCSS)

Socioeconomic Status (SES)

#### **CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION**

#### Overview

This phenomenological study was an examination of the postsecondary experiences of Title I high school graduates with low socioeconomic status (SES) who were at risk of dropping out of school. The participants in this study completed standards-based college and career readiness (CCR) curriculum, which was designed to prepare students for life in postsecondary settings and required for graduation from their high school. Chapter One begins with background information on the importance of academic and social skills for the achievement of positive life outcomes in postsecondary settings, and the chapter further explains how factors associated of the participants' SES contributed to the reasons why they were at risk for dropping out of school.

The historical, social, and theoretical context in the participants' provided background information outlines how children of low SES can have stunted cognitive and socioemotional development (Marsh et al., 2020; Rothstein, 2021). Children of this demographic are negatively affected by the conditions of their households, community environments, and schools with high concentrations of these children often attending Title I schools (Kaiser et al., 2017; Marsh et al., 2020). This historical context of this study reviews the systemic conditions that led to the need for the Title I school initiative. It also reviews reasons why people of low socioeconomic class needed the initiative to help equalize education in their communities. The social context of the phenomenon displayed why understanding the experiences of these individuals would be significant to education reform for this demographic. The theoretical context of this study presented Bronfenbrenner's (1992) ecology theory as a basis for the participants' descriptions of the CCR course in their Title I high school setting and the perceived impact of that curriculum and school setting on their outcomes in postsecondary settings. Chapter One concludes with the

study's research questions, definitions of terms that are pertinent to this study, and a summary of the Chapter One's contents.

## Background

The expectations, level of guidance, and standards for postsecondary settings are considerably higher than that of schools at the secondary level (Grace-Odeleye & Santiago, 2019). The lack of CCR is one of the reasons why at-risk students (ARS) of low SES often struggle academically and professionally during their first year after leaving or completing high school (Connolly et al., 2017; Grace-Odeleye & Santiago, 2019; Stevens et al., 2019; Williams et al., 2018). Without being appropriately prepared for the change in culture between the high school environment and the environments of postsecondary atmospheres, ARS of low SES struggle to progress through to completion in postsecondary institutions or struggle to achieve gainful employment in professional settings (West et al., 2018; Williams et al., 2018).

#### **Historical Context**

In its original conception, the Title I federal grant initiative was a provision of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA) of 1965 and was designed to close the skill gap in reading, writing, and mathematics between children from low-income households, who attended urban or rural school systems, and children from middle-income and high-income households, who attended suburban school systems (Jeffrey, 1978). It is important to note that while income level was the basis for the determination of need for additional funding in schools in low-income communities, the majority of students who attended those schools were found to have low SES, which can incorporate the family's income level as well as their racial, ethnic, or religious classification (Taylor-Robinson et al., 2018).

Historically, Title I schools have been found in communities where disadvantages are associated with income as well as race, ethnicity, and religious affiliation, so disparities in

educational attainment for students of many of those schools can be attributed to these factors (Assari, 2020). The reason for these disparities can be traced to the prejudicial policies in legislation that underscored centuries of residential segregation, which led to the segregation of public schools and the educational inequalities between communities of low SES and those of high SES (Shogren et al., 2018). Although segregation of schools based on race, ethnicity, or religious affiliation was eventually made illegal, the effects of the historical legislations that purposefully disadvantaged certain racial, ethnic, and religious groups are still prevalent, at this writing, as evidenced by the high concentration of this demographic of students in the populations of Title I schools (Shogren et al., 2018). In 2010, educational standards for CCR were adopted by Title I schools to further equalize education, close the achievement gap, and prepare students for college and career spaces regardless of their SES (Desimone et al., 2019; Henry & Stahl, 2017).

# CCR of Students of Low SES

One of the most significant events in CCR education in the United States occurred in 2010, with the implementation of the Common Core State Standards (CCSS) (Desimone et al., 2019; Henry & Stahl, 2017; Tampio, 2018). It was the first development of a nationwide standard for grade school education that included a focus on closing the achievement gap through reforms in CCR (Desimone et al., 2019; Henry & Stahl, 2017; Malin et al., 2017). The purpose of the CCSS was to provide an outline for grade school instruction, in core and elective content areas, that delivered the content knowledge necessary for academic success at the college or career level upon high school graduation (Porter et al, 2011). Participation in the CCSS initiative was optional, so the fact that 86% of the states in the United States accepted the standards, shows widespread intentionality behind a nationwide attempt at better preparing public school students for postsecondary endeavors (Schmidt, 2018).

Given that the CCSS standards have been accepted by 42 states, it is evident that CCR education is a part of the conversation in nationwide curriculum reform for public schools (Desimone et al, 2019; Edgerton & Desimone, 2019; Henry & Stahl, 2017; Schmidt, 2018). The CCSS was supposed to be a comprehensive plan that resulted in the attainment of CCR skills for public school students; however, studies have shown that while the CCSS curriculum is effective for public school students in affluent neighborhoods, it is highly ineffective for ARS of low SES in Title I public schools (Henry & Stahl, 2017; Poshka, 2019; Schmidt, 2018). There is a gap in the literature about the ineffectiveness of the CCSS curriculum on the postsecondary readiness of ARS of low SES (Poshka, 2019). Describing the effects of CCSS-based CCR education through the perspective of the people who have experienced it can better inform school leaders who are making future plans for national CCR reform for ARS of low SES in Title I public schools (Edgerton & Desimone, 2019; Poshka, 2019).

## National Reforms for CCR

To supplement the CCSS, the U.S. Department of Education sponsored the National Survey on High School Strategies Designed to Help At-Risk Students Graduate, which gathered information on the prevalence and characteristics of dropout prevention strategies for ARS. ARS of low SES were included as a category of the ARS in this study (Grace-Odeleye & Santiago, 2019; Repetto et al., 2018). The only approach that was found to effectively retain ARS of low SES and prepare this demographic for college and career education was dual enrollment, which allowed students to attend academic and technical courses at the college level while they were still in high school (Grace-Odeleye & Santiago; Repetto et al., 2018; Schmidt, 2018). It was hypothesized that dual enrollment programs were especially necessary for ARS of low SES because the conditions of their households, communities, and available institutions of education

did not adequately support their needs in CCR (Grace-Odeleye & Santiago; Repetto et al., 2018; Schmidt, 2018).

The last 10 years of research on CCR programming in Title I public schools of this country demonstrates that the programming is not effective in preparing ARS of low SES for successful outcomes in postsecondary institutions or for gainful employment in professional settings (Poshka, 2019; Schmidt, 2018). It is quite possible that the dual-enrollment program was more successful than that of the other CCR programs because it gave students the most experience with postsecondary environments while they were still in high school, and because they were socialized into those environments, they were better prepared to transition to postsecondary settings upon high school graduation (An, 2013; Kilgore & Wagner, 2017; Schmidt, 2018).

#### **Social Context**

Success in college and career environments requires academic ability as well as an understanding of the social culture of those settings, and without development in both areas, success in these environments is not likely (Martin, 2019). Martin (2019) concluded that noncognitive skills are not content specific, they are applied skills relating to interpersonal and intrapersonal strengths; therefore, even if students are academically strong, without sufficient development in the social graces of professional atmospheres, they are not likely to thrive in college or career settings (Micalizzi et al., 2019; Payne, 1996).

The sociocultural environment of a Title I high school is a unique phenomenon, as is the set of standards that govern the CCR education of this type of school (Martin, 2019). All of the participants of this study were graduates of Title I high school environments, and they were able to describe their unique interpretation of the CCR education that was specific to this type of setting. Understanding the experiences of this group of people can assist in the reform of the

system of CCR education designed for this demographic. Research has shown that the CCR standards for public education in the United States, particularly at the secondary level, has not been effective in preparing its ARS for success in postsecondary institutions or the workforce (Martin, 2019; Micalizzi et al., 2019; Payne, 1996). The social context of this study highlights how one's success in postsecondary settings is, in large part, based on the settings in which they were raised and whether or not habits developed in their ecological system to support successful outcomes in college and professional settings (Bronfenbrenner, 1992; Martin, 2019; Micalizzi et al., 2019).

### Social (Soft) Skills as a Determinant for Postsecondary Success

Soft skills, or social skills, are defined as nontechnical competencies associated with an employee's personality, attitude, motivation to work, and work habits (Bolli & Renold, 2017; Chattoraj & Shabnam, 2015; Cooke & Zaby, 2015; Stewart et al., 2016), all of which can be negatively impacted by being raised in a household or community of low SES (Micalizzi et al., 2019; Payne, 1996). Additionally, social skills have shown to be significant determinants of employability because these skills are a large part of job readiness (Bolli & Renold, 2017; Chattoraj & Shabnam, 2015; Harun et al, 2017; MacDermott & Ortiz, 2017; Nisha & Rajasekaran, 2018). The underdevelopment of social skills in students of low SES underscores many of the social challenges they experience when transitioning from high school to postsecondary spaces (Martin, 2019). Even if ARS of low SES achieve academic success, typically this is not enough for these students to thrive in college and career settings if their social skills are undeveloped, which is the normal outcome of living in a household or community of low SES (Martin, 2019; Schmidt, 2018).

#### **Theoretical Context**

In many ways, individuals' levels of academic skill correspond to their socioeconomic class because the conditions of the ecological environment determine one's level of access to components necessary for healthy cognitive and social development (Bronfenbrenner, 1976; Potter & Morris, 2017). Success in postsecondary settings is dependent upon a combination of sufficient academic attainment and social development through appropriate institutional programs and the availability of role models with successful economic outcomes, both of which are disproportionally unavailable in the ecological environment of ARS of low SES (Grace-Odeleye & Santiago, 2019; Lawson et al., 2017; Marsh et al., 2020; Potter & Morris, 2017; Welsing, 1975, 1991).

## **CCR Education and Postsecondary Life Outcomes of ARS of Low SES**

There is a substantial body of research that addresses the connection between the CCR education of the American public school system and its high school graduates' postsecondary outcomes. The seminal meta-analysis of Evans and Burck (1992) examined 67 studies, the results of which demonstrated that successful transition to college and career settings is inherently related to CCR education experienced at the secondary school level (Curry & Milsom, 2014; Evans & Burck, 1992; Falco & Steen, 2018); therefore, studying the experiences of Title I high school graduates who were ARS of low SES who experienced the state-approved, standards-based CCR curriculum allows for the documentation of the effects of that curriculum through a first-hand description of how much it impacted this population's readiness for college and workforce settings.

This phenomenological study could assist in extending the existing knowledge regarding the experiences of Title I high school graduates who were all ARS of low SES who completed a CCR curriculum aligned with the state-approved standard for the public school education of high

school students. Researchers who have investigated the issue of CCR programming for ARS of low SES have called for future research that incorporates a clear description of this demographic's experience with CCR and how that experience impacts the individuals' life outcomes (Edgerton & Desimone, 2018; Falco & Steen, 2018; Swail & Perna, 2002). This study can help fill that gap in the literature. The interviews of this study revealed new information about the experiences of Title I high school graduates who completed a standards-aligned CCR curriculum, allowing policy makers to review an unbiased, personal account of postsecondary experiences that they related to that curriculum. It is important to understand how the CCR curriculum administered in Title I high schools is actually affecting the postsecondary life outcomes of ARS of low SES, so, if necessary, associated policies can be changed to ensure ARS of low SES receive an equalized level of support in postsecondary readiness that they need (Edgerton & Desimone, 2018).

Theoretically, the standards-based CCR curriculum in public high schools was designed to facilitate students' smooth transition to postsecondary settings, but it has been found that because the curricular design did not include the specific needs of ARS of low SES, it was not likely that the practical application of this curriculum would result in the desired postsecondary outcomes for that population (Schmidt, 2018). The theoretical underpinnings of this study include Bronfenbrenner's (1992) ecological systems theory, which proposed that human development, as an ecological system, and all aspects of that system, affect an individual's maturation and development. This theory relates to the constructs of this research because this study describes how SES is the result of the economic and social conditions of one's community, which includes the household and the school system. The postsecondary outcomes of children of low SES are negatively impacted by the disparaging conditions found in their ecological environment, so they need additional instructional and socioemotional school-based supports to

effectively regulate behaviors and habits they developed as a result of the conditions of their SES (Bronfenbrenner, 1976; Falco & Steen, 2018; Lawson et al., 2017; Pastor & Tur, 2020). If Title I high schools are designed to equalize education for these students, and the CCR curriculum administered in these high school is supposed to prepare students for college and workforce settings, then it is important to study that area of the ecological environment of ARS of low SES so the impact of these factors on their postsecondary outcomes can be properly understood (Falco & Steen, 2018; Pastor & Tur, 2020).

#### **Problem Statement**

The current set of standards for the CCR curriculum in public high schools has not been successful for the life outcomes of the majority of ARS of low SES (Kaiser et al., 2017; Lawson et al., 2017; Marsh et al., 2020; Potter & Morris, 2017). The current research on education policy speaks to the gap in the literature about the ill effects of the existing public high school CCR curriculum and its failure to address the specific needs of ARS of low SES (Desimone et al., 2019; Edgerton & Desimone, 2018). The conditions of the ecological system of ARS of low SES impact the likelihood of these children completing programs in postsecondary institutions or attaining gainful employment, which perpetuates the cycle of generational disenfranchisement (Kaiser et al., 2017; Lawson et al., 2017; Marsh et al., 2020; Potter & Morris, 2017). If the state standards of public education were designed to provide a level of instruction that produces college or career-ready graduates, then the life outcomes of the graduates of that educational system should reflect success in postsecondary and workforce settings upon high school graduation. Historically, for ARS of low SES, this has not been the case (Evans & Burck, 1992; Falco & Steen, 2018; Henry & Stahl, 2017).

The issue of CCR for ARS of low SES needs to be explored because situational and institutional barriers that impact their cognitive and socioemotional development create the need

for more effective CCR instruction than what is provided in the existing national and state standards and in Title I high schools (Babineau, 2018; McLeigh et al., 2018; Yavuz et al., 2019). This phenomenological study describes the experiences of Title I high school graduates who were ARS of low SES who completed a CCR high school curriculum so that policymakers can tailor existing CCR instructional methods to better suit the needs of this population.

# **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the experiences of high school graduates who were ARS of low SES and who completed the state standard-based CCR curriculum at Title I high schools. In *The Glossary of Education Reform*, (2013) ARS of low SES were generally defined as students who were likely to drop out of school because of circumstances associated with socioeconomic disadvantage.

I provide an unbiased description of the postsecondary life outcomes of graduates who were ARS of low SES in relation to the CCR education they received at Title I high schools. This study was driven by my interest in highlighting the importance of including the reflections and suggestions of this population's experiences with the Title I high school CCR curriculum so policy makers could be better informed about the effectiveness of that curriculum for ARS of low SES who attend Title I high schools.

# Significance of the Study

This study's significance was examined through theoretical, empirical, and practical perspectives. Each of these perspectives underpinned my understanding of the problem and the significance of this study to a larger community of education reformers. The goal was to share the stories of high school graduates who were ARS of low SES who experienced a CCR curriculum at Title I high schools and to describe the level at which they felt prepared for

postsecondary success in relation to those factors. I hope that the findings of this study spur any necessary changes to the CCR curriculum in Title I high schools.

# **Theoretical Significance**

The theoretical significance of this transcendental phenomenological study was grounded in Bronfenbrenner's (1992) ecological systems theory, which underscores the importance of considering the systemic issues that negatively impact the inner workings of households and communities in poverty, and how issues within each level of the ecological environment of ARS of low SES impede a child's ability to develop cognitively and socially. Based on this ideology, it stands to reason that, given their condition, ARS of low SES are behind the learning curve before they even enter school because their home and community environments do not support the level of cognitive or social development necessary for success in postsecondary settings (Duttweiler, 1995; Payne, 1996; Uleanya & Omoniyi, 2019). Such a notion emphasizes the significance of describing how an appropriate high school environment can have enough positive influence on a child of low SES that negative habits and behaviors caused by other areas of their ecological system are offset (Falco & Steen, 2018; Lawson et al., 2017; Pastor & Tur, 2020).

Bronfenbrenner's (1992) ecological systems theory relates with current research on the postsecondary outcomes of ARS of low SES because the characteristics of these students' microsystem, defined as household and community environments, undercut their ability to develop academically and socially, resulting in a higher likelihood of failure to succeed in postsecondary environments if they do not receive adequate interventions (Falco & Steen, 2018; Lawson et al., 2017; Pastor & Tur, 2020). Therefore, investigating their experiences will help stakeholders explore the effectiveness of public schools' CCR education from a more personalized point of view.

### **Empirical Significance**

There is limited investigation as to the lived experiences of Title I high school graduates who were ARS of low SES in reference to CCR education (Desimone et al., 2019; Edgerton & Desimone, 2019; Falco & Steen, 2018; Schmidt, 2018), which warranted the need for this study. While there is literature about the effects of a CCR education, there are few studies that investigate the issue from the perspective of Title I high school graduates who experienced that curriculum. Moustakas's (1994) seven steps analysis strategy was used to find meanings, themes, and significant statements within the context of the participants' shared experiences. The descriptions of their experiences focused on their postsecondary outcomes since graduating high school and, from their perspective, the ways in which the CCR education received at their Title I high schools impacted those outcomes.

Using Moustakas's (1994) seven steps provided a trustworthy basis by which I could analyze the data, heightening the study's trustworthiness, and allowing for other researchers in the field to replicate or build upon this study (Creswell, 2013). The conditions of this study's setting, as well as the SES of the population from which the participants came, were sampled and applicable to other Title I high schools with similar student populations (Falco & Steen, 2018; Payne, 1996). All students of low SES experience conditions that impact their readiness for college and career settings that are related to their socioeconomic designation (Payne, 1996). The empirical significance of studying this population was that highlighting the shared experiences of students from socioeconomically disadvantaged conditions provided a foundation for the argument regarding how critical a CCR education is to the successful postsecondary outcomes of Title I high school graduates who were ARS of low SES (Falco & Steen, 2018; Payne, 1996; Wiley et al., 2010; Wyatt et al., 2011).

### **Practical Significance**

The knowledge generated from studying this population in this particular setting was applicable to the wider scale of Title I high school graduates who were at risk for dropping out of school because of factors related to their SES. Throughout the United States, ARS of low SES who attend Title I high schools experience the phenomenon of a standards-based CCR curriculum, and this study's participants can give voice to those individuals who never we able to share their perspective on its effectiveness (Desimone et al., 2019; Edgerton & Desimone, 2019; Falco & Steen, 2018). This study can assist in the reform of CCR programming for ARS of low SES in Title I high schools because the participants of the study represented the population of student for whom achievement-gap-closing reforms are designed (Pastor & Tur, 2020). ARS of low SES experience academic and social challenges that are specific to factors associated with their SES. Investigating their postsecondary outcomes can help educators of this demographic gauge the effectiveness of the CCR curriculum that is currently in place in Title I high schools (Falco & Steen, 2018; Payne, 1996; Schmidt, 2018).

## **Research Questions**

The research questions of this study emerged from the problem and purpose statements.

The phenomenological questions were created in a manner that provided clear and concrete descriptions of the phenomenon's social meanings and personal significance to the participants.

The research of this study was developed through a central question and two sub-questions.

#### **Central Research Question**

What are the shared, postsecondary experiences of Title I high school graduates who were ARS of low SES who completed the state-approved, standards-based CCR curriculum?

### **Sub-Question One**

What influence did the given CCR curriculum have on these graduates' outcomes in postsecondary institutions?

# **Sub-Question Two**

What influence did the given CCR curriculum have on these graduates' outcomes in workforce settings?

#### **Definitions**

- 1. ARS (at-risk students learners who face circumstances that could jeopardize their ability to complete school (*The Glossary of Education Reform*, 2013).
- 2. *Career readiness* the acquired education and social abilities necessary for employment in a professional setting (Conley, 2018).
- 3. *CCR* (college and career readiness) curriculum leveled course track for grade school education intended to provide instruction on the content knowledge and skills deemed essential for success in university, college, community-college programs, and professional settings (*The Glossary of Education Reform*, 2013).
- 4. *College readiness* the educational discipline, academic success, and social behaviors a student should acquire, prior to attending college, that are necessary for successful completion of a college degree (Conley, 2018).
- 5. *High SES* social standing and class of an individual or group measured as a combination of race or ethnicity, education, income, and occupation and classified as people who are usually not of color and are financially stable (Concepts, 2015).
- 6. Low SES social standing and class of an individual or group measured as a combination of race or ethnicity, education, income, and occupation classified as people who are usually of color and are low-income individuals or living in poverty (Concepts, 2015).

- 7. *Postsecondary settings* any atmosphere experienced after secondary school, including, but not limited to college, trade school, certificate programs, the military, and workforce environments (Concepts, 2015).
- 8. *Standards-based* systems of instruction, assessment, grading, and academic reporting that are based on students demonstrating their understanding or mastery of the knowledge and skills they are expected to learn as they progress through their education (*The Glossary of Education Reform*, 2017).
- 9. *Title I* federal funding program created to establish educational equality between underprivileged and privileged students (Grant & Arnold, 2015).
- 10. *Title I school* any institution of public education that accepts funds from the Title I federal program created to establish educational equality between underprivileged and privileged students (Grant & Arnold, 2015).

#### **Summary**

At the time of this study, there were neither national nor state education policies in high school graduation requirements that included the mastery of processes associated with access or acceptance to postsecondary institutions or the instruction of "soft skills," or the interpersonal and intrapersonal skills necessary to succeed in workforce settings (Falco & Steen, 2018). Without this form of education, students from households without a legacy of completing postsecondary programs or achieving gainful employment are ill prepared for the academic and social adjustments necessary to succeed in institutions of higher education or in professional settings (Fogel et al., 2020; Gerra et al., 2020). This study addressed the effectiveness of the standards-based CCR curriculum in Title I high schools that serve students labeled as at risk for dropping out of school due to factors associated with their socioeconomic condition. This study explored the postsecondary outcomes of ARS of low SES in relation to their Title I high school

education and described how the CCR curriculum of their Title I high school affected their experiences in college and career settings.

#### **CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### Overview

A systematic review of the literature explored the effectiveness of the standards-based CCR curriculum of Title I high schools on the postsecondary outcomes of ARS of low SES. The first section of Chapter Two discusses ecological systems theory (Bronfenbrenner, 1992) concerning cognitive and social human development, and outlines why consideration of these concepts is necessary when designing effective programming for ARS of low SES. The review of the theoretical framework preceded a synthesis of recent literature that specified the systemic causes for the disparities in educational attainment between people of low SES and people of high SES. It outlines why communities of low SES remain in a position of economic and social disadvantage and links the gaps in academic achievement and gainful employment to the conditions that are specific to their SES.

Synthesis of the related research revealed that students of low SES have cognitive and social deficiencies that result from disadvantages found in their ecological system. Additionally, the literature demonstrated that low SES students' cognitive and social deficiencies are not appropriately addressed nor remedied by the standards-based CCR curriculum found in public schools in communities of low SES. The related literature describes the systemic issues that created the conditions for ARS and why the existing standard of CCR education in Title I high schools may be ineffective for the children in communities of low SES. Chapter Two presents examples of the appropriate administration of CCR education for ARS of low SES and provides evidence of an appropriate CCR curriculum that can offset negative influences found in the ecological system of communities of low SES. Chapter Two concludes with a description of education malpractice and the possible future legal implications for public schools that continue to use a standards-based CCR curriculum that has been proven ineffective for the demographic

of students to whom it is delivered. In the end, a gap in the literature relating to CCR education of ARS of low SES is identified, and evidence that substantiates a viable need for this study is presented.

#### Theoretical Framework

Understanding the different aspects of an individual's ecological system and the impact of the environments within that system on their life outcomes begins with highlighting the systemic issues that are known to cause cognitive and social deficiencies (Bronfenbrenner, 1976; Falco & Steen, 2018; Lawson et al., 2017; Pastor & Tur, 2020). Furthermore, it is possible to remedy those deficiencies through an appropriate curriculum in a high-quality secondary school system using interventions specifically tailored to the needs of this demographic of the ARS (Pastor & Tur, 2020). The theoretical context of this study centered on the ecological system of ARS of low SES and the influences within their ecological system that harm cognitive and social development (Bronfenbrenner, 1976). The circumstances of the ecological system of people of low SES create the need for additional academic and socioemotional support because the conditions of their household and community environments are economically and socially disadvantaged and increase the likelihood of them dropping out of school (Bronfenbrenner, 1976; Falco & Steen, 2018; Lawson et al., 2017; Pastor & Tur, 2020). Furthermore, a CCR curriculum that explicitly targets issues caused by poor ecological conditions can provide instruction on behaviors and the habits necessary for high school graduation and desired postsecondary outcomes (Fogel et al., 2020; Holmes et al., 2019; Kilgore & Wagner, 2017).

# **Ecological Systems Theory**

Ecological systems theory (Bronfenbrenner, 1992) proposes that human development is an entire ecological system composed of five subsystems that affect an individual's maturation and development. Bronfenbrenner (1992) argued that positively charged subsystems heighten an individual's social knowledge, ability to learn and problem-solve, and interest in self-exploration. The opposite is the actuality for negatively charged subsystems. Bronfenbrenner (1992) described the ecological system's five subsystems as the micro, meso, exo, macro, and chrono systems. He explained that each subsystem affects human maturation, and it has lifelong effects on cognitive and social development.

This study sought to uncover the details about the impact of the participants' ecological systems on their cognitive and social development and how that phenomenon affected their ability to thrive in postsecondary settings. Ecological systems theory is the basis for this study because the conditions the participants' households and community environments, including the Title I high school they attended, are the result of their SES, which effected their readiness for postsecondary settings. Synthesis of the theoretical framework and corresponding literature support the concept that a supportive school environment and appropriate CCR curriculum can assist in reversing negative influences commonly found in the ecological systems of households and communities of low SES (Falco & Steen, 2018; Lawson et al., 2017; Pastor & Tur, 2020).

## **Ecological Systems Theory: ARS and Their Life Outcomes**

From its conception, the political and economic systems of the United States began with prejudicial practices that disproportionately favored specific communities of people while others were purposely disadvantaged, all based on a prejudicial social class system (Hines, 2021; Welsing, 1975, 1991). The Hussar et al. (2020) findings concur with the Groos et al. (2018) 10-year review of literature on the effects of structural disadvantage within specific American communities, concluding that prejudicial practices based on race, ethnicity, and religion caused the maladapted infrastructures in communities of low SES, which resulted in lifelong impediments in educational attainment, financial security, and other necessary components for successful life outcomes for the people of these communities.

The characteristics of the participants' micro subsystem, defined as the household and community environments, undercut their ability to develop academically and socially, contributing to their children's ARS and lowering the likelihood of high school graduation and success in college and career settings (Bronfenbrenner, 1992; Tudge & Rosa, 2020; van Zwieten et al., 2021). Theoretically, when the influences of the microsystem are compromised, development in all other subsystems is compromised because all other subsystems are affected by the microsystem (Bronfenbrenner, 1992). Consequently, given that the school environment is a significant part of the microsystem, healthy influences from this part of the microsystem can offset negative influences of other areas of the microsystem, heightening the likelihood of academic and postsecondary success (Crawford et al., 2020).

For centuries in the United States prejudicial practices in the exo subsystem, defined as local laws, neighborhood resources, social services, and mass media, created the present-day gap in educational attainment and economic opportunity between communities of low SES and high SES (Groos et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2020a, 2020b). The same is accurate at the macro subsystem level, defined by Bronfenbrenner (1992) as the cultural and political ideologies that govern an individual's environment. In communities of low SES, the trickle-down effects of the prejudicial ideologies that govern the exo and macro subsystem include discriminatory policing, low-quality education, and limited opportunities for gainful employment (Ward, 2018). These practices create a host of issues that have both direct and indirect impacts on the cognitive development and social maturation of the people of these communities (Crimmins et al., 2018; Farah, 2018; Merçon et al., 2020; Reason, 2020; Zhang et al., 2020a, 2020b. Children raised in communities of low SES are profoundly impacted by these conditions, evidenced by a collective disruption in their chronosystem, defined as milestone moments that profoundly impact an individual's cognitive and social development (Bronfenbrenner, 1976, 1996).

This study expanded upon Bronfenbrenner's (1996) ecological systems theory by highlighting ways that the traumatic conditions in communities of low SES negatively affect the cognitive and social development, academic performance, and, later, employability of the people of these communities (Lecheile et al, 2020; Micalizzi et al., 2019). When considering the cyclical relationship between academic attainment and employability, it is likely that exploring the academic experiences of people from communities of low SES can highlight the ways in which the quality of education available to these communities affects their postsecondary outcomes. The cognitive and social supports necessary for students of low SES is vastly different from that of children of high SES, so it is necessary to explore the experiences of the people of this demographic to understand the types of school settings and education reforms that are most appropriate and effective for their specific needs.

#### **Related Literature**

Even though ARS of low SES are not in direct contact with some of the domains of their ecological subsystems, the economic, political, and social influences therein create issues that perpetuate conditions that lead to at-risk status (Lawson et al., 2017; Marsh et al., 2020; Potter & Morris, 2017; Tudge & Rosa, 2019). Residential neighborhoods influence educational attainment through socialization, institutional resources, and collective efficacy (Howell, 2019). The lack of collective educational attainment in communities of low SES leads to collective low-income attainment and low collective self-efficacy (Auspurg et al., 2019; Bronfenbrenner, 1976; 1996; X, 1963). Living in a constant state of economic and social disadvantage and being raised by a household of people who have suffered the same conditions, creates a cyclical achievement gap (Owens, 2018, 2019). Investigation of this issue, through the lens of ecological systems theory (Bronfenbrenner, 1992), began by establishing the connection between the conditions of an

ecological environment and the cognitive and socioemotional development of the children of that environment (Merçon et al., 2020).

## **Ecological System of ARS of Low SES**

Due to their oppressed condition, ARS of low SES are significantly behind their same-aged peers before entering school because their surrounding environments do not support the level of cognitive or social development necessary for academic success or success in postsecondary settings (Bronfenbrenner, 1992; van Zwieten, 2021). In communities of low SES, the development of ARS status was the result of a system of prejudicial practices in housing, education, legislation, and criminal justice. These conditions created the economic and social disparities that adversely influence the cognitive and social development of the people of that socioeconomic class (O'Connor et al., 2019, 2020; van Zwieten et al., 2021; Zhang, 2020a, 2020b).

The determinants for one's SES include one's financial status, race, ethnicity, and religion, and this same SES can be transferred to one's children (Hines et al., 2020; Kivimäki et al., 2020; Welsing, 1975, 1991). Therefore, to plan successful educational reformations for American children of low SES, it is necessary to understand the historical prejudices of the ruling class in this country and how those prejudices prevent the present-day success or growth of people in communities of low SES. (Hines, 2021; Hines et al., 2021; Kivimäki et al., 2020). Welsing's (1975, 1991) seminal work postulated that it is necessary to acknowledge the prejudices of a system in order to understand the behavioral phenomena that develop as a result of that system. Welsing's studies focused on the effects of prejudice on the economic and social constructs of communities of low SES, highlighting the disparaging differences between their life outcomes and those of people of high SES. Such an exploration is relative to the participants in this study because all of the participants came from communities of low SES and experienced

cognitive and social underdevelopment as a result of their SES.

# Historical Disruptions in the Ecological System of People of Low SES

In large part, ARS of low SES experience developmental deficits that result from being raised in communities whose infrastructures of human services and education have been pointedly and purposefully underdeveloped over long periods of time (Auspurg et al., 2019; Evans et al., 2019; Howell, 2019; Michney & Winling, 2019). Prejudicial practices in the housing and banking industries reinforced prejudicial practices in education, known as educational redlining (Berkovec et al., 2018; Bloch & Phillips, 2021; 2018; Burke & Schwalbach, 2021). The practice of denying some students enrollment into a preferred public school site if the student's address of record was not in the zone of the preferred school site assisted in widening the achievement gap between students of high SES and those of low SES (Auspurg et al., 2019; Burke & Schwalbach, 2021; Evans et al., 2019; Welsing, 1975). Title I schools are located in communities of low SES, which are economically and socially underprivileged, and the services offered within those schools are substandard compared to those located in communities of high SES (Auspurg et al., 2019; Berman et al., 2018; Burke & Schwalbach, 2021; Kitchen, 2017).

Black Americans of low SES are a prime example of a group of people who have been targeted by generations of political and economic campaigns fueled by prejudicial ideologies, beginning with centuries of American chattel slavery, followed by decades of Black codes and laws that evolved into the convict-leasing system, which laid the foundation for today's industrial prison complex (Eppard et al., 2020; Hammad, 2019). The treatment of this group of Americans presents a prime example of how prejudicial government policies (a macrosystem) create unhealthy conditions in the household and neighborhoods (a microsystem), that can negatively affect the community as a whole for generations (Eppard et al., 2020; Hammad,

2019). Given the aforementioned practices that led to their SES, Black Americans of low SES are overwhelmingly represented at all levels of the juvenile and adult prison systems, which is an outcome of the centuries-long economic and social oppression of these communities (Bacher-Hicks et al., 2019; Eppard et al., 2020; Mitchell, 2018). In most cases, the result of these circumstances is a broken family structure and the cognitive and social underdevelopment of the children therein (Bronfenbrenner, 1976; Hinton et al., 2018). In communities of low SES, a lack of parental presence is the foremost cause of underdevelopment in a child's cognitive and social abilities. The standards of education for the American public school system do not address these conditions, so children raised in communities of low SES have the highest rates of being at risk of dropping out of school before high school graduation (Bronfenbrenner, 1976; Hinton et al., 2018).

The afflicted conditions of communities of low SES were exacerbated by legislative policies in the 1980s and 1990s, like the war on drugs and the tough-on-crime campaigns (Calnitsky & Gonalons-Pons, 2021; Eppard et al., 2020; Mason, 2020; Mitchell, 2018). These crusades encouraged biased policing in communities of low SES, resulting in the United States' prison boom in the 2000s, where people of low SES, particularly Black Americans of low SES, were overwhelmingly represented (Mitchell, 2018). Children with incarcerated or formerly incarcerated parents are often deemed as criminals simply because of their parents' condition, and they are consigned to marginalized treatment before they are born, which heightens their likelihood of being at risk for dropping out of school (Bacher-Hicks et al., 2019; Hinton et al., 2018; Novak, 2019). This is a crucial issue in communities of low SES because it is one of the reasons why some ARS of low SES have the highest public school dropout rates. The cognitive and social habits and behaviors that mold an individual's life outcomes are determined primarily by their ecological environment. Therefore, the purposeful marginalization of communities of

low SES, which are molded by dysfunctional social constructs within the families who live in those communities, adversely affect those children's academic ability and social maturation, inhibiting their success in postsecondary settings (Bronfenbrenner, 1992; Choi et al., 2018; Merçon et al., 2020; Reason, 2020; van Zwieten, 2021; Zhang et al., 2020a, 2020b).

# The Effect of SES on Life Outcomes

The most powerful predictors of an individual's life outcomes are the parents' educational and occupational achievements; thus, if a child is born to parents of low SES, it is likely to expect the same life outcomes for that child when the conditions of this community, and prejudicial systems that created those conditions in their community, have not changed (Reason, 2020; van Zwieten, 2021; von Stumm et al., 2018, 2020). Economic status and racial demographics play such a significant role in educational attainment and occupational outcomes that both were controlling factors for America's national projections of educational statistics (Hussar & Bailey, 2011; Hussar et al., 2020). Comparing Hussar and Bailey's (2011) National Center of Education Statistics (NCES) 2011 ten-year projection of education statistics to the Hussar et al. (2020) NCES 2020 condition of education report substantiates the link between SES and educational attainment. The projections of 2011 matched the actual condition of educational attainment in 2020, with only control for SES and gender, which would explain why the disparaging numbers in high school graduation rates and postsecondary degree completion in communities of low SES parallel the disadvantaged condition of the households and communities in which these students were raised (Hussar & Bailey, 2011; Hussar et al., 2020). Furthermore, through the comparison of the 2011 projections report and the 2020 conditions report, there was a paralleled relationship between occupational attainment and educational attainment, where communities of low SES had low occupational attainment as well as low

educational attainment, while communities of high SES had high occupational attainment as well as high educational attainment (Hussar & Bailey, 2011; Hussar et al., 2020).

Between 2011 and 2020, there was little to no change reported in the systemic conditions that affected the communities included in the NCES projections, which would explain why the outcomes in 2020 mirrored the statistics projected in 2011. Both reports showed that students of low SES had the highest dropout rates in high school and college in addition to the highest rates of unemployment, regardless of trade school or college degree completion (Hussar & Bailey, 2011; Hussar et al., 2020). The Hussar et al. (2020) study results suggested that when there is no change in the systemic conditions of a community, there is no change in the educational attainment of the people who live in that community. Under then lens of Bronfenbrenner's (1992) ecological systems theory, the study of the postsecondary outcomes of Title I high school graduates who were ARS of low SES could provide a viable basis for understanding the ways in which an effective school-based CCR curriculum can offset conditions created by economically and socially maladapted ecological systems.

### The Microsystem of ARS of Low SES

The impact of low SES on a child's development can be seen through the microsystem that is composed of the individual's family, neighbors, and grade schools (Bronfenbrenner, 1992). The environments of this system reflect the individual's initial learning and are the individual's first point of reference about the world (Bronfenbrenner, 1992). The factors that characterize the microsystem of students of low SES have such a negative impact on their executive functions that they need additional academic support to adequately perform in school and keep up with their peers of high SES (Bronfenbrenner, 1996). Defined as the fundamental skills necessary for learning, working, and managing daily life, adequate executive functioning is

necessary for success in postsecondary settings (Bronfenbrenner, 1996; Fogel et al., 2020; Hackman et al., 2015).

Hackman et al. (2015) explored the features of childhood experience that influence the relationship between children's low SES and the underdevelopment of their executive functions, concluding that the ratio of family income to needs was associated with children's development of working memory. The underdevelopment of working memory in the formative years contributes to the low high school and college completion rates of many children of this socioeconomic class (Fogel et al., 2020; Hackman et al., 2015). Thus, programs that seek to prepare ARS of low SES for postsecondary environments need to create supports that offset the negative influences of their households' low-income-to-needs ratio, as this issue can cause disparities in healthy cognitive development, academic achievement, and appropriate behavior (Chan et al.; 2018; de Souza Morais et al., 2021; Fogel et al., 2020; Hackman et al., 2015).

# Household Environments of Children of Low SES

Children of low SES need effective school environments that address traumas specific to the households of their socioeconomic condition. The characteristics of the culture of households that endure low-income-to-needs ratios include instability, violence, hunger and malnourishment, unemployment, physical and mental health issues, drug addiction, homelessness, crowded housing, incarceration, low-quality education, limited knowledge bases, and death (Holmes et al., 2019; Payne, 2019). These conditions are highly prevalent in households of low SES, and they are known to create barriers to social development. However, CCR programming targeted to the specific needs of this demographic can offset the negative influences routinely found in this type of ecological system (Lecheile et al., 2020; Micalizzi et al., 2019).

The available literature on the ecological system of child development speaks to the importance of considering the systemic issues that negatively affect the inner workings of

households of low SES (Murray et al., 202). Marsh et al. (2020) defined household chaos as the level of disorganization or environmental confusion in the home and emphasized its association with a range of child and family outcomes. The disorganization and instability of households of low SES are, in large part, created by the economic instability of the household, which can be traced to the economic disadvantage of this demographic's macrosystem and exosystem (Bronfenbrenner, 1976, 1993; Murray et al., 2021). This type of household atmosphere is common for ARS of low SES and negatively affects children's ability to develop cognitively and socially (Bronfenbrenner, 1976,1993; Murray et al., 2021; Tudge & Rosa, 2020; Uleanya & Omoniyi, 2019). There is a direct link between children's household environment and their cognitive and social development; therefore, children who reside in chaotic households are less likely to achieve desirable life outcomes, particularly in postsecondary settings (Condon & Sadler, 2019; Marsh et al., 2020). Children who reside in chaotic households become at risk for school failure because their households do not provide the necessary support for appropriate development of the executive functions. Homes of low SES are least likely to produce the environment necessary for healthy development because of the chaos experienced in these homes (Lawson et al., 2017; Marsh et al., 2020; Potter & Morris, 2017; Solyali & Celenk, 2020).

### ARS Parental Involvement

An additional symptom of households of low SES is the lack of parental involvement, in part created by this country's purposeful marginalization of communities of low SES (Solyali & Celenk, 2020; Tudge & Rosa, 2019; Wang et al., 2020). Many of the adverse conditions in households of ARS of low SES is due to the lack of parental involvement (Wang et al., 2020; Wong et al., 2018). Wang et al. (2020) studied the effects of parental involvement on student achievement and mental health. The study included high school students of varying SES, and they included descriptions of styles of parenting to each specific SES. The findings revealed

diametrically opposing results between the levels parental involvement of parents of high SES and parents of low SES (Wang, 2020). Wang et al. concluded that for parents of low SES, cultural beliefs regarding the role of the family in education, the meaning and goals of education, and the diversity of parents' experiences with schools were much lower than parents of high SES, which explained the dramatic variations in academic success rates between the children of those two groups (Wang et al., 2020). Parents of low SES showed markedly less involvement in their children's education, which could explain this demographic's low academic performance in grade school and low completion rates in secondary school and postsecondary programs (Wang et al., 2020; Wong et al., 2018).

Hackman et al. (2015) concluded that the ratio of family income to needs was associated with children's healthy cognitive development, academic achievement, and appropriate behavior. Low-family-income-to-needs severely hinders performance by a child's 54-month milestone, and lack of parental involvement at the child's school is a significant factor in the academic and social underdevelopment of youth of low SES (Domitrovich et al., 2017; Hackman et al., 2015). Furthermore, lower maternal education worsens performance in the working memory by the time the child is in the first grade (Bailey, 2018; Hackman et al., 2015). These issues in the microsystem can cause irreparable damage to the chronosystem because constant exposure to negative influences in the home and neighborhood environments inevitably result in missed milestones (Bailey et al., 2021; Bronfenbrenner, 1996; Fogel et al., 2020; Gerra et al., 2020). When students experience years of recurring issues of this nature, by the time they get to high school, they are years behind their affluent peers regarding academic success, social functioning, and postsecondary readiness (Domitrovich et al., 2017).

Allport et al. (2018) found that paternal involvement in children's lives elevates child outcomes, including improved cognition, behavior, mental health, and eating habits. Children,

particularly adolescents, who do not have a solid parental presence tend to display unhealthy behavior patterns and are more likely to drop out of school (Marttila-Tornio et al., 2021). These statistics worsen when a healthy father figure is missing from the household (Kim & Glassgow, 2018; Marttila-Tornio et al., 2021). It is important to note that in the United States, many fathers of ARS of low SES are absent because of the effects of structural prejudice in communities of low SES (Assari et al., 2018). Decades of targeted campaigns, supported by government agencies, successfully removed fathers from these homes, mainly through over-policing and mass incarceration (Fornili, 2018; Pettit & Gutierrez, 2018; Welsing, 1975, 1991). These conditions had lasting effects on the development of generations of children in neighborhoods of low SES, which is evident in these children's low success rates in grade school and postsecondary programs, high rates of unemployment, and the repetition of broken family structures (Pettit & Gutierrez, 2018; Welsing, 1975, 1991). In households of ARS of low SES, a lack of paternal involvement contributes to their underdevelopment in cognitive and social skills (Allport et el., 2018; Kim & Glassgow, 2018).

# Malnutrition in Households of Low SES

As a result of economic disadvantage and lacking parental presence, children of households of low SES often have poor eating habits, which negatively influence their academic performance and social development (Pastor & Tur, 2020). Children who are hungry or at risk of being hungry are twice as likely to have impaired functioning, and food insufficiency is closely associated with poor academic functioning in low-income children (Pastor & Tur, 2020). Taras (2005) categorized four areas of child nutrition: nutrient and micronutrient intake, iron deficiency and supplementation, food insufficiency, and the effect of eating breakfast. Taras's (2005) findings concluded that children of low SES often suffer from malnutrition and that this issue could be a contributing factor to the widening achievement gap between affluent children

and those who live in poverty (Pastor & Tur, 2020; Taras, 2005). Further investigation (Pastor & Tur, 2020) concurred with Taras's (2005) findings that providing malnourished children with a healthy intake of nutrients and daily breakfast yields positive results in academic performance. When children of low SES receive regular doses of the recommended levels of zinc and other micronutrients, there is a significant improvement in fine and gross motor skills, sustained attention, and capacity for concept formation and abstract reasoning (Pastor & Tur, 2020). When treated for iron deficiencies and anemia, there was a marked improvement in mental functioning, especially for girls (Pastor & Tur, 2020).

Children with low SES suffer from inadequate diet and eating habits, so they are even more inclined to have low academic success (Assari & Lankarani, 2018; Chen et al., 2019; Pastor & Tur, 2020). Grantham-McGregor and Smith (2020) revealed that experiences of hunger resulted in aggressive and anxious behavior, and showed malnutrition adversely affects students' ability to develop healthy social skills. Students who were hungry or at risk for hunger displayed higher levels of hyperactivity, absenteeism, and tardiness than non-hungry children (Chen et al., 2019; Grantham-McGregor & Smith, 2020; Pastor & Tur, 2020). Consequently, once children who are hungry or at risk of being hungry receive breakfast regularly, they show significant improvements in academic performance (Grantham-McGregor & Smith, 2020; Pastor & Tur, 2020). With these issues of malnutrition impeding healthy cognitive and social development through their adolescent years, there is less likelihood of these students developing the skills necessary to survive in or complete a high school or postsecondary program (Pastor & Tur, 2020).

# Circumventing the Effects of Low SES Household Conditions Through Effective CCR

Over the last decade, continuously undesirable statistics on the postsecondary outcomes of ARS of low SES spurred a national upswing in interest and discussion about CCR among

researchers, practitioners, and policymakers. In the field of education, this interest led to an industry-wide acknowledgment of the role academic, social, and financial preparation plays in shaping outcomes in postsecondary environments and the fact that this type of instruction is not often present in schools in communities of low SES (Gilstrap, 2020; Kezar & Kitchen, 2020). As a result, the most recent education policy changes increased the emphasis on high school graduates' readiness for postsecondary settings (Desimone et al., 2019). Children in households of low SES often suffer the effects of parents having minimal to nonexistent involvement, which creates an opportunity for school staff to have a heightened positive influence on these students' academic and social development (Gilstrap, 2020; Orrock & Clark, 2018). In-school initiatives that have proven to circumvent negative influences from parents or guardians include a targeted CCR curriculum, longer school hours, smaller class sizes, one-on-one tutoring, and an expanded extracurricular program (Gilstrap, 2020; Moshidi & Jusoh, 2020; Orrock & Clark, 2018). With more time in school and more positive influences within this area of the microsystem, children of low SES are more likely to graduate from high school and succeed in postsecondary settings because the influence of strong role models and a supportive school environment makes up for the lack of parental involvement at home (Gilstrap, 2020; Moshidi & Jusoh, 2020). Furthermore, even if other aspects of these children's ecological system remained compromised, the positive influence of a positive, supportive school setting could be so significant that they were still capable of achieving academic success and desired postsecondary outcomes (Gilstrap, 2020; Moshidi & Jusoh, 2020; Orrock & Clark, 2018).

### Impact of School Environment and CCR Programs for ARS of Low SES

The majority of influences in the microsystem of ARS of low SES do not support healthy cognitive and social development, which is necessary for success in postsecondary settings; therefore, the role of the school-based initiatives, particularly a high-quality, standards-based

CCR curriculum, provides resources that are significant to success in postsecondary settings (Falco & Steen, 2018; Paolini, 2019). Improving the quality of these students' school environment is critical to closing the achievement gap because these positive influences offset the unhealthy conditioning of the household environments of children in communities of low SES (Hines et al., 2017; McMahon et al., 2017).

Supportive school staff has a significant influence on the postsecondary outcomes of ARS of low SES, improving these students' development of academic skills, self-efficacy, and intrinsic motivation to be successful in college and career atmospheres (Grace-Odeleye & Santiago, 2019; Gross-Manos et al., 2020; Herndon & Bembenutty, 2017; Rosenbaum et al., 2017). These findings support the notion that once an individual is intrinsically motivated, they can independently avoid deterrents to their success because the intrinsic motivators will assist in helping them persist toward the goal, even if those deterrents exist within their households or communities (Falco & Steen, 2018; Herndon & Bembenutty, 2017; Paolini, 2019; Rosenbaum et al., 2017). Intrinsic motivators are developed in an effective school environment, overriding the effects of extrinsic factors that demotivate or stop children's developmental progression (Paolini, 2019).

This current study explored the participants' experiences with their Title I high school's environment in addition to the CCR curriculum and described the impact of that experience on their intrinsic motivation to succeed academically and professionally. The description of these experiences could assist professionals in this field with the improvement of the level at which the current standards-based CCR curriculum and Title I high school environment could heighten the success of ARS of low SES in postsecondary settings.

# Outcomes of Effective CCR Curriculum for ARS

Effective CCR curriculum improves the academic achievement and social development of ARS when the programs and associated school staff compensate for the disadvantage experienced in their overall ecosystems (Grace-Odeleye & Santiago, 2019; Gross-Manos et al., 2020; Herndon & Bembenutty, 2017; Kezar & Kitchen, 2020; Rosenbaum et al., 2017). Moreover, effective CCR programs increase retention, self-efficacy, academic achievement, and persistence in students considered at risk for dropping out during their high school tenure (Herndon & Bembenutty, 2017; Mokher et al., 2018). ARS of low SES who experienced highquality school programming and supportive school staff showed marked elevations in cognitive and social development necessary for success in college and career settings (Herndon & Bembenutty, 2017; Mokher et al., 2018; Rosenbaum et al., 2017). Appropriate CCR programming in schools that serve ARS of low SES, like Title I high schools, is highly effective in filling the academic and social gaps caused by the lack of academic and social resources in the students' homes and communities (Falco & Steen, 2018; Grace-Odeleye & Santiago, 2019). Additionally, effective instruction specific to the needs of ARS of low SES may not change the prejudicial American power structure that leads to their disadvantaged macrosystem; however, it can educate them on the prejudices therein and teach them how to navigate those prejudices in postsecondary atmospheres (Gilstrap, 2020; Kezar & Kitchen, 2020; Paolini, 2019).

# **Macrosystem of ARS of Low SES**

The macrosystem is the outermost layer of an individual's environment, so it indirectly influences all other layers of subsystems, characterizing the patterns of ideology and behavior to which the individual identifies and mimics (Bronfenbrenner, 1976, 1996). Prejudicial practices within the power structures of the macrosystem of people of low SES make it so that those who already suffer from generations of economic, political, and social oppression remain relegated to low SES (DeGruy, 2009; Groos et al., 2018; Merçon et al., 2020; Potter & Morris, 2017).

Therefore, even though ARS of low SES are not in direct contact with the influences of their macrosystem, these economic, political, and social influences create the issues that consign their communities to low SES and perpetuate the economic and political circumstances from which atrisk status arises (Lawson et al., 2017; Marsh et al., 2020; Merçon et al., 2020; Potter & Morris, 2017; Tudge & Rosa, 2019). Furthermore, because these systemic issues affect every aspect of the lives of ARS of low SES throughout their entire life span, this current study is pertinent to education reformers who wish to understand the effects of the school environment and CCR curriculum on ARS ability to circumvent pitfalls in postsecondary atmospheres created by prejudicial policies (Marsh et al., 2020; Merçon et al., 2020).

### Systemic Prejudice and Life Outcomes of ARS of Low SES

Over policing and mass incarceration have had the most severe impact on ARS of low SES, and the spillover effects of this issue are prevalent in the contemporary class stratification of the American public education system (Fornili, 2018; Pettit & Gutierrez, 2018). Economic and educational disadvantages are drivers of criminal behavior, and these issues contribute to why students of low SES are more likely to drop out of school and engage in criminal behavior (Flynn, 2020; Hinton et al., 2018). Additionally, issues unique to communities of low SES, like over policing and longer prison sentences, make these families vulnerable to furthered financial distress and broken family structures (Adams et al., 2020). The mass incarceration of generations of parents of low SES and the placement of their children into the foster care system compounds the issues of household chaos and underdeveloped cognitive and social skills, wearing away at community cohesion and heightening community and family dysfunction (Adams et al., 2020).

As demonstrated by the documented disparities in postsecondary outcomes between people of low SES and people of high SES, the youth of communities of low SES are repeatedly exposed to physical and emotional violence, so they are more likely to commit violent acts

throughout their lives (Simckes et al., 2021). The behaviors developed as a consequence of the micro- and macro systems reduce children's ability to attain education and, later, gainful employment (Simckes et al., 2021; Turner et al., 2016). The Simckes et al. (2021) study of the long-term community effects of traumas developed as a result of the over policing of communities of low SES concluded that these issues are critical factors in the deterioration of the educational and economic structures of these communities. The social contexts of their neighborhood and the prejudicial government policies and policing agencies that influence those social contexts significantly impact youth of low SES (McCrea et al., 2019). Issues like statesanctioned use of special weapons and tactics (SWAT) teams to demolish homes, and the targeted use of excessive and repetitive violence from police agencies, expose the youth of communities of low SES to constant disorder in addition to physical and emotional upheaval (McCrea, 2019; Scott-Jones & Kamara, 2020; Simckes, 2021). Such issues of governmentsanctioned violence in the communities of low SES are mirrored in these communities' school systems that report the highest and most extreme levels of violence and disciplinary action for students. Just like in the criminal justice system, for the same infractions, individuals of low SES are more severely punished than their counterparts of high SES (Adams et al., 2020; Scott-Jones & Kamara, 2020).

# Disciplinary Practices in Schools of Communities of Low SES

One of the leading causes of cognitive and social underdevelopment of ARS of low SES is the excessive disciplinary practice within the public school system, which mirror the over policing of their communities (Gaston et al., 2020). The disciplinary procedures and practices of schools that serve children of low SES are highly biased against these children compared to that of schools that serve children of high SES (Jackson, 2021; Pfister et al., 2021). As early as preschool, zero-tolerance policies govern children's educational experience in schools in low

SES neighborhoods, showing longer suspensions and increased expulsions, stunting these children's cognitive and social development, and causing them to miss critical academic benchmarks (Blake et al., 2017; Huang & Cornell, 2017, 2018). Barrett et al. (2018) explored disparities in school suspensions and expulsions between people of low SES and high SES and found that children of low SES are more prone to suspensions than their counterparts of high SES. Barrett et al. (2018) also found that school staff intentional discrimination was the cause of over discipline and harsher consequences for students of low SES compared to children of high SES who received far less punishment with far more lenient consequences for the same infractions. The study also revealed that these disparities were present throughout school districts, across schools, and at all grade levels (Barrett et al., 2018).

Another issue associated with discriminatory bias against children of low SES is the unconscious racial bias of teachers and administrators, which is a contributing factor to these children's suspension and expulsion from school at the highest rates of all groups of children (Barrett et al., 2018). The detrimental impact of these suspensions is the hindrance of academic growth based solely on the races and ethnicities of this specific group, which worsens the racial disparities in academic achievement (Morris & Perry, 2016; Stitt, 2021). Compared to other groups, students of low SES experience the highest rates of exclusionary disciplinary practices, and many of the out-of-school suspensions given to these students are the result of racial biases from school staff (Barrett et al., 2018; Lindsay & Hart, 2017; Logan & Burdick-Will, 2017). The work of Barrett et al. (2018) concurred with Passero's (2018) conclusion that SES is a factor in disciplinary measures in public schools, agreeing that the higher the income level of a child's family, the fewer out-of-school suspensions experienced by the child, regardless of the frequency or seriousness of the infraction.

Passero's (2018) research on the relationship between educational attainment and discriminatory discipline policies found that the overwhelming representation of children of low SES is due to the historically prejudicial regimes of the United States. Passero (2018) found that increased suspensions and expulsions are the products of schools' zero-tolerance discipline policies, which are often in public schools in high-poverty neighborhoods like Title I schools. These policies disrupt students' access to education and contribute to the high dropout rates of students who were repeatedly suspended and for more extended periods of time (Barrett et al., 2018; Logan & Burdick-Will, 2017; Passero, 2018).

### School Quality, Academic Achievement, and Income Attainment

The available data on the postsecondary outcomes of people of low SES demonstrates parallels between SES, educational attainment, and gainful employment (Bailey et al., 2021; Hussar & Bailey, 2011; Hussar et al., 2020). The issues that lead to the academic achievement gap, including severe disciplinary practices in schools, lacking parental involvement, and an uneven distribution of funds and resources, are exclusive to communities of low SES because they are derivatives of America's historically prejudicial regimes (Bailey et al., 2021; Clarke, 1978; Hussar & Bailey, 2011; Hussar et al., 2020; Welsing, 1975, 1991). Likewise, the disparities in educational attainment in traditionally marginalized communities were the precursor to the gap in income attainment between people of low SES and people of high SES (Bailey et al., 2021; Groos et al., 2018; Hussar & Bailey, 2011; Hussar et al., 2020; Namin, 2020; Welsing, 1975, 1991).

Children of low SES are more likely to attend schools in high-poverty districts with less rigorous curriculums, fewer resources, and teachers who expect less of them academically than they would expect of similarly situated students of high SES (Hussar et al., 2020). On average, Title I schools see the highest turnover in principal and assistant principals, and this high

mobility is the highest in schools that serve communities of low SES (Winters et al., 2021). Without a consistent administration to spur retention in the teachers, counselors, and other school staff, it is impossible to sustain the school-wide initiatives necessary for effective academic and social development of the students (Hochschild, 2021). While there may be staff members who do stay at the school despite the challenge of administrative stability, their individual efforts may spur some positive change, but not enough to ignite high performance throughout the entire school, nor effectively address the needs of ARS of low SES (Hochschild, 2021).

The unremedied issues within the education systems of communities of low SES explains why, for generations, these communities have had the highest incarceration rates and unemployment rates (Bailey et al., 2021; Clarke, 1978; Hussar et al., 2020; Loesch, 2018; Namin, 2020; Welsing, 1975, 1991). Additionally, Loesch (2018) highlighted that in the United States, socioeconomic class and opportunities for academic and economic success are inextricably linked. Therefore, children of low SES are disproportionately affected by decreased access to quality education and higher education, lowering their likelihood of attaining gainful employment (Groos et al., 2018; Owens & Candipan, 2019; Welsing, 1991; Zhang et al., 2020a, 2020b).

Bias in the school environment of communities of low SES undermines the educational experience of the students who attend those schools. Students attending schools in communities of low SES, like Title I schools, have to endure low school quality at all grade levels (Barrett et al., 2018; Lindsay & Hart, 2017; Loesch, 2018; Logan & Burdick-Will, 2017). Students' socioeconomic backgrounds correlate with their educational attainment and educational attainment significantly influences their future earning power and SES, which, in turn, directly influences their life outcomes and that of their offspring (Barrett et al., 2018; Loesch, 2018). The outcomes of ARS of low SES correlate with their parents' low earning power and low SES if

there is no change in household conditions or school environment (Barrett et al., 2018; Lindsay & Hart, 2017; Loesch, 2018; Logan & Burdick-Will, 2017).

#### **Overview of Standards-Based CCR Education**

Effective CCR programming and a supportive school environment can create supports that interrupt the cycle of poverty in communities of low SES. Arguably, the gap in income attainment, created by the gap in education attainment, is the result of ineffective CCR curriculums in high-poverty school districts (Barrett et al., 2018; Lindsay & Hart, 2017). Established by the National Governors Association and Council of Chief State School Officers, the CCSS is a nationally accepted set of guidelines for grade school instruction in college- and career-level skills (Poshka, 2019). High-quality school environments with an effective CCR improve the academic achievement and social development of ARS of low SES because these programs provide access to the education and opportunities necessary to engage positively with postsecondary settings (Grace-Odeleye & Santiago, 2019; Gross-Manos et al., 2020; Herndon & Bembenutty, 2017; Kezar & Kitchen, 2020; Rosenbaum et al., 2017). Effective high school CCR programs increase retention, self-efficacy, academic improvements, and persistence in students considered at risk during their high school tenure (Herndon & Bembenutty, 2017; Mokher et al., 2018; Rosenbaum et al., 2017), so the description of this lived experience can help deepen understanding about this population concerning the academic, social, and cultural effectiveness of the CCR curriculum and the Title I high school environment, as demonstrated by ARS postsecondary outcomes.

# CCR Education, Cultural Responsiveness, and ARS Outcomes

The ability to speak the language of college and career atmospheres is a skill necessary for success in such settings, and an effective CCR curriculum will develop those necessary linguistic skills through positive social conditioning that compensates for the cognitive and social underdevelopment that occurs in households and communities of low SES (Daniel et al., 2019; Jackson & Knight-Manuel, 2019). For ARS of low SES, cultural responsiveness is a significant

factor in the effectiveness of any educational initiative designed for this population, especially in Title I schools (Dari et al., 2021; Wilcox et al., 2018). Experts in the field of ARS education agree that one way for students of low SES to break the cycle of intergenerational disadvantage is to learn CCR skills during high school, and this will allow for success in postsecondary institutions and the workforce (Bal, 2018; Castellano et al., 2017). Investigating the experiences of high school graduates that were ARS of low SES regarding their perceptions of culturally responsive education is vital to gauging the effectiveness of the education initiatives designed to target issues specifically associated with this population (Bal, 2018). An examination of school-wide practices regarding the education of ARS of low SES in Title I high schools contributes to this field of study because such studies increase knowledge around effective, school-based CCR initiatives for this population (Bal, 2018; Hines et al., 2019, 2020).

This current phenomenological study aims to address the question of cultural responsiveness as it relates to the effectiveness of a school's environment and CCR curriculum through the description of the participants' high school experiences. Daniel et al. (2019) investigated the effects of teachers who did not reflect the culture of the SES of the students they taught, concluding that the most effective educational programming for ARS of low SES includes school staff who understand the historical, cultural, and dialectical aspects of these students' economic and social condition. Plausibly, being educated by school staff who survived the same or similar conditions of SES strengthens students' self-efficacy, heightening intrinsic interest in developing the skills necessary for success in postsecondary settings (Daniel et al., 2019).

# Legal Implications of an Ineffective CCR Education

Schools with Title I status receive extra resources and funds for the purpose of equalizing education for children from communities of low SES (Gilley & Aranda, 2019). The additional

financial support for these schools and the adherence to standards-based CCR curriculum is supposed to establish educational equality between underprivileged and privileged students and result in underprivileged students' readiness for college and workforce settings (Gilley & Aranda, 2019; Grant & Arnold, 2015). Therefore, there could be legal implications for schools that accept funds for additional support and require its students to complete a standards-based CCR curriculum but do not provide an education or environment that results in successful postsecondary outcomes (Calderon, 2018; Young, 2020).

The U.S. Department of Education mandates that all public schools have challenging and clear standards of achievement and accountability for all children, in addition to showing effective strategies for reaching those standards (Schmidt, 2018). The CCSS provide the outline for the curriculum that culminates in a CCR graduate, so if I high school fails to adequately prepare its students for the academic and social expectations of college and career settings, the school failed to uphold its expected duty of care (Teh & Russo, 2018). Therefore, it can be argued that high schools that receive Title I resources are expected to provide an educational curriculum and environment that leads to an equitable educational experience, and the outcome of the administration of a standards-based CCR curriculum should be graduates that are college or workforce ready (English et al., 2017; Leung et al., 2021; United States Government Accountability Office, 2018).

### **Educational Malpractice and ARS**

The seminal work of Coleman (1966) and the research on status attainment tradition based on the work of Blau and Duncan (1967), Hauser (1969), and Neilson (2018) concluded that familial disadvantage plays a role in the intergenerational transmission of inequality, but that familial disadvantage can change through educational access and achievement. Therefore, using the CCSS as a basis for a workable standard of education, it can be argued that a school is liable

for its graduates' inability to succeed in college and career settings if it lacks the courses and instructional practices necessary to appropriately prepare its students for that level of success (Neilson, 2018)

These concepts raise issues for future implications on education malpractice in Title I high schools because a school could be held accountable for accepting additional funds for equalizing education, but failing to deliver on that educational equalization, especially if the curriculum of the school is based on a nationally accepted set of educational standards (Calderon, 2018; Teh & Russo, 2018; Young, 2020). Therefore, graduates at a Title I high school who completed a standards-based CCR curriculum should display college and workforce readiness upon graduation; but this has not been the case for many ARS of low SES (Leung et al., 2021; Poshka, 2019). If a school has granted a diploma to an individual but has failed to adequately prepare that individual for the academic and social aspects of postsecondary settings, then the school could allegedly be negligent and legally charged with educational malpractice (Young, 2020).

# Related Cases: Educational Malpractice

Several court cases were especially relevant in the study of educational malpractice as it pertains to students of low SES (Young, 2020). Although most lawsuits against public school systems rule in the defendants' favor, there are documented lawsuits against schools for knowingly granting diplomas to students who had not acquired the skills necessary to succeed in postsecondary settings (Calderon, 2018; Young, 2020). *Peter W. v. San Francisco Unified School District* (1976) (Harris III, 1976) was one of the first documented lawsuits for educational malpractice, and at the time, there was no nationally accepted standard of education and, therefore, no workable rule of measure. Because of this national situation, the judge ruled in favor of the school because there was no official standard of education at that time. For Title I

high schools that follow a standards-based curriculum that is supposed to culminate in CCR, there is a stronger case for educational malpractice when the graduates of those schools are not actually college and workforce ready, which highlights the importance of understanding the shared academic experiences that affect the postsecondary outcomes of ARS of low SES who graduated from those schools (Young, 2020).

Educational malpractice cases in the past such as *Donohue v. Copiague*, 1979 ruled in favor of the schools because there were no workable rule of care for grade school education like there is in the fields of law and medicine (Harris III, 1979); however, with the advent of the CCSS in 2010, there are official standards of education that outline how students should reach the goal of being CCR by the time they graduate from high school. Furthermore, standards for education have been established in every state in the United States, so every state presently has a workable rule of care for grade school education. Therefore, any public school that fails to educate students appropriately, but allows them to graduate with a high school diploma, may be liable for educational malpractice (Young, 2020). This current study revealed details about the effects of a Title I high school's standards-based CCR curriculum on its graduates' postsecondary outcomes, which can act as a basis for the discussion of educational malpractice in Title I high schools.

Passed in 1998, Proposition 227 was a California ballot proposition that specified a standard for teaching students who were Limited English Proficient (LEP) (McField, 2008), causing a substantial shift in the concept of a workable rule of care in the field of education. According to Proposition 227, a school can be subject to a lawsuit of educational malpractice if its educators willfully and repeatedly failed to provide instruction that met the needs of LEP students (The Legislative Analyst's Office, 1998). Proposition 227 created a legal basis for parents to sue a public school that did not provide an appropriate standard of care for their

children's education, similar to the CCSS implemented in 2010 to be a quantifiable standard for grade school education. Established in 2010, the CCSS is the national set of standards for education that provides a sound basis for students to pursue lawsuits in educational malpractice against elementary and secondary schools that failed to deliver an adequate education, as outlined by the CCSS (Young, 2020).

Forty-one states, the District of Columbia, four territories, and the Department of Defense Education Activity (DoDEA) have adopted the CCSS as their standard for elementary and secondary education (National Governors Association Center for Best Practices, Council of Chief State School Officers, 2010). Thus, there is validity to lawsuits from students whose state implemented the CCSS as their official standard but delivered substandard education. Experts in the field of educational malpractice agree that there should be more research about the experiences of students with the standards-based CCR curriculum, as well as their outcomes as a result of that curriculum, in order to describe if schools that serve ARS of low SES are effective, or if the schools are engaging in educational malpractice (Calderon, 2018; Young, 2020).

#### Summary

Under the context of CCR, this current study sought to ascertain the participants' feelings about their preparedness for college and career settings and the effect of their Title I high school's standards-based CCR curriculum on their achievement of successful postsecondary outcomes. There are gaps in the literature regarding the educational experiences of Title I high school graduates who were ARS of low SES and the effect of the standards-based CCR curriculum on their postsecondary outcomes (Falco & Steen, 2018; Hung et al., 2019). What is currently known in the field of study on ARS of low SES is that they need additional educational support and resources to close the achievement gap between them and their peers of high SES (Falco & Steen, 2018; Grace-Odeleye & Santiago, 2019; Gross-Manos et al., 2020; Mokher et

al., 2018; Rosenbaum et al. 2017). What needs to be studied are the personal accounts of the shared experiences of these individuals while they attended Title I high schools and how effectively the CCR curriculum of those high schools aligned with the requirements of the college and workforce life (Falco & Steen, 2018; Grace-Odeleye & Santiago, 2019; Gross-Manos et al., 2020; Rosenbaum et al. 2017).

Children of low SES, which is due to systemic conditions, experience an inverse proximal process where the instruments of their development are negatively charged and lead to disruptions in their cognitive and social development, producing dysfunctional behavior and reduced competency (Merçon & Vargas et al., 2020). In many ways, individuals' level of academic skill corresponds to their socioeconomic class because the conditions of their ecological environment determine their access to the resources necessary for healthy cognitive and social development (Potter & Morris, 2017). Describing their shared experience with the phenomenon can provide pertinent insight for educational reform that could only be gained through understanding this demographics' firsthand experience (Gilstrap, 2020).

Further, there are limitations in the available literature about Title I high school graduates of low SES, their perception of their high school's CCR curriculum, and if it addressed their need for culturally responsive instruction (Bal, 2018). This study assists in filling the gaps of understanding between the academic experiences of graduates who were ARS of low SES and if lessons from their Title I high school's CCR curriculum translated into their adult lives.

Theoretically, the aim of CCR education is to prepare students for college and workforce settings. By understanding the real-life postsecondary outcomes of graduates who were ARS of low SES concerning their CCR education, their lived experiences could inform reforms for this population (Murray et al., 2021). The practical value of this study is its ability to improve

curriculum design and instructional practice for ARS of low SES in Title I high schools and supplement the literature on effective reform for this population (Sanchez et al., 2018).

#### CHAPTER THREE: METHODS

#### Overview

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the lived experiences of high school graduates who were ARS of low SES who completed a state standards-based, CCR curriculum at Title I high schools. Studying the effect of a high school's CCR curriculum can add to the research that influences policies that govern the kinds of CCR content required in Title I public high schools. Chapter Three highlighted the study's procedures and research design. It is a presentation of an unbiased analysis of the collected data and describes the postsecondary experiences of the individuals who experienced a standards-based CCR curriculum in Title I high schools.

### Research Design

A qualitative research design was appropriate for this study because this research was an exploration of the shared experiences of high school graduates, who were ARS of low SES, to fully describe the essence of their experiences with their Title I high school's CCR curriculum (Creswell, 2013). The interpretive process of qualitative research enabled the exploration of the unique experiences of these individuals of low SES who were at risk for failure in high school because of that SES, but they still earned a high school diploma upon completion of the standards-based CCR curriculum. The interpretive practices of this research design allowed for the examination of multiple meanings for these graduates who were formerly at risk of dropping out of school because of the issues associated with their low SES. The varied meanings uncovered by this study allowed for an unbiased interpretation of the participants' experience with the phenomenon (Creswell, 2013).

### Phenomenological Approach

A phenomenological approach was preferred for this study because the postsecondary experiences of the high school graduate candidates who were ARS is a unique phenomenon, and the study of this population could provide important insights into education reform initiatives for this demographic. A phenomenological approach allowed for the gathering of descriptive data, which described the relationship between the graduates' experiences with their high school CCR curriculum and their ability to achieve successful postsecondary outcomes in college and career settings (Creswell, 2013). The nature of this unique group, Title I high school graduates who were ARS of low SES, is a phenomenon. The graduates' secondary and postsecondary experiences were vastly different from their peers of middle or high SES. A phenomenological approach allowed for the gathering of data about the descriptions of the high school graduates' experiences concerning the Title I high school CCR curriculum they completed and their outcomes in college and career settings (Creswell, 2013). As expressed by Moustakas (1994), personal perceptions guide the components that make meaning of the world; therefore, this phenomenological study collected data to make meaning of the effectiveness of a standardsbased Title I high school CCR curriculum from the perspectives of the graduates who shared that experience. This inquiry sought to understand the human experiences of students in Title I high schools to explore this phenomenon and how it was experienced and perceived by the individuals who lived through the phenomenological event (Moustakas, 1994).

### **Transcendental Approach**

The transcendental approach was chosen for this study because I wanted to provide detailed descriptions of the participants' shared experiences, emphasizing their intuition, imagination, and universal structures to obtain a dynamic underlying of the phenomenon they experienced. It provided an understanding of the particular perceptions, feelings, and thoughts

evoked in the participants' consciousness about the experienced (Moustakas, 1994), such as being a graduate of a Title I high school who was at-risk for dropping out, but who still graduated once they completed the high school CCR curriculum. To ensure fidelity of the transcendental nature of this study, I bracketed out my own experiences, opinions, and assumptions, so my past knowledge was not engaged in the recording or describing the participants' telling of their shared experiences (Creswell, 2013).

# **Research Questions**

# **Central Research Question**

What are the shared, postsecondary experiences of Title I high school graduates who were ARS of low SES who completed the state-approved, standards-based CCR curriculum?

# **Sub-Question One**

What influence did the given CCR curriculum have on these graduates' outcomes in postsecondary institutions?

# **Sub-Question Two**

What influence did the given CCR curriculum have on these graduates' outcomes in workforce settings?

# **Setting and Participants**

Based on the study's objective and the characteristics required of participants, the study used purposeful sampling to ensure the recording of the most genuine experiences of the phenomenon. The use of criterion sampling allowed for the selection of participants who met the criteria of importance (Patton, 2002), which, in this case, was ARS status while in high school, graduation from a Title I high school, low SES, and the completion of the required CCR curriculum evidenced by high school graduation. The study used critical case sampling to yield

the most important aspects of the participants' experiences about their life outcomes after experiencing the phenomenon, which had significant implications on the curriculum's effectiveness in producing college- or career-ready graduates. The use of a critical case sampling technique allowed me to address the issues of educational and socioeconomic disadvantage from the perspective of the individuals who experienced the effects of the phenomena the CCR curriculum was designed to offset (Moustakas, 1993).

### **Setting**

The setting of this study was in the southern area of a school district in Northwest Georgia. Collectively, the schools in The District had an average annual enrollment of approximately 54,000 students, with an average of 3,500 high school students, per year. The m measure for ARS status is living below the poverty line; therefore, each year, approximately 90% of The District's southern region students fell into that category because of the factors associated with their socioeconomic class and household income (Isaac et al., 2021; Libosada, 2021). This setting was the best choice for this study because the demographic of the graduates from the schools in the district was appropriate for the study. Comparisons between schools in the northern region of The District and those in the southern region demonstrated profound disparities in academic achievement and postsecondary outcomes, which are derivatives of disparities in income attainment and reinforced through residential zoning (Libosada, 2021). Schools data reports on schools in the northern region of The District were in communities of high SES, and the schools reported high levels of emotionally supportive atmospheres, parental involvement, and high-quality education, which explains the high levels of academic achievement and postsecondary readiness in the high school graduates of that geographical region of The District (Isaac at al., 2021; Libosada, 2021). The opposite was reported from the schools in the low-income areas, showing that schools in communities in the southern area of

The District had consistently low high school graduation rates. It seems that the lower a community's SES, the lower the quality of education in the schools of those communities (Isaac et al., 2021; Libosada, 2021).

In the southern region of The District, the high concentration of low-income students qualified many of these institutions for certification as Title I schools. These schools received supplemental funds, support, and resources to assist students with closing the achievement gap created by factors associated with the students' low-income status and residency communities of low SES. The leadership team of The District consisted of 10 people headed by The District Superintendent. It included a Chief of Staff, Chief Equity & Social Justice Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Academic Officer, Chief Human Resources Officer, General Counsel, Chief of Operations, Chief Performance Officer, and Chief of Schools. The southern region of The District was the setting of the study because the student population and educational issues associated with the low SES of that population were akin to other cities nationwide and internationally that have populations of low SES. Thus, a better understanding of the experiences of these participants could be valuable in plans for educational reforms for ARS from similar neighborhoods and socioeconomic backgrounds.

# **Participants**

The participants of this study were high school graduates of low SES who were at risk of dropping out of high school because of factors associated with their SES. These individuals came from underserved communities with histories of economic and social disenfranchisement and, while they were in school, they resided in household and community environments of low SES, which were not likely to support the healthy development of the academic or social skills necessary for postsecondary success (Moshidi & Jusoh, 2020; Potter & Morris, 2017; Solyali & Celenk, 2020; Tudge et al., 2019). Additionally, all the participants attended Title I high schools

that required them to follow a curriculum based on CCR standards in order to graduate. Having earned a diploma through completion of a standards-based CCR curriculum, the graduates of these institutions should have been able to navigate comfortably in postsecondary atmospheres upon graduation from high school. The participants were the first members of their families to earn a high school diploma, complete a college degree, or acquire a position of employment above entry level, so most of their experience with CCR would have happened while completing the CCR curriculum at their Title I high school. There were 10 participants, and they all had to have graduated within the past 12 years (senior classes of 2010–2022) of the conducting of this study.

### **Researcher Positionality**

My experiences with Title I high schools have shown me that it is exceedingly more difficult for children to develop the cognitive and socioemotional skills necessary to thrive in postsecondary settings when they do not have the teachers or resources they need (West et al., 2018; Williams et al., 2018). Having 15 years of experience as a high school teacher of ARS of low SES, the majority of which, working in Title I high schools, I have seen the life outcomes of ARS of low SES who did not receive a CCR education specific to the needs of the students of their socioeconomic demographic. I am dissatisfied with the life outcomes of my former students and their life experiences, and I feel it is necessary to conduct research that can help describe the experiences of these youths so future education reforms for students of the same or similar demographics can be tailored more effectively to these students' specific needs.

My position on school reform is that it should include consideration for the opinions of the people for whom the reform is designed. My personal and professional demographic proximity to the students and seeing the same postsecondary outcomes with students of the same demographics in different areas of the United States underscores my motivation to better

understand the experiences of these individuals before and after they experienced a state-approved, standards-based CCR curriculum at Title I high schools. As a community of educators, we are to assist in shaping our society's future citizens; therefore, it is necessary to understand the academic experience of these graduates and how those experiences impacted their ability to thrive in postsecondary settings. These participants' articulation of their experiences is vital to educators' ability to cater to students' specific demographic needs. For these reasons, I chose Vygotsky's (1978) social constructivism as the interpretive framework for this study. The underpinnings of Vygotsky's (1979) approach to child development encompassed the idea that the children's cognitive functions develop through their social interactions, which mirrors my assumptions about how the quality of a state-approved standards-based high school CCR curriculum (which includes standards on academic content and social interactions) significantly impacts the life outcomes of individuals who experienced that required curriculum.

# **Interpretive Framework**

The lens through which this study was conducted is Vygotsky's (1978) social constructivist theory because this paradigm supported the idea that students' cognitive development is the result of social interactions. Social constructivism is the collaborative creation of a small culture with shared symbols with shared meanings that impact the actions and thought processes of its participants (Vygotsky, 1978). For ARS of low SES, a school environment can act as a cultural center with shared symbols and meanings to ignite their intrinsically motivated desire for socioeconomic mobility through the CCR curriculum. It provides a basis for the theoretical framework of Bronfenbrenner's (1992) ecological systems theory, which guides this study and proposes that human development is an entire ecological system composed of five subsystems that affect an individual's maturation and development. Based on this theoretical framework, the themes used to code the participants' experiences

included considerations for how their academic experience with the CCR curriculum at their Title I high school impacted their social and academic experiences in postsecondary settings.

# **Philosophical Assumptions**

My philosophical assumptions directed the development of this study's research problem and questions and influenced the gathering of data to answer the research questions (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The following sections articulate my ontological, epistemological, and axiological assumptions for this study.

# **Ontological Assumption**

For a phenomenological study, I had to be aware of my ontological assumptions and ensure that I accurately report the differences in the participants' experiences rather than my experiences (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Moustakas, 1994). My ontological assumption for this study included awareness of how the participants' points of view consisted of different perspectives (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Moustakas, 1994). Considering this assumption, I used multiple data sources to gather each participant's descriptions and perspectives of their experiences as a Title I high school graduate of low SES who completed a standards-based CCR curriculum (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The data analysis included separating the participants' contrasting comments to reveal themes to understand how they viewed their experiences differently (Moustakas, 1994). My ontological assumption was that when groups of people share the same or similar conditions, like experiencing being an ARS of low SES who graduated from a Title I high school, there is a universal reality shared by all the people of that group, even if they have this experience in different ways. My study describes the experiences of the individual participants who all experienced the disadvantages of low SES, attended a Title I high school, and underwent a standard-based CCR curriculum designed to provide the instruction necessary to thrive in postsecondary settings.

### **Epistemological Assumption**

My epistemological assumptions addressed the ideology that described knowledge as a combination of academic and social intelligence that were supported by Vygotsky's (1978) social constructivist theory. My primary epistemological assumption was that the experiences of formerly ARS who completed the Title I public school CCR curriculum were valuable to future reform initiatives for future ARS of low SES. My experience with being a former ARS of low SES, in addition to my years of experience working with this demographic of students, gave me an insider's understanding of this type of student and how to accurately code their descriptions of their experiences with a Title I high school CCR curriculum. While I maintained an objective position as I conducted the study, my personal and professional experiences with the phenomenon assisted in uncovering nuances in this field of study. The achievement gap between children of economically and socially disadvantaged communities and their affluent peers substantiated the need to include these students' experiences in the conversation about educational reform in Title I high schools. Having been a student who was able to close that achievement gap, I had a reliable perspective when I recorded the experiences of others who experienced similar barriers in their education.

### Axiological Assumption

Creswell and Poth (2018) explained that axiological assumptions comprise the values that I brought to this study and how they related to the context and the setting of the study (Creswell & Poth, 2018). My axiological assumptions surrounded my belief that the evidence of an effective CCR curriculum is the life outcomes of the high school graduates who experienced that curriculum. As an experienced teacher who has worked in Title I high schools and college settings, I understood the importance of an effective CCR curriculum to the life outcomes of ARS, especially those of low SES. My intimate understanding of the academic and social

structure of the study's setting allowed me to appropriately code the participants' experiences according to how they felt their experiences in their Title I high school may have been determining factors in their life outcomes (Creswell & Poth, 2018). I did not engage or work with the study's participants directly, so I was able to maintain a neutral position as I retold and coded their experiences (Vagle, 2018). Familiarity with the participants' dialects, cultural norms, and the effects of experiencing the trauma of being a person of low SES allowed me to be culturally responsive and responsible as well as accurate as I described their subjective experiences (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

### Researcher's Role

To prevent bias in the interpretation of data and conflicts of interest in data collection, I had no relationship with the participants outside of collecting data on their experience with the phenomenon of focus (Creswell & Poth, 2018). While I was a teacher in the study's setting, the participants were not my current or former students, and participation in this study was entirely voluntary. Having no authority over the participants allowed for a more comfortable interview atmosphere that encouraged genuine, honest responses to the interview questions (Creswell, 2013). While I had natural assumptions that I brought to the study, I understood how to record an individual's experiences without bias. My familiarity with this population's cultural norms, linguistic accents, and colloquialisms assisted me in collecting genuine data that truly reflected the essence of the participants' experiences with the phenomenon. I understood the dialectical and communicational patterns of the study participants and my proximity as a teacher and resident in their community allowed me to record the participants' experiences accurately. The implications of my proximity to the population in my personal and professional life indicated my intricate knowledge of the community's people and my dedication to highlighting their experiences in a respectful, unbiased way. Knowledge of the population's culture, particularly

the reported life outcomes of high school graduates who experienced economic and social disadvantage associated with their SES, allowed me to analyze the data with an understanding of how the quality of these people's education is a significant contributor to the issues that perpetuate the cycle of low SES.

#### **Procedures**

The first step toward completing this study's research was to obtain Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval. Once obtained, purposeful sampling was used to choose the participants: Title I high graduates in the state of Georgia from classes 2010 through 2022. Once all participant recruitment was complete, individual interviews and focus groups were conducted, and the data were triangulated to pinpoint and code the commonalities between the participants' experiences. Responses to written prompts were also reviewed to gather as much data as possible.

### **Permissions**

Before conducting any research, appropriate IRB approval was secured (Appendix A). I identified the chosen setting as feasible and obtained a signed consent form from each participant (Appendix B).

#### **Recruitment Plan**

I sent a survey, via mail and email, to the Title I high school alumni of 2010 through 2022 in the northwest region of the state of Georgia and asked for their interest in volunteering to participate in this study, and that the participants were to be chosen based on the participants' availability and survey responses (Creswell, 2013). All graduates who received the survey fit the criteria for this purposeful sampling (Patton, 2002). The sampling criteria was that the participants had to be a former ARS of low SES who graduated from a Title I high school after completing the state-standard based CCR curriculum. The sample pool of this study was

approximately 500 graduates; of that sample pool, the first 10 individuals to respond were chosen to begin the study, and interviews were continued with different participants until data saturation was reached (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Creswell and Poth (2018) explained that a phenomenological study could have hundreds of participants, but I reached saturation at the 10th participant and began coding the data (Braun & Clarke, 2021). All participants were informed about the purpose and intent of the study to ensure adherence to IRB policy (Appendix B) and informed consent (Appendix B). Prior to participating in this study, the participants signed a consent form that outlined the purpose of the research and the procedures that were used to gather data from participants.

#### **Data Collection Plan**

According to Creswell (2013), the recommended data collection procedure for a transcendental phenomenological study is Moustakas's (1994) approach because of its systematic steps for the data analysis and guidelines for assembling the textual and structural descriptions of participants' experiences. Surveys were used to recruit a purposeful, criterion-based sample of participants. Then, the 10 participants were interviewed with prompts designed to elicit responses about their experiences in the school's CCR program and the level at which they felt prepared for postsecondary settings as a result of that program. Polkinghorne (1989) recommended this number of participants for this design of the qualitative study.

# **Recruitment Survey**

The volunteers completed the online survey, delivered via email, and I decided what participants would be the best fit after I collected and reviewed the survey answers. The survey had six questions about the volunteers' graduation status, education status, and other demographic information to search who would be best suited for this study. To ensure question quality, I asked colleagues in the field, as well as members of the dissertation committee, to

review the study's instruments and provide feedback that bolster the quality of the intended questions (Appendix D).

## Survey Questions

- Did you graduate from a Title I high school in the southern region of Atlanta, Georgia?
- 2. If yes, what year?
- 3. What were your guardians' highest levels of education?
- 4. Will you make yourself available to participate in a one-on-one interview about your experience with the CCR curriculum at the high school you attended?
- 5. Are you available to participate in a focus group about your experience with the CCR curriculum at the high school you attended?
- 6. Are you willing to provide written responses about your experience with the CCR curriculum at the high school you attended?

## **Semi-Structured Individual Interviews (Data Collection Approach #1)**

Individual interviews of the participants occurred after the completion of the survey (Appendix E). The interviews were conducted via the Zoom meeting platform, so the participants could be in the environment where they felt the most comfortable. The scheduled interviews were face-to-face conversations (via Zoom) that explored the topic of this study in detail (Pope & Mays, 1995). As Larkin et al. (2019) suggested, I conducted semi-structured interviews guided by prepared questions that allowed for a natural conversation. I was a first-time researcher, so semi-structured interviews assisted with keeping the interview on track (Larkin et al., 2019). The individual interviews were recorded through the Zoom platform, and all footage is secured on a digital storage system to which only I have access.

## Semi-Structured Individual Interview Questions

- 1. Please introduce yourself. CRQ (Central Research Question)
- 2. Please share the year you graduated from high school. CRQ
- With as much detail as possible, describe your definition of college readiness. SQ1 (Sub-Question 1)
- 4. With as much detail as possible, describe your definition of career readiness. SQ2 (Sub-Question 2)
- 5. What were your positive experiences with your high school's college and career readiness curriculum? SQ1
- 6. What were your negative experiences with your high school's college and career readiness curriculum? SQ1
- 7. Describe your high school teachers' instructional styles. SQ1
- 8. Tell me how your high school teachers' instructional styles affected your interest in/readiness for college settings? SQ1
- 9. Tell me how your high school teachers' instructional styles affected your interest in/readiness for workforce settings? SQ2
- 10. What are the characteristics of an effective high school teacher at a Title I school?
  CRQ
- 11. What do you think ARS should be taught about college and career readiness? CRQ
- 12. Explain whether or not you feel your SES affected your ability to be successful in a postsecondary institution (college, trade school, certificate program)? SQ1
- 13. Explain whether or not you feel your SES affected your readiness to enter the workforce? SQ2

- 14. With as much detail as possible, describe the postsecondary plans you created during your senior year of high school. SQ1
- 15. What information from the college and career readiness curriculum helped you attain your postsecondary goals? SQ1
- 16. What recommendations do you have for college and career readiness curriculum writers? CRQ
- 17. Is there any other information you would want to share with me about your experience with the college and career readiness curriculum at your school or its effect on your postsecondary outcomes? CRQ
- 18. How involved were your parents/guardians in your college or career readiness plans?

  CRQ
- 19. How do you feel about your parents/guardians' role in your high school education?
  CRO

## Semi-Structured Individual Interview Data Analysis Plan (Data Analysis Plan #1)

The data collected focused on what each participant experienced and was used to theme codes that accurately described experiences that impacted their lives immediately after the phenomenon occurred. The data sought to uncover shared meanings and themes between the participants' experience with the phenomenon (Moustakas, 1994). As the participants recalled their memories and feelings about the phenomenon, I developed a system of themed codes that pinpointed how the Title I CCR curriculum affected the postsecondary outcomes of this particular demographic of the ARS (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The study followed Moustakas's (1994) seven steps to analyze the collected data. The seven steps of this analytical tool were:

- reviewing each statement for accuracy in describing the experience,
- recording all significant statements,

- removing repetitive statements,
- organizing the themes of constant meaning units,
- combining themes into the explanations of the various textures of the participants' experience,
- using educated intuition and multiple perspectives to find the meanings in the content,
- and creating descriptions of what the experience was and how the participants' perceived the experience (Moustakas, 1994).

The data analysis used the transcendental phenomenological approach through epoché, reduction, imaginative variation, and meaning synthesizing (Moustakas, 1994). Systematic coding, triangulation, and description were also employed (Moustakas, 1994).

## **Focus Groups (Data Collection Approach #2)**

Krueger and Casey (2009) defined focus groups as carefully planned discussions, which seek to collect the perceptions of a particular topic in a comfortable, nonthreatening environment. Participants chosen for the focus group discussion were based on the participants' willingness. There were two focus groups, each held via password-protected Zoom platform meeting so the data collected could be transcribed and reviewed and to protect the confidentiality of the participants' identities. Each group was asked the same questions (Appendix F). The first focus group had seven participants, selected randomly from the 10 participants in the study. The second focus group had some of the participants from the first group and participants who were not in the first group. A third focus group was not conducted because saturation was met through the first two focus groups. The participants in each group were encouraged to build on each other's thoughts in addition to providing their own perspectives. The goal of the focus group discussions was to engage in cooperative conversation that jogged their memories in different ways than individual interviewing (Krueger & Casey, 2009). I facilitated the conversation, as

suggested by Creswell (2013), so all participants contributed, and I monitored for any one individual that dominated the conversation.

## Focus Group Questions

- Please describe the most memorable experiences with college and career readiness at your high school. CRQ
- Tell me about the low points with college and career readiness at your high school.
- 3. What was your perception of your high school's college and career readiness curriculum? CRQ
- 4. Describe the connections between your experience with the high school CCR curriculum and your postsecondary experiences. CRQ
- 5. Tell me about your level of comfort in college/trade school environments? SQ1
- 6. Tell me about your level of comfort in workforce environments? SQ1
- 7. What challenges have you experienced in postsecondary life? CRQ
- 8. What is your opinion of the college and career readiness culture of your high school while you were enrolled? CRQ
- 9. What suggestions do you have for future CCR curriculum developers? CRQ

# Focus Group Data Analysis Plan (Data Analysis Plan #2)

Data was coded and themed based on Creswell's (2013) description of how to analyze focus group data. The research used responses from the focus group participants to precisely describe what they experienced and how it was experienced in terms of the focal phenomenon of this study. Coding of the data followed Creswell's (2013) suggested coding process of identifying common themes to convey the essence of the experience with the phenomenon.

## Writing Prompts (Data Collection Approach #3)

The participants responded to four writing prompts so I could secure the most profound thoughts and explanations of the data received during the interviews and focus groups (Appendix E). I collected various expressions of the shared experience and gained a more detailed description of the essence of the experience (Moustakas, 1994). The writing prompts were open-ended questions designed to gather self-reported data in a private, informal setting without being distracted by the interviewer or other participants (Creswell, 2013; Vagle, 2018). The boundaries of this study required each participant to respond with three to four sentences for each prompt (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

## Writing Prompt Items

- 1. Describe any challenges you encountered with your postsecondary education. SQ1
- Describe your opinions and thoughts of the college environment in comparison to your high school environment. SQ1
- 3. Describe any challenges you encountered in finding (or trying to find) employment. SQ2
- 4. Describe your opinions and thoughts of a professional environment in comparison to your high school environment. CRQ

For this qualitative study, the four questions allowed the participants to reflect on the prompts and clarify their responses in an open-ended response format. These questions were inquiries of thought, asking the participants to describe their beliefs about the phenomenon (Patton, 2002), providing an opportunity for me to garner richer descriptions of the phenomenon.

# Writing Prompts Data Analysis Plan (Data Analysis Plan #3)

For this qualitative study, four prompts allowed the participants to reflect on and clarify their responses in an open-ended response format. For a phenomenological study, data collection involves a variety of sources of data (Creswell & Poth, 2018), and the writing prompts satisfied

this necessity. These questions were inquiries of thought and asked participants to describe their beliefs about the phenomenon (Patton, 2002), which provided an opportunity for me to garner richer descriptions of the phenomenon.

# **Data Synthesis**

As described by Moustakas (1994), transcendental phenomenology is the examination of reality through the individual's shared experience, and my role as the researcher was to find the essence of a phenomenon (Moustakas, 1994). The data analysis of this study identified themes about the shared experiences that emerged from the interviews, focus groups, and writing prompts. Triangulation of all collected data ensured validity (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

The modified Stevick-Colaizzi-Keen method and the modified Van Kaam method are both described by Moustakas (1994), for analyzing data for phenomenological research of this nature because my profile fits that of the participant sample criteria and the issue that was investigated is my professional passion. The modified Stevick-Colaizzi-Keen method (Moustakas, 1994) was used because it has more popularity among researchers in the field of education (Creswell, 1993). The description of the steps may constitute its popularity and may contribute to the transferability of the study.

The process of the modified Stevick-Colaizzi-Keen method (Moustakas, 1994) employs phenomenological reduction, including bracketing, horizontalizing, and then organizing invariant qualities and themes to construct textural description (Moustakas, 1994). Data analysis commenced as soon as the first set of data was available. Horizontalization assisted me in assigning equal value to each statement that represented a segment of meaning (Moustakas, 1994). Then, the segments were clustered into different themes. A description of the texture (the *what*) was revealed once the segments and themes were synthesized. Through imaginative variation, the examination of the textural description occurred from different perspectives and

eventually revealed a description of the structure (the *how*). The meaning and essence of the experience was represented by the textural-structural description that emerged (Creswell, 1993 Moustakas, 1994). The textural-structural description was generated for each participant by repeating the above steps until saturation was achieved. Then descriptions were integrated into a universal description of group experience (Moustakas, 1994).

### **Trustworthiness**

In qualitative studies, validity is the justification of the accuracy and credibility of the study (Gay et al., 2006). The focus of a transcendental phenomenological study is the description of the essence of the experience; therefore, I ensured trustworthiness by utilizing the means appropriate to the study design (Moustakas, 1994). My findings included accurate descriptions of the participants' experiences, and ensured the authenticity of the study (Patton, 2002). A validation process for accuracy was the best, with triangulation practiced (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

## Credibility

Lincoln and Guba (1990) defined credibility as the accuracy of the findings in a study, and it was the level at which I interpreted the phenomenon accurately. Credibility for this qualitative study was achieved through triangulation, member checking, and thick descriptions. Member checking required that the data, their analyses, interpretations, and their conclusions were sent to the participants so they could review the accuracy of the account (Creswell, 2013). This strategy allowed the participants to check my interpretations for accuracy, and they helped validate the study's credibility (Glesne & Peshkin, 1992). As Creswell (2013) described, thick description is when the researcher provides details while describing a case or writing about a common theme of the participants' experience. The transcripts of all interviews and the focus group meeting were sent to the participants so they could check for accuracy. The participants

were encouraged to adjust or make addendums to the descriptions as necessary. I used rich, descriptive detail and direct quotes to achieve thick descriptions within the transcripts.

Creswell and Poth (2018) explained that credibility elevates when contributors work as a collaborative team. To establish credibility in this study, I used triangulation, case evaluation, and member checking (Lincoln & Guba, 1990). This investigative research embedded four types of triangulation to enable a deeper understanding of the phenomenon and ensure that the comprehensive data were rich (Denzin, 1978; Lincoln & Guba, 2018; Patton, 1999). Triangulating the data corroborated the results through multiple forms of data collection in order to test for authenticity (Lincoln & Guba, 1990). I cross validated and collaborated with the participants in describing the phenomenon.

## **Transferability**

I collected and developed descriptive data in the framework of transcendental qualitative research so the phenomenon of focus was transferable through contextual patterns (Guba, 1981). For qualitative research to be transferable, the data must be context bound. The aim was to show the findings' applicability to other contexts, populations, or settings (Lincoln &Guba, 1990). This study utilized a thick description to account for a valid phenomenon in abundant, descriptive details (Guba, 1981). This way aided the process of transferability by putting forth all of the conditions to optimize transferability although it could not be completely assured. The information collected can be transferable to other communities of low SES with settings similar to that of this study.

# **Dependability**

In order to strengthen the research, I gathered information in various ways to obtain a complete depiction of the phenomenon (Guba, 1981). After I cataloged responses from the surveys, interviews, focus groups, and writing prompts, I cross verified the information as a form

of evaluation and found the patterns and categories. I acted as a human instrument in the study, as an unbiased filter through which the data were collected and coded according to the varying perspectives of the phenomenon (Mills, 2007). I kept a reflective journal to chronicle all field notes and identified points of theoretical and practical importance, in addition to including significant perceptions and insights. The study employed an external audit to examine the fidelity of the process using multiple data compilations to establish the external review path (Lincoln & Guba, 2018). Using multiple data collection forms and cross validating the data strengthened the study's dependability (Guba, 1981).

## **Confirmability**

Confirmability was established through the use of audits, audit trails, triangulation, and reflexivity (Lincoln & Guba, 1990). All interviews were be recorded and transcribed to ensure conformability of the audit and the proper audit trails. A third-party company completed the transcriptions of the interviews and pseudonyms were used to protect the identities of the participants (Lincoln & Guba, 2018). The participants were asked to read through the transcripts of their interview to ensure accuracy and to complete any missing information (Lincoln & Guba, 2018). This process ensured that the findings of this study were shaped by the participants' experiences and not my bias, motivations, or interests (Lincoln & Guba, 1990). I maintained a reflective journal and field notes to reflect on and recognize my preconceptions, beliefs, values, assumptions, and opinions (Lincoln & Guba, 2018).

### **Ethical Considerations**

The first ethical considerations of this study were obtaining IRB approval and getting the participants' informed consent through a consent form (Appendix A and Appendix B). The informed consent was a written description of this study's purpose, an explanation of the voluntary nature of this study, the commitment of time that was involved, my intentions for the

use of the results, each participant's right to withdraw from the study at any time, and my guarantee of confidential in the handling of all data collected through appropriate data collection methods (Creswell, 2013). Protecting the participants' privacy was of the utmost importance, and I felt obligated to handle all information in a sensitive nature. The data are kept confidential through a secure computer, locked inside a desk at my home, to which only I have access. The data will be destroyed three years after the publication of this dissertation. All participants were assigned pseudonyms to ensure consideration for ethics and the preservation of the participants' anonymity.

### **Summary**

ARS of low SES in Title I high schools need appropriate instruction and support from their CCR instruction because knowledge of concepts taught within the CCR curriculum can be a deciding factor in these individuals' ability to complete postsecondary degree programs or attain gainful employment after graduating from high school (Henry & Stahl, 2017; Poshka, 2019; Schmidt, 2018). The transcendental phenomenological research design provided insight into how the CCR program made participants feel about their transition from high school to postsecondary settings, their postsecondary options, and the rate at which they felt the CCR course prepared them for the academic and behavioral expectations of college and workforce settings. The design choice allowed for an in-depth description of the phenomenon, and the data collection and analysis strategies allowed for a rich retelling of the participants' experiences with the state-approved, standards-based, Title I high school CCR curriculum, and the effect of the content and delivery of that curriculum on these graduates' postsecondary outcomes (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

#### **CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS**

### Overview

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the experiences of high school graduates who were ARS of low SES who completed the standardsbased CCR curriculum at Title I high schools. Understanding the experiences of these graduates through interviews, focus groups, and written responses can assist in determining the effectiveness of the CCR curriculum that is currently in place in those schools. Additionally, understanding the factors of the CCR curriculum that Title I high school graduates perceived to affect their postsecondary experiences can result in the improvement of CCR curriculum content and delivery, which is designed for students who are at risk due to factors associated with their low SES. A transcendental phenomenological qualitative research approach was utilized because of the importance of identifying structured themes and meanings to describe the shared phenomenon. The central research question was, "What are the shared, postsecondary experiences of Title I high school graduates who were ARS of low SES who completed the stateapproved, standards-based CCR curriculum?" The first sub-question was "What influence did the given CCR curriculum have on these graduates' outcomes in postsecondary institutions?" The second sub-question was, "What influence did the given CCR curriculum have on these graduates' outcomes in workforce settings?" Chapter Four includes data from the individual interviews, focus group interviews, and written responses, and it concludes with a summary of the study's findings.

### **Participants**

There were 10 participants in this study. They were all ARS of low SES who completed a CCR curriculum at Title I high schools in northwest Georgia. They were between the ages of 20 and 30. Each participant was assigned a pseudonym to protect their identity. All participants

agreed to video and audio recording for the data collection, they were all provided with and signed the informed consent, and all affirmed to the research procedures prior to data collection.

Table 1 displays the participants' demographics.

Table 1

Participant Demographics

Participant	High School Year Graduated	Attended College Courses	Graduated College or Trade School	Current Profession
Angel	2014	Yes	Yes	Teacher
Ashley	2012	Yes	Yes	Property Manager
Cameron	2016	Yes	Yes	Staff Sergeant
Donna	2013	Yes	Yes	Teacher
John	2016	Yes	Yes	Teacher
Jordan	2011	Yes	Yes	Coding Analyst
Mary	2017	Yes	Yes	Bank Teller
Olivia	2018	Yes	No	Corrections Officer
Tasha	2019	Yes	No	Fitness Instructor
William	2017	Yes	Yes	Soldier

# Angel

Angel graduated from a Title I high school in the state of Georgia in 2014, and she graduated from an undergraduate degree program in 2019. She was raised by her mother in a single-parent home and was the first in her family to graduate from both high school and college. Angel shared that her mother was not very active in her high school or college education. She felt that her high school teachers' lessons were more focused on her ability to pass course-specific state tests than about preparing her for college-level work. At the time of her interview, she was gainfully employed as a teacher.

## **Ashley**

Ashley graduated from a Title I high school in the state of Georgia in 2012, and she went to college immediately after high school. She was raised in a two-parent household; neither of her parents graduated from high school. Both of her parents were very much involved in her high school and college education. She left college after her second semester and attributed her need to drop out of college to the fact that she was not academically ready for the rigor of collegelevel work. She returned after a 1-year hiatus and earned her undergraduate degree. At the time of her interview she worked as a property manager.

### Cameron

Cameron graduated from a Title I high school in the state of Georgia in 2016. Her father raised her in a single-parent home, neither of her parents completed high school. Cameron enlisted in the U.S. Army and earned her bachelor's degree while enlisted. She said her instructors of her Junior Reserve Officer Training Courses (JROTC) were the driving force behind her preparedness for college and her career in the military and that throughout her life, her parents were not very involved in her education. At the time of her interview, she was employed as a staff sergeant in the U.S. Army.

#### Donna

Donna graduated from a Title I high school in the state of Georgia in 2013. Her mother raised her in a single-parent home. She said her mother was very involved in her education until her sophomore year of high school. She went to college directly after high school, completed an undergraduate degree, and at the time of her interview, was employed as a teacher. Donna shared that the academic work of her high school courses was more difficult than the work she experienced in college especially because the instructional style of her high school teachers was different from her college professors.

### John

John graduated from a Title I high school in the state of Georgia in 2016. He went to college immediately after graduating from high school. His grandmother raised him in a single-parent home. His grandmother graduated from high school, but his parents did not. He said his basketball coach was very involved in his preparedness for college and career settings, but his teachers were not. He attributes his postsecondary success to his grandmother and basketball coach being very involved in his high school education. Upon completing his bachelor's degree, he became a physical education teacher and was employed in that position at the time of his interview.

### Jordan

Jordan graduated from a Title I high school in the state of Georgia in 2011. His mother raised him in a single-parent home. His father graduated from high school, but his mother did not. After graduating from high school, Jordan attended college for two years and then left college to join the military. He stayed on active duty for 5 years and returned to college once he was discharged. He earned his undergraduate degree within 3 years of returning to school and, at the time of his interview, employed as a coding analyst. He recalled having many discussions about his academic and professional future with his parents but did not recall this being a topic of discussion in any of his high school classes.

## Mary

Mary graduated from a Title I high school in the state of Georgia in 2017. Her grandmother raised her in a single-parent home. Neither of her parents went to high school. She graduated from college with a major in accounting. At the time of her interview, was employed as a bank teller. She shared that her high school teachers and substitute teachers exposed her to

the course content, but they did not deliver the content in a way that prepared her for collegelevel work.

### Olivia

Olivia graduated from a Title I high school in the state of Georgia in 2018. Her mother raised her in a single-parent home and was minimally involved in her high school education. She was the first person in her family to graduate from high school. Upon graduation from high school, she got a job as a corrections officer and intended to work in this field until she retires. At the time of her interview, she was taking college courses. Olivia stated that nothing about her high school experience prepared her for postsecondary settings because her teacher's instructional styles did not match her college professors' instructional style or the expectations of the supervisors at her job.

#### Tasha

Tasha graduated from a Title I high school in the state of Georgia in 2019. Her grandmother raised her in a single-parent home and was very involved in her high school education. She felt that both the course work and the classroom atmosphere at her high school underprepared her for college because it seemed like the teachers were "just trying to get through the day." After failing one of the two college courses she took, she did not return to school. Soon after, she became a fitness instructor. She felt that the high school coursework and environment did not prepare her for professional settings and it was her work experience that gave her the skills she needed to get a full-time job.

### William

William graduated from a Title I high school in the state of Georgia in 2018. His mother raised him in a single-parent home and was minimally involved in his high school education.

Shortly after high school graduation, William enlisted in the U.S. Army, and at the time of his

Army. He shared that his experience at his high school discouraged him from going to college or pursuing a postsecondary degree because his high school education did not prepare him for college-level academic work. He also shared that his readiness for the workforce was the result of experience in the military—not his high school education.

### **Results**

This study focused on a central research question and two sub-questions that sought to describe the postsecondary experiences of Title I high school graduates who were ARS of low SES who completed a standards-based CCR curriculum. The participants were individually interviewed, engaged in a focus group interview, and completed written prompt responses, which provided the data for the research process. The themes were established from raw data with in vivo participant quotes and were organized into three themes and eight subthemes. The themes, subthemes, and associated research questions are described in Table 2.

Table 2

Theme Organization

Theme	Subtheme	Research Question
Preparedness for College	Remedial Courses in College	SQ1
	College Course Rigor	SQ1
	Instructional Style	SQ1
Preparedness for the Workforce	Behavioral Expectations	SQ2
	Underdeveloped Financial Literacy	SQ2
High School Environment	High Staff Turnover	CRQ
	Unsafe School Conditions	CRQ
	Minimal Parental Involvement	CRQ

Note. SQ1 = Sub-Question 1; SQ2 = Sub-Question 2; CRQ = Central Research Question.

## **Preparedness for College**

A salient theme found within the analysis of the data was the level at which the participants were prepared for college upon graduation from high school. All of the participants mentioned their difficulty with the transition from their Title I high schools to their college settings. This theme highlights the participants' ecological transition, or movement within their microsystem, that alters the makeup of the microsystem and is a key factor in the description of how the transition from the ecological setting of their high school impacted their outcomes in educational settings of postsecondary institutions. Bronfenbrenner (1992) postulated that setting transitions, particularly in the microsystem, impact individuals' cognitive and social developmental throughout their lifespan. The impact of the transition from their high school setting to their college setting was prominent in the participants' perception of the effectiveness of their high schools' CCR curriculum on their preparedness for transitioning to and succeeding in college spaces.

Within the context of this study, preparedness for college was defined as a high school graduate being ready to enroll and succeed in college without remediation in a variety of postsecondary institutions Olivia mentioned, "I was nowhere near ready for college, but I did not know that until my freshman year in college. I did well on high school exams and in my classes, but the work in college was so much harder." The participants mentioned their difficulty transitioning from their high school setting to their college setting and specifically discussed the differences in academic expectations. Bronfenbrenner's (1992) ecological systems theory describes how the environment in which one is educated has a significant impact on the individual's ability to develop cognitively (Crawford et al., 2020; Merçon, 2020), and the participants of this study shared that their lack of cognitive preparedness for their college settings. They felt that their lack of preparedness for college was the result of the incongruence

between the academic environment of their Title I high schools and that of the colleges they attended.

## **Remedial Courses in College**

The need for remedial courses in college was a prominent subtheme within the participants' discussion of their preparedness for college. Within the context of this study, a remedial class was defined as a course that is designed specifically for students who have basic deficiencies in the skills necessary to do beginning postsecondary work as defined by the institution (Kremer, 2022). One of the most common attributes of the experiences among the participants was their need for remedial classes in their first year of attending college. The participants' microsystem during their time in high school outlined the processes that influenced their academic and social development, which impacted their ability to handle the changes in their microsystem as they transitioned to college settings. When compared to students of high SES, it has been found that a majority of students of low SES need to take remedial courses in their first year of college, which can be attributed to the quality of education found in high schools with high concentrations of this population (Ghazzawi, 2019; Kremer, 2022; Melguizo & Ngo, 2020). This speaks to the substantial impact of the high school setting within the microsystem on an individual's educational attainment. The data of this study reinforce Bronfenbrenner's (1992) postulation on how economic status can be a determinant of the quality of education available to the individual (Bronfenbrenner, 1992; Crawford et al., 2020).

Within this study, seven of the 10 participants shared they needed to take remedial courses in their first year of college. These participants included Ashley, Cameron, Donna, John, Jordan, Mary, and Olivia. Ashley shared, "The work I got in my high school English classes did not even prepare me for what I had to know for the remedial classes. I had to learn how to write essays all over again." Donna, John, Jordan, and Mary recalled "feeling confused" about why

they needed remedial courses when they scored high grades in English and math during their junior and senior years of high school. Donna shared, "I didn't understand how I could need remedial courses when I did well in high school English and math. I was on the honor roll!" In his writing prompt response, John mentioned, "I always got 90s on my report card. I was likewhat were my teachers teaching me? Whatever it was, apparently it wasn't enough." Ashley, Cameron, and Olivia had similar sentiments about having "high grades on high school report cards in English and math," but having to take remedial courses after low performance on entrance exams for their colleges. Cameron shared,

Nothing on that entrance exam was covered in my math class in high school. I knew some formulas and stuff, but my math teachers in high school definitely did not cover a lot of the topics on that college entry test.

Similar to Cameron, Mary shared,

I thought I was good in English until I got the scores from the college entry exam. My teachers in high school said I was a good writer, so I didn't understand how I could score so low on my essay on the entry exam for college.

A common characteristic of each of the participants, Ashley, Cameron, Donna, John, Jordan, Mary, and Olivia, was that they all scored high grades on their high school report cards for the subjects of English and math, but they still needed to take remedial courses for at least one of those subjects. Based on the comparison between the participants' report card grades and their outcomes in their freshman year in college, the participants' chronosystems, or milestone moments in their cognitive development, were not effectively measured within the scope of preparedness for college settings. The accurate measurement of these milestone moments in education was the responsibility their school, and the incongruent curriculum could have resulted in missed milestones in their chronosystem during their time in high school. Each of the

participants expressed feeling frustrated about having to take remedial courses in college after receiving high marks on assignments in these subjects when they were in high school. The seven participants thought they were fully prepared for college-level content but found there was an incongruence between what they learned in high school English and math classes and what they needed to know to succeed in those subjects at the college level.

## College Course Rigor

In addition to frustration about having to take remedial courses, all 10 participants discussed the difference in course rigor between their high school courses and their college courses. They expressed that the difficulty of the work was compounded by the "amount of work" and the "short timeframes given to complete the work." In the context of this study, course rigor was defined as the level of difficulty of assignments as well the number of assignments given and the period of time in which those assignments are to be completed (Castro, 2021).

All 10 of the participants commented on how the amount of work in their college courses was much higher than that of their high school classes, which made it much more difficult to abide by the deadlines listed on the syllabi. The development of these academic skills primarily should have taken place in the educational setting of their microsystem while they were in high school. Without appropriate development in these skills sets during their time in high school, the chronosystem of their collegial experience was disrupted. Angel shared:

One thing I noticed when I got to college was the amount of work I had to do. I took four courses my first semester and it seemed like the amount of work I did in those four courses was more than all my classes in an entire year of high school. I felt so overwhelmed, and it was frustrating because I felt like I never had enough time or energy to study for one of my college classes, let alone four.

In a focus group discussion, Cameron, Donna, John, and Olivia also shared similar feelings about the "amount of work" they had to complete in their college courses. The participants shared that the education received in their microsystem during their time in high school compromised their ability to thrive in the microsystem of their college setting, which resulted in their difficulty in meeting the milestones of their freshman year of undergraduate studies. Cameron, John, and Olivia mentioned that they were expected to read "two to three chapters a day" when their high school teachers would give them weeks to complete a similar amount of reading. Olivia said,

It was like my professors didn't consider the fact that I had to work while I was in school. I didn't have enough time to go to work, sleep, and have the mental energy I needed to read the chapters they assigned.

In their written prompts, Cameron and John shared they had part-time jobs while enrolled in college. John shared, "I felt the amount of work my professors assigned showed they were used to teaching rich kids that had all the time in the world that they needed to read and study." This experience echoes Bronfenbrenner's (1992) discussion on educational systems within the microsystem of grade school students and the impact of school integration being moderated by social class.

A reoccurring issue for all participants was "not having enough time to finish work" in their college courses, compared to the amount of time they had to finish assignments in their high school courses. This speaks to the underdevelopment of time management skills they received in their microsystem while in high school, specifically within their high school courses. Cameron, Jordan, Mary, and Tasha all commented on how their high school teachers gave them less work to do with longer periods of time to complete the work. Cameron shared:

I wasn't used to having to write five- and 10-page papers in such a short period of time. My high school teachers were always extending deadlines so there was never as much pressure. In college, my professors would assign a 10-page paper and expect it done in a week. In high school, a five-paragraph essay was enough, and we had a whole month to do it.

Angel, Ashley, Donna, John, Mary, and William had similar experiences with their high school teachers in the area of the "extension of due dates for assignments" and mentioned that their college professors "were not as forgiving or understanding" when they needed more time to finish work. Mary said, "I failed one of my classes in my second year of college because the professor played no games about assignment due dates. If there was a due date on the syllabus, he was sticking it no matter what." Ashley, John, and William all mentioned having arguments with their professors about not having enough time to complete their work. In response to his grievance about needing an extension for assignments, John remembers his professor saying, "I really don't care. The deadlines are on the syllabus, so work it out."

The discussion about the subtheme of rigor of college courses also included the degree to which the participants possessed the technological training their college professors expected them to have. With the exception of Angel, the participants said that technological skills were not taught in their high school courses and were rarely used to complete assignments. The underdevelopment of this skill set in the school environment of their microsystem during their time in high school had a serious impact on their success in college settings. Nine of the 10 participants mentioned that their lack of knowledge about computer software programs like Microsoft Office Word, PowerPoint, and Adobe was a serious barrier to their ability to keep up with peers who went to high schools that had a strong technological presence within their classrooms and school libraries. Mary shared,

All of my college courses required me to create a PowerPoint presentation, but I had never used PowerPoint in high school, so it took me a while to learn the program properly. My [high school] teachers used it a lot in their lessons, but never made us use it for assignments.

Ashley had a similar experience and said,

Some of my teachers made it optional, but we were never required to use it, so I never really had to learn the program. A few of classmates used it, but I did all my assignments on paper. Even for my presentations, I just used poster board.

Ashley, Mary, Donna, Olivia, and Tasha all mentioned that their lack of practice with academic software in high school hindered their academic success in college because their professors expected them to be comfortable with programs like Microsoft Word, PowerPoint, and Excel. They mentioned "watching YouTube videos to learn the software" because they never had to use those programs in high school. With the exception of Angel, each participant shared that was rarely used to submit assignments or take exams in their high school courses. These experiences highlighted how disparities in the educational setting of their microsystems during their high school years created issues that carried into their postsecondary lives. The influence of the instructional environments' exclusion of technological skill development resulted in a stunted ability to perform successfully in college settings, compounding their difficulty in the ecological transition from to college settings (Gonzales et al., 2020).

All 10 participants mentioned that technological knowledge was necessary in their college courses to submit assignments. Additionally, all 10 participants shared that their college professors expected them to have full knowledge of web-based learning environments, like Blackboard Learn, where they were expected to submit assignments and participate in asynchronous discussions with the professor and the other students in the class. Eight of the 10

participants, Ashley, Cameron, Donna, John, Mary, Olivia, Tasha, and William, mentioned that their classrooms had desktop computers, but that they were "always broken." Mary shared,

My school had one laptop cart for each floor that the teachers had to share and half the time the laptops were never charged so we never really used them in class. If we did, it was pretty much for playing games or listening to music.

Tasha also recalled having a class set of laptops in her social studies class and said, "We had laptops, but that class was at the end of the day, so they were always dead. Most of them were broken anyway; missing keys on the keyboard or broken touch screens that didn't work." Angel and Jordan felt that they were well versed in technology and shared that this knowledge was the result of the technology being available in their homes and school libraries. Similar to the other participants, use of computer software programs was not a requirement for submitting assignments in their high school classes.

## Instructional Style

Within the conversation of course rigor, another salient subtheme was the incongruence between the instructional style of the high school teachers and that of their college professors. Individuals' microsystems include their teachers, and teachers' instructional style has a significant impact on the cognitive development and success in future settings throughout individuals' lifespan (Bronfenbrenner, 1992). Seven of the 10 participants mentioned the incongruence between the instructional styles of their high school teachers and that of their college professors and how those differences affected their ability to keep up with the assigned work in their college settings. Social influences within the microsystem govern individuals' social development and how they interact with others throughout their lifespan (Bronfenbrenner, 1992). Angel, Donna, John, Jordan, Mary, Olivia, and William specifically discussed the "leniency" and "easy going nature" of their high school teachers in contrast to the "strict" and

"impersonal" style of their college professors. The difference in the instructional styles between the two levels of academia had a profound effect on their feelings of preparedness for college courses. In the context of this study, instructional style is defined as the way course content is delivered and how that delivery is influenced by the personality of the individual who is teaching (Castro, 2021).

In their written responses, Angel, John, Mary, and William described the instructional style of their high school teachers as "friendly," "hands-on," and "understanding." These four participants mentioned that many of their high school teachers were close in age to their students, so they had "more of a friendship than a professional relationship." William shared:

A lot of my teachers in high school were in their early or mid-20s and acted like they were friends or family, while my college professors where much older, mostly 40s, 50s, and probably 60s and were a lot less personable. My professors never asked me about how my day was going, how I felt about the work, but my teachers in high school actually cared a lot about me on a personal level. As a matter of fact, most of my high school teachers started their lessons with questions about how I was feeling emotionally. My professors never ever did. In college, you do the work and leave—no emotions, no feelings.

Given that influences from the entities within one's microsystem have the most significant impact on social development, the participants' experiences with their high school teachers had a significant impact regarding their expectations for social interaction with their college professors (Smith & Shouppe, 2018). The vast differences in social behaviors between their high school teachers and college professors contributed to their difficulty in the ecological transition between the two levels of academia (Castro, 2021). Angel, Donna, and Olivia referred to their high school teachers as "adopted moms" who were very involved and invested in their

individual growth and their personal lives, while their professors "could care less" about any aspect of their personal lives. Angel, Mary, and Olivia shared that many of their high school teachers referred to them as their "daughter" and would often treat them like they were members of their own families. Donna, Mary, Jordan, and John all described their college professors' instructional styles as far less personable and very "distant and cold."

# Preparedness for the Workforce

All 10 participants, at the time of their interview, were employed, and they all discussed how they were lacking in certain skills they needed to be prepared to enter the workforce. In the context of this study, readiness for workforce settings is defined as the knowledge, skills, and abilities needed to meet employers' needs and expectations (Wilcox et al., 2018). As far as the skills the participants needed to enter the workforce, like the necessary knowledge to complete a job application, resume, cover letter writing, all 10 of the participants noted the difficulty they experienced in this type of preparedness for workforce settings upon graduating from high school. Bronfenbrenner's (1992) ecology systems theory proposes that the life outcomes of an individual are most significantly impacted by the development they received in their microsystem, especially in their school settings; therefore, one's transition into the workforce is a direct result of the influence of one's microsystem, particularly the grade school environment.

Five participants, Angel, Ashley, Jordan, Olivia, and Tasha, mentioned their lack of knowledge in "how to fill out a job application, or where to find a job application on a company website." Ashley shared that "I remember asking one of the cashiers at a Kroger for a job application, and she looked at me like I was stupid. She laughed and said, 'all the applications are on the computer now." In his written response, Jordan shared a similar experience. He did not know job applications were computer-based until he went into a fast-food restaurant and asked for a paper application. In a focus group, he commented, "What CCR did I have if I didn't

even know job applications were all online?" Olivia and Tasha mentioned that when they went online to a company website, they "didn't know where to look to find the application." Angel had a similar sentiment and shared, "None of my high school teachers showed me how to fill out an application; I had to figure that out on my own."

For many careers, resumes are a necessary component of the job application process, and this skill is often lacking in students of low SES (Castro, 2021). Four of the 10 participants, Donna, John, Mary, and William recalled asking their high school teachers for assistance with writing a resume, but they were directed to use templates found on Microsoft Word. John shared "I don't even think my teacher knew how to write a resume because every time I asked her for help, she would just open her computer and show me the templates." Mary said,

I remember a couple of my English teachers saying how important it was to write a resume, but they never taught me how to do it. I just went on the computer and did the best I could. I wish I had had a lesson on it because I remember my first resume was terrible.

Here, the influence of the microsystem on the transition to workforce settings is evident because the underdevelopment of transitional skills led to unpreparedness for workforce settings. Angel, Cameron, and Donna shared that they did not know they needed a list of references to be able to get a job, and just like not knowing how to create a resume, they did not know how to compile a list of references. Angel said,

I ended up using my friends as references because I was never told what a job reference was or how to get one until I was in college. My English tutor in college is the one who showed me how to do it and who I was supposed to ask.

## **Behavioral Expectations**

The subtheme of behavioral expectations was recurring as the participants discussed their readiness for workforce settings in relation to their high school setting. In the context of this study, behavioral expectations on the job are a part of the interpersonal and intrapersonal skills, which are nontechnical competencies associated with an employee's personality and attitude and that are appropriate for professional settings (Bolli & Renold, 2017; Martin, 2019). These behaviors are developed by an individual's microsystem from the time of childhood, and they carry well into their adult lives (Bronfenbrenner, 1992). In different ways, all of the participants highlighted the incongruence between the behavioral expectations of their high school teachers and that of their employers. Donna, John, and William mentioned the behaviors they displayed in their high school classes that were "completely unacceptable in job settings," pointing out how their "lateness to class, use of inappropriate language, and talking on cellphones" was a daily occurrence in their high school courses but were never acceptable at their places of employment. Ashley, Cameron, John, and Olivia shared that they had part-time jobs while they were in high school, and they learned job-appropriate behavior when they "got an actual job." Angel and Cameron both felt that their high school experience "did nothing to prepare them to get a job." Angel shared:

In high school, as long as I handed in the work, I could do what I wanted, walk into class when I wanted, even laugh and talk with my friends during class time. I acted the fool in class and my teachers let me; but when I got a job, I had to calm down and act professional. I didn't really know what that meant until I started at my job.

Ashley recalled, "There was no way my supervisor would let me walk in and out of work when I wanted. If I didn't show up to work, I wouldn't get paid, but I cut class all the time and still passed all my classes." John said:

As long as my work was done, my teachers let me slide on things like wearing headphones in class, playing games on my phone, and stuff like that. When I got my first job, I acted the same way and almost got fired so, no, I don't think my high school experience prepared me for career settings. Just because you do your work at your job doesn't mean you get to act unprofessionally.

The participants' shared that the experience of being underprepared for the workforce was another indication of the underdevelopment that occurred in the high school setting of their microsystem as far as socialization for postsecondary settings. According to Bronfenbrenner (1992), social behaviors developed in the microsystem during childhood impact an individual's behavioral habits well into adulthood and much of this social development occurs in the school setting. The participants' experiences mirror this theory because they carried many of the undesirable behaviors developed their high school years into the workforce during their adult years.

## Underdeveloped Financial Literacy

In relation to workforce readiness, another salient subtheme of the participants' experience was their lack of financial literacy training and how this lack of knowledge had serious effects on their postsecondary experiences in college and in their personal lives. All 10 participants mentioned the omission of topics like credit score, personal financial accounting, and the negative impact of debt on their daily lives within their high school curriculums. The participants all mentioned how none of their courses in high school, not even their math courses, taught them the importance of financial planning and the fact that they learned these lessons long after they graduated from high school. These disparities within the education received in their microsystem during their time in high school created a lack of financial literacy that had a serious impact on their postsecondary life. The participants felt that if their high school

curriculum was truly designed for CCR, financial literacy was one of the subjects that should have been taught during their time in high school. All 10 participants expressed sentiments about the "major impact of financial illiteracy" and that was one of the most detrimental factors within their postsecondary life outcomes, which mirrored the findings of Berman et al. (2018) about the ecological environment of schools in communities of low SES and the economic outcomes of the student from those schools.

Within the conversation of financial literacy, personal finance and money management was a prevalent point in the second focus group's discussion. Angel, Ashley, Cameron, Jordan, and Mary shared how they inherited their parents' lack of knowledge about money management and the importance of saving money. Jordan and Mary's written responses revealed that their families did not have a tradition of gainful employment or economic stability, so they never learned how to properly invest the money they earned from their jobs. The participants discussed how the gaps in educational attainment and economic opportunity of their grandparents and parents led to their repeating the habits developed by their forbearers. This generational cycle of money mismanagement is a symptom of families of low SES, and the participants attributed this issue to the disadvantages found in their exosystem. Jordan shared:

Anytime my grandmother would get money, it would be gone—like immediately. She had bad spending habits, and in high school and college I was doing the same thing. If I would've known how to invest in stuff like real estate or even how to save money properly back when I was in high school, I wouldn't have to work two jobs now. I make good money now, but if I had learned about money management back then, I wouldn't have to work at all. They should teach kids about credit scores and different types of savings accounts. Bad spending habits is what's keeping us all working-poor.

These sentiments mirror Bronfenbrenner's (1992) postulation that effective education in the microsystem can offset issues created by historical prejudices in law, housing, and economic attainment found within the exosystem of communities of low SES.

Ashley, Cameron, and William had similar feelings about the omission of personal finance courses in their high schools' curriculum. They expressed their frustration about the fact that their high school curriculum was supposed to prepare them for life in the workforce, but there was no education about how to manage the funds they earned when they joined the workforce. Cameron shared:

I had a part-time job in high school, and I just spent my money on a whole bunch of stuff I didn't need. A lot of us did. I needed to learn about money management more then I needed to learn about anything else. I never used anything I learned in Earth Science, but classes on how to use credit and better spending habits could've actually changed my life for the better.

## **High School Environment**

Negative school climate was a significant theme of discussion for seven of the 10 participants in this study. The experiences of these participants mirrored the findings of Smith and Shouppe (2018) who determined that schools with high concentrations of high-poverty students experience issues in student behavior and staffing that adversely affect educational attainment of the students at these schools. For Ashley, Cameron, Jordan, John, Mary, Olivia, and William, negative school climate was a salient theme of discussion in relation to CCR. All seven participants referred to the environment of their school as "depressing," and said the general atmosphere of the school "felt like a jail" and described the low quality of this area of their microsystem. Cameron and Mary both shared that they "hated going into the building" because "students were always fighting" and there was "always some adult yelling at kids in the

hallways." Each of these seven participants felt that their principals focused more on punitive measures when addressing behavior issues with students instead of restorative practices that corrected student behavior. Cameron, John, and Jordan discussed the constant "school lockdowns" and remembered multiple instances where they stayed in the same classroom for hours while school security broke up fights in the hallways or the administration searched for a student with a weapon. Mary shared "One time we stayed in the same classroom for half the day because someone's parent came up to the school with a gun looking for the group of girls that jumped her daughter."

# High Staff Turnover

The seven participants who discussed their high schools' negative climate - Ashley, Cameron, Jordan, John, Mary, Olivia, and William- also shared their experience with high staff turnover and spoke of the constant changes in their schools' administration and teaching staff. This constant disruption of continuity in the school setting of their microsystem was a significant theme revealed in the analysis of the data. These participants mentioned that many of their teachers quit mid-year, which led to a high level of substitute teachers and little continuity of course curriculum. Ashley said "One year, my science teacher, English teacher, and my math teacher quit before Christmas and because the kids behaved so badly, the substitutes wouldn't stay either." Jordan, Olivia, and William had similar experiences and shared that they often had substitute teachers for "months at a time." In her written response, Olivia wrote "My school had three different principals in four years." She mentioned that these changes made the student's behaviors worse because the students felt that they were "running them out of the building." Jordan said, "One year, I had at least five different substitutes and none of them taught us anything. They just sat there on their phones and got paid." William had a similar experience in that many of his classes had several different substitutes that were all unfamiliar with the subject

matter of the classes. He said, "They just kept everybody quiet until the bell rang." Smith and Shouppe's (2018) study of the relationship between school climate in schools that serve highneeds populations found that the experiences of this study's participants are regular occurrences in Title I schools. The research of Garcia and Weiss (2019) mirrored the experiences of the participants of this study, finding that the high staff turnover was a symptom of issues associated with the exosystem that creates the climate of high-poverty schools. Garcia and Weiss (2019) attributed the negative climate of these institutions to the hindrance of this study's students' educational outcomes in relation to college and workforce readiness, which illustrates how the climate of environments within students' microsystem impact students' educational attainment.

A result of constant staff turnover was the lack of classroom management. The participants shared how much of their negative classroom experiences were the result of inappropriate student behavior and their new teachers and substitute teachers' inability to mitigate those behaviors, illustrating the impact of influences of students' microsystem on their social development. John, Jordan, Mary, and William shared that they felt many of their teachers "either ignored bad behavior or pretended it wasn't happening." Olivia said she often felt that her teachers "allowed the same students to continue disrupting lessons on a daily basis, and just taught through the drama." Six participants, Ashley, Cameron, John, Mary, Olivia, and William, shared that some teachers would "put the well-behaved students in a group and only work with them, ignoring the rest of the class." In her written response, Mary shared:

I had a few teachers that would curse and yell back at students who were cursing and yelling at them, which only made the situation worse. The students didn't change, and they still didn't get to teach, and this happened every day."

### John shared:

A lot of my teachers acted like they were scared of the kids. One time, my classmate cursed out my English teacher and she ran out the room screaming and crying. Another time, a fight broke out in the classroom and the teacher didn't do anything but hide under her desk. From that day on, she didn't care what we did; she pretty much stopped teaching and let us do what we wanted in class.

## **Unsafe School Conditions**

Another salient subtheme of negative school climate that the participants discussed was unsafe school conditions. In many Title I high schools, this issue is often a residual effect of teachers' inability to manage classrooms (Berman et al., 2018). One the focus group conversations led to a discussion about a constant police presence on their schools' campuses. Ashley, Cameron, John, and Mary mentioned that the hallways of their high schools were "constantly full of students who were kicked out of class or cutting class," which led to high levels of verbal and physical violence on school grounds. Olivia said, "I felt like the police were being called up to my school every day to help break up fights." William's experience was similar, and in his written response, he shared that there was always either a police officer or school safety officer on every floor of the high school he attended. The punitive measures used to govern the safety of this area of their microsystem could be attributed to a historically prejudicial justice system found within communities of low SES (Novak, 2019). The reliance on police forces to mitigate student behaviors is found throughout the microsystem of students of low SES and reflects the cultural and political ideologies within the exosystems and macrosystems of their communities. John shared "Things go so bad at my school, they brought in metal detectors because students were getting stabbed in the basement and in the bathrooms when adults weren't around. The basement always had some fight going on."

#### Minimal Parental Involvement

Parental involvement in their education was a prominent subtheme among eight of the 10 participants in this study. With the exception of Angel and John, the participants discussed their parents' limited involvement in their high school education, and they attributed this situation to their parents having two or three jobs. The participants' experiences with this area of their microsystem echoed the Wong et al. (2018) study findings in that parents of low SES have difficulty participating in their children's education because they have to work multiple jobs. Several participants mentioned the repercussions of having a single parent regarding their educational attainment in high school. Jordan shared, "My mom was never home because she was always working, and my dad was not in my life,, so neither of them were around to help me with school."

Donna, John, Mary, and Tasha specifically mentioned the disadvantages they experienced as the result of factors that created disadvantages common within the exosystem of communities of low SES. They discussed how the historical disadvantage of their neighborhoods caused the economic and social disparities of their communities, which created the conditions that led to their families' low SES and need for their parents and grandparents to work multiple jobs. Donna shared:

My grandparents were living here long before the civil rights movement in the 1960s and they always told us stories about what areas our people were confined to. It's crazy how even though I'm free to live where I want to live in today's day and age, the fact that they couldn't get a house or job in a certain area stopped them from making higher salaries. They did the best they could with what they had, but they were still affected by racist laws, and so, of course, decades later, I'm affected by those racist laws because those laws stunted them and my parents, so, of course they stunt me too. It's not their fault they

had to work all the time, they were put in that position. So them not being involved in my education wasn't because they didn't want to be, it's because they couldn't be. That's a systemic problem schools in our neighborhoods just don't address.

The participants commented on how their schools "should have done more parental outreach" about their education and "tried harder to involve parents" through programs that catered to their demographic. In this regard, the disconnected relationship between two significant areas of their microsystems created further disparities in the participants' educational attainment. Olivia shared:

Schools in our neighborhoods know that most of the parents are either single parents or work more than one job, so they should have different ways for parents to do conferences, like on the weekends, or later in the evening.

Donna agreed with that sentiment and said, "My mother would have been way more involved if she actually knew what going on at the school. My school only called if I was absent or failed a class." These experiences highlight how the participants' mesosystems were deeply impacted by this issue. The linkage between the microsystems of their household and school environments was broken, resulting in limited interactions between the two environments, which adversely impacted their cognitive and social development, and, later, their postsecondary outcomes.

## **Research Question Responses**

The study was guided by a central research question and two sub-questions. This section provides answers to the research questions using in vivo citations. The central research question was addressed first and focused on the postsecondary outcomes of ARS of low SES who graduated from Title I high schools after completing a state-approved, standards-based CCR curriculum. Next, the two sub-questions were addressed and discussed the specific effects of the

Title I high school CCR curriculum on the participants' experience in college settings and their experiences in workforce settings.

### **Central Research Question**

What are the shared, postsecondary experiences of Title I high school graduates who were ARS of low SES who completed the state-approved, standards-based CCR curriculum? The participants' perspective was that their postsecondary experiences were negatively impacted by the lack of effective instruction about college and career preparation. In different ways, all 10 of the participants noted that the education provided at their Title I high schools did not educate them regarding how to navigate properly in postsecondary settings, because they were not taught how to effectively plan for success in the college and career settings of their postsecondary lives. Regarding their postsecondary outcomes, the overarching issue among all 10 participants was that they needed instruction on how to think about the kind of workforce industry that suited them best and the kind of school that was best for their individual professional interests. Donna shared:

When I got out of high school, I felt lost. I went to college and got a job, but I didn't have the guidance I needed to choose a school or choose a job that was best for me. There should've been a class on that.

Cameron, John, and Olivia also shared thoughts about "feeling lost after high school graduation" and mentioned that they "didn't really feel ready for the real world." Olivia shared:

I have a job that pays my bills, but I hate it. If I would've had a class on how to choose a career I like, instead of just being told to go to college and get a job, I would've made different life choices.

John said, "Everyone just said go to college, like going to college guaranteed a good life when it doesn't. You have to know why you are going to college for it to really matter."

Another overarching issue that the participants discussed in relation to their postsecondary outcomes was undeveloped financial literacy. The participants' perspective on their postsecondary outcomes regarding this topic was that financial literacy is one of the most important aspects of readiness for postsecondary life. All 10 participants spoke to how the ability to manage personal finances and the understanding of credit scores, debt, checking and savings accounts, and one's income-to-needs ratio had a serious impact on one's postsecondary outcomes; they did not receive instruction about these topics at their high schools. John shared "If you don't have a good credit score in this country, life is going to be real hard. Period. We should've started learning about financial management in the ninth grade, at least." Donna, Olivia, Tasha, and William mentioned how their families' lack of financial literacy affected their lack of knowledge on how to manage finances, which is an issue they felt should have been addressed at their high schools. William shared, "I think if I had money management instead of algebra, my life would've been way better after I graduated. I have never used anything from that algebra class, but I have to manage my money every day." Donna shared "A CCR curriculum won't change decades of problems that made our communities poor but learning about personal finances could."

# **Sub-Question One**

What influence did the given CCR curriculum have on these graduates' outcomes in postsecondary institutions? In relation to the given CCR curriculum, the factors that influenced the participants' success in postsecondary institutions were the incongruence between the content and delivery of the courses in their high school and that of their courses in college. The need for remedial courses in college signaled the ineffectiveness of their high school curriculum in preparing them for college settings, specifically in the areas of course content, course rigor, and technological skills. Mary shared, "I did an extra year of work because I had to take remedial

courses. My entire freshman year was spent catching up on things I should've already learned in high school." Angel, Cameron, Donna, and Olivia also related their need for additional academic support during their first year of college, attributing this need to a subpar education received at the high school level. Cameron recalled,

I thought I was ready for college until I failed that test and had to take remedial courses. I left high school feeling smart, but when I got to college, I kind of felt like my high school teachers had dumbed-down the work.

The participants also highlighted the incongruence between the content delivery and instructional style of their high school teachers and college professors as a factor that significantly impacted their readiness for college settings. Ashley said, "Teachers in high school took it way too easy on me. College professors are completely hands-off, and they always sent me to a tutor if I needed help." Jordan shared:

There is no such thing as one-on-one instruction in college. In high school, my teachers would meet me after school or during lunch and work with me until I understood the assignment. In college, you either get it on your own or you fail.

Jordan and Mary spoke to their need for tutors and shared Ashley's feeling about not having the extra help they were used to receiving in high school.

## **Sub-Question Two**

What influence did the given CCR curriculum have on these graduates' outcomes in workforce settings? In relation to the given CCR curriculum, the factors that influenced the participants' success in workforce settings was that the behavior they were allowed to display in their high school settings was not appropriate in their places of employment. The participants noted that their overall experiences with the classroom atmosphere and school culture were diametrically opposed to workforce settings. There were specific mentions of issues associated

with timeliness and work ethic, and how their high school teachers allowed them to "do what they wanted" as long as they completed their class assignments. Cameron shared:

Acting professionally and respectfully was required at my job, not at school. If I cursed out a teacher, I could still go back to class the next day. There was no way I could to curse out a supervisor and keep my job.

The participants' experiences spoke to the findings of Yavuz et al. (2019), which attributed the lack of career readiness in students of high-poverty schools to the extreme differences between the atmospheres of those schools and that of professional settings. Angel and Ashley both shared how their teachers ignored behaviors like lateness to class, inappropriate language, and personal conversations with friends during class time. They added that this behavior was unacceptable in their workforce experiences and that behavior at a job was just as important as the completion of work tasks. The participants made clear demarcations about their teachers' behaviors during class and their supervisors' behaviors a work. John shared:

My high school teachers would laugh and joke around with us all the time, sometimes we didn't do any work at all in class; my supervisors acted more like my professors. They were there to work, and if you weren't, you got sent home.

## Summary

The data collected about the experiences of the participants revealed significant findings about the CCR curriculum content and delivery at the Title I high schools. The data collected were organized into three themes, which were preparedness for college, preparedness for the workforce, and high school environment. The eight subthemes were remedial courses in college, college course rigor, instructional style, behavioral expectations, underdeveloped financial literacy, high staff turnover, unsafe school conditions, and minimal parental involvement. A significant finding was that the CCR curriculum administered at the participants' Title I high

schools did not adequately prepare them for success in college or workforce settings. The overall sentiment from all 10 participants was that the content of the CCR curriculum they experienced was not academically congruent to what they needed to achieve success in college, which was evidenced by the heavy discussion about the need for remedial courses in their freshman year of college. Their need to take remedial courses in addition to their discomfort with the rigor of their college courses and lacking the required college-level technological skills speaks to their lack of preparedness for college settings and the ineffectiveness of the CCR curriculum they experienced at their Title I high schools. Furthermore, the difficult transition from their Title I high school settings to workforce settings, as far as their employers' expectations of professional behavior and work ethnic also spoke to the ineffectiveness of the CCR curriculum content and delivery at their Title I high schools.

### **CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION**

### Overview

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the experiences of high school graduates who were ARS of low SES who completed the state standard-based CCR curriculum at Title I high schools. The data collection process included individual interviews, focus groups, and written responses. The culmination of the data from each of these research methods helped to describe the lived experiences of the participants. After the analysis of the research results and development of the findings, the discussion provided a succinct narrative of the themes that related to the experiences of the high school graduate participants who were ARS of low SES and who completed the state standard-based CCR curriculum at Title I high schools. Chapter Five includes the following subsections:

(a) interpretation of the findings, (b) implications for policy and practice, (c) theoretical and methodological implications, (d) limitations and delimitations, and (e) recommendations for future research. In addition, Chapter Five summarizes the major themes and subthemes, the central research question, and the two sub-questions.

#### Discussion

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the experiences of high school graduates who were ARS of low SES who completed the state standard-based CCR curriculum at Title I high schools. A phenomenological study was the most appropriate choice for this study for the purposes of identifying shared experiences of individuals within the same phenomenon (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The theoretical framework of Bronfenbrenner's (1993) ecological systems theory epitomized the literature, research framework, and analysis of data and findings. Ecological systems theory proposes human development as an ecological system, and all aspects of that system affect an individual's

maturation and development. The three themes identified were preparedness for college, preparedness for the workforce, and high school environment.

## **Interpretation of Findings**

This section is a summary of the major themes from Chapter Four and includes interpretations by the researcher. The purpose of the interpretations is to develop new findings about the experiences of the high school graduates who were ARS of low SES and who completed the state standard-based CCR curriculum at Title I high schools. The interpretations work to synthesize and connect the phenomenon, participant experiences, literature, and theoretical framework.

## Summary of Thematic Findings

During this study, three major themes and eight subthemes emerged from the analysis of the experiences of Title I high school graduates who were ARS of low SES) who completed a CCR curriculum. The three major themes that were identified were preparedness for college, preparedness for the workforce, and high school environment. The eight subthemes identified were remedial courses in college, college course rigor, instructional style, behavioral expectations, underdeveloped financial literacy, high staff turnover, unsafe school conditions, and minimal parental involvement. The interpretations of these themes were developed under the theoretical framework of Bronfenbrenner's (1993) ecological systems theory. Bronfenbrenner's (1993) ecological systems theory describes how the environment in which one lives, in addition to laws and practices that govern those environments, have significant effects on the individual's ability to develop cognitively and socially (Crawford et al., 2020; Merçon, 2020). Two thematic interpretations derived from the foundation of Bronfenbrenner's (1993) ecological systems theory are ecological systems' effect on cognitive development and academic outcomes, and ecological systems' effects on social development and behavioral outcomes.

## **Ecological System and Cognitive Development Interpretation**

Bronfenbrenner (1993) postulated that a key aspect of a person's cognitive development is the condition of their environment, which includes the school setting. He suggested that individuals who are raised in disadvantaged environments could have underdevelopment in their cognitive processes that affect their academic performance. The Title I high schools that the participants attended were located in communities of low SES, and communities of this nature have been economically and socially disadvantaged for generations, which has had negative effect on the cognitive development of the children therein. The findings of this study suggest that the quality of education in the Title I high schools the participants attended mirrored the conditions of the communities of low SES, which resulted in low quality education and the continued cognitive underdevelopment of these students. The purpose of a Title I high school is to equalize education for students of low SES; all of the participants of this study were ARS of low SES and graduated from Title I high schools. They all expressed how, in comparison to many of their same-aged classmates in college courses, they were academically underprepared for that setting. This academic unpreparedness points to the possibility that ARS of low SES who attend Title I high schools are negatively affected by their secondary school setting in a such a way that they are cognitively underdeveloped and thus academically underprepared for postsecondary institutions. In relation to the issue of cognitive and academic under preparedness, low SES and attending Title I high schools in communities of low SES were the linking factors between all 10 participants.

The ecological system and cognitive development interpretation of the lived experiences of high school graduates who were ARS of low SES who completed a standards-based CCR curriculum at Title I high schools focuses on the effect of the content and delivery of the CCR curriculum within a Title I high school setting on the cognitive development of the students

therein. According to the findings of this study, the graduates of the Title I high schools completed a CCR curriculum but were not academically prepared for the college setting, signaling cognitive underdevelopment in the area of academic preparedness for college. The purpose of the CCR curriculum at their Title I high school was to provide them with the content knowledge necessary for success in college courses, however, given that seven of the 10 participants needed to take remedial courses, it is not likely that the content or delivery of their Title I high schools' CCR curriculum provided them with the cognitive development necessary for college courses. Several participants expressed the need for tutors in their first year of college and discussed that the need for this extra assistance in cognitive development was the result of being underdeveloped by their Title I high school education. The hindrances the participants experienced in understanding college course work material and their struggles with handling the amount of work assigned in college courses demonstrates that their high school setting played a role in their cognitive underdevelopment.

## **Ecological System and Social Development Interpretation**

Bronfenbrenner (1993) postulated that a key aspect of a person's social development is the condition of their environment, which includes the school setting, suggesting that individuals who are raised in disadvantaged environments could have underdevelopments in social processes that affect how they interact with others and also, their ability to adhere to the specific behavioral expectations of certain environments. The Title I high schools that the participants attended are located in communities of low SES, and communities of this nature have been economically and socially disadvantaged, which seemed to have negative effects on their social development. According to the data, the social underdevelopment in the Title I high school was akin to that of the communities of low SES in which they were located. The participants specifically sited how the behaviors they were allowed to display in high school were not acceptable in college settings

or workforce settings, and they spoke to the instructional style of the teachers in that setting as enablers of inappropriate behavior.

The data of this study revealed that the school staff in participants' Title I high schools not only delivered subpar content in the classrooms, but they also allowed for behaviors that adversely affected the participants' socialization into college and workforce settings. The participants were allowed to submit homework late, have excessive absences, use profane language, and fight in the classroom, and many of their teachers would ignore those behaviors. The participants mentioned how this type of socialization had adverse effects on their postsecondary outcomes. The data showed that the type of socialization the participants experienced in their Title I high school settings was detrimental to their appropriate socialization skills for workforce settings.

# **Implications for Policy or Practice**

This phenomenological research study provides implications for policy and practice with Title I high school education and the CCR curriculum taught within that setting. The policies and practices suggested include reformations in the Title I high school environment and also, a reevaluation of the course catalog and course content of the CCR curriculum taught in those schools. This involves more consideration for the population of students that Title I high schools serve and the acknowledgment that the current conditions, as well as the curriculum, of the Title I high school environments may have adverse effects on cognitive and social development of the ARS of SES who attend these schools.

## Implications for Policy

The findings within this research study provide implications for the policies that govern the CCR curriculum of Title I high schools. At the time of this writing, the set of standards upon which this curriculum is based does not include enough courses or content to assist in the

development of the cognitive or social skills that are necessary for successful postsecondary outcomes for ARS of low SES. Data from this study reveal that although a student may complete the CCR curriculum, there are life skills that have to be learned for the students to have more successful postsecondary outcomes. Money management, personal finance, and professional etiquette are not included in the required courses within that curriculum. The lack of this type of information from the required course content has been shown to be detrimental to students of ARS of low SES, who do not usually receive this kind of education in their households or surrounding communities. Education reformers, curriculum writers, district leaders, and school leaders of Title I high schools should consider how they can better equalize education for ARS of low SES through more inclusion of educational content that accounts for life skill deficiencies that are evident in many students who are ARS of low SES. Analysis of the data of this study points to the fact that although ARS of low SES may complete the CCR curriculum, the content of those courses may not be enough to truly ensure they are ready for college and workforce settings upon high school graduation. Therefore, the implications for policy change is the need for adjustment of curriculum design that is more specific to this population of student in relation to heightening successful outcomes in postsecondary settings.

# Implications for Practice

In theory, the education standards that govern the CCR curriculum in Title I high schools culminates in preparedness for college and workforce spaces, but in practice, for ARS of SES, this is not always the outcome. Title I high schools are supposed to equalize the quality of education for students of communities of low SES but in many ways, the curriculum of those schools, the way that curriculum is delivered, and the atmosphere of this school settings do not support the level of cognitive and social development that ARS of low SES need to be truly prepared for college and workforce environments. According to the findings of this study, many

of the behaviors displayed by the adults in Title I high schools are reflective of the negative behaviors found within communities of low SES in which these schools are located, which reinforces the behavioral underdeveloped of the students therein. According to the data analyzed in this study, the behavior of the teachers and the instructional style of the teachers do not reflect that of the behaviors found in postsecondary settings, and it is possible that is a reason why many ARS of low SES are not properly socialized for those settings, even though they complete a CCR curriculum. The findings of this study point to implications of practice for school staff of Title I high schools in that the behaviors and professional practices of staff in these schools impact the appropriate socialization of ARS of low SES into college and workforce settings.

## **Theoretical and Empirical Implications**

This section explores the theoretical and empirical implications that arose from the findings of this research study. The theoretical and empirical implications are discussed with consideration to previous research in the realm of how Title I high school settings and the standards-based CCR curriculum taught in those settings affect students who are ARS of low SES. This study supports previous research suggesting the major tenets of ecological systems theory are seen in the postsecondary outcomes of ARS of low SES in relation to their experiences in Title I high school settings. Bronfenbrenner' (1993) ecological systems theory places a heavy emphasis on the environment in which a student learns. According to this theory, cognitive and social development is significantly impacted by a students' environment, which includes the learning setting, the materials within the environment, and interactions with the people in that environment.

### **Theoretical**

From a theoretical context, understanding the impact of a student's school environment on their cognitive and social development would allow for specific interventions for populations

of students that are highly concentrated in school settings designed for those students. In communities of low SES, Title I high schools are a highly prevalent, and this phenomenon is unique to communities of this nature. Additionally, the purpose of a Title I school designation is to equalize the education of students who do not usually have exposure to resources such as high-quality education, professional role models who are financially stable, or others factors that lead to desired postsecondary outcomes (Crawford et al., 2020; Merçon, 2020). By understanding how this particular school setting affects students for whom it is designed, it is possible to make the necessary adjustments within the setting that ensure a higher likelihood of these students receiving an education equitable to that of their peers of high SES. Theoretically, if students of disadvantaged households and communities receive a high-quality education in a positive school setting, their experiences in the school setting can provide the level of cognitive development and behavioral socialization they need to counterbalance the cognitive and behavioral deficiencies caused by the disadvantaged conditions of other areas of their ecological environment, including but not limited to their homes and surrounding community. While issues associated with the economic and social disadvantages of their communities might still negatively impact students of low SES, ensuring that their school setting provides a positive atmosphere and curriculum that address their specific needs may heighten the likelihood of these students' ability to elevate to higher socioeconomic classes.

### **Empirical**

Current empirical implications of this study focus the impact of a standards-based CCR curriculum on the students of Title I high schools, to assist in filling the gap in the literature regarding its impact on ARS of low SES in that setting. Similar research discusses the influence of public high schools' CCR curriculum on the college readiness of public school students, but it does not account for its impact on the specific population of ARS of low SES who attend Title I

high schools. This study extends the research on the effectiveness of the standards-based CCR curriculum administered in public high schools by detailing its effect on a specific demographic of student, ARS of low SES, by discussing this topic in relation to their postsecondary outcomes in college and workforce settings. There is a wealth of research on the effects of the CCR curriculum on students in public schools, but ARS of low SES in Title I high schools is a unique population who experience conditions that differ from students of other SES in non-Title I high schools. In that light, this study provides additional information of the impact of the CCR curriculum in relation to a student group for who there is a gap in the literature about public school education reform. It also provides insight into the specific effects of Title I high school settings and of the content and delivery of the CCR curriculum in relation to the outcomes of graduates who were ARS of low SES.

Another empirical implication of this study relates to the investigation of the Title I high school setting and its impact on the development of the students therein. There is a wealth of research about how Title I high schools can improve the cognitive and social development of its students, but there is little research as to if these schools actually do improve such development particularly for ARS of low SES.

This study sheds light on the rate at which Title I high schools actually equalize education for students of low SES and provides insight on this issue through the experiences of the individuals who graduated from that setting. The study offers implications for future research about the specific ways that the environment of the Title I high school setting is different from that of non-Title I high school settings and how the differences in the conditions affect student outcomes, specifically for ARS of low SES.

### **Limitations and Delimitations**

There are two limitations, or potential weaknesses of this study, that could not be controlled. The first limitation was that all the participants of this study went to Title I high schools in the same state, so their experiences may not reflect the experiences of other ARS of low SES who went to schools in other regions of the United States. The second limitation was that although the participants mentioned many similarities in the behaviors of the school staff, every school staff had a different combination of educators and school leadership, so the behaviors of the school staff discussed in this study may not apply to that of all Title I high schools.

The delimitations, or purposeful decisions, to define the boundaries of a study were necessary to limit the focus and scope of the study. Transcendental phenomenology was chosen to give a voice to the demographic that had previously been unheard. This method presents findings without adding interpretation, which allowed the participants' experiences to be shared completely from their perspective. The participation was limited to high school graduates of Title I high schools, so there could be descriptions about graduates of a specific school setting. The participants were all graduates of Title I high schools that professed to employ a CCR curriculum so that the study could specifically explore the postsecondary experiences of graduates who experienced a high school curriculum that specifically addressed readiness for career and workforce settings.

### **Recommendations for Future Research**

Future research should continue to examine the outcomes of students who graduate from Title I high schools. Not all students who attend Title I high schools are students of low SES, and not all students who attend Title I high schools are at risk for dropping out of school. Although these schools are typically located in communities of low SES, there are some Title I high

schools that have a mixture of SES within the student population. To more fully understand the effectiveness of the CCR curriculum administered at those schools, it would be helpful to study this phenomenon from the viewpoint of Title I high school graduates at varying levels of socioeconomic class. Such a study would assist in broadening the understanding of the effectiveness of the CCR curriculum in Title I high schools by comparing the similarities or differences in postsecondary outcomes across different levels of SES. Such a study would help ascertain the curriculum's effectiveness in different groups of students and allow for a deeper understanding of how much socioeconomic class affects how the CCR curriculum is perceived. Additionally, future research should include a comparative study of Title I high schools in different regions of the United States to describe the similarities or differences, if any, between Title I high school settings in different geographical locations.

#### Conclusion

Although Title I high schools are designed to equalize education between the children of underprivileged communities and the children of affluent communities regarding their ability to achieve successful life outcomes, in many ways, this equalization remains to be seen. The purpose of this qualitative transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the postsecondary experiences of high school graduates who were ARS of low SES who completed the state standard-based CCR curriculum at Title I public high schools. This was accomplished by asking the central research question: What are the shared, postsecondary experiences of Title I high school graduates who were ARS of low SES who completed the state-approved, standards-based CCR curriculum? Bronfenbrenner's (1993) ecological systems theory, which emphasizes that a person's cognitive and social development is impacted by the conditions of their environment, provided the theoretical framework for this study. While previous literature identified the impact of a standards-based high school CCR curriculum on the outcomes of high

schools, there was a gap in the literature about the impact of that curriculum specific to ARS of low SES who graduated from Title I high schools (Crawford et al., 2020; Grace-Odeleye & Santiago, 2019; Merçon, 2020).

I examined the lived experiences of 10 participants using individual interviews, focus group interviews, and written responses. Three major themes and eight subthemes were identified from the analysis of the participant experiences: preparedness for college, preparedness for the workforce, and high school environment. The eight subthemes identified were remedial courses in college, college course rigor, instructional style, behavioral expectations, undeveloped financial literacy, high staff turnover, unsafe school conditions, and minimal parental involvement. Analysis from the foundation of the theoretical framework demonstrated that the community in which a school is located has a significant impact on the climate of the school and the effectiveness of the curriculum taught therein and that the addition of funds and resources may not be enough to ensure an equalized education. In light of this notion, educational reforms that seek to equalize education for ARS of low SES who attend Title I high schools may need more than a CCR curriculum and a well-funded school setting because these factors, alone may not create an atmosphere sufficient to the students' specific needs.

Children of low SES are at-risk for failing or dropping out of school because of their socioeconomic condition, so they need school settings that cater to their specific needs. The CCR curriculum, as well as the design of the school setting, may not be enough to heighten the likely of successful postsecondary outcomes for these children because they need a school setting that addresses the cognitive and social disadvantages that are particular to people of low SES. Children of low SES who attend Title I high schools need school staff members who understand the conditions of a low SES community and how those conditions create cognitive and social underdevelopment. The children may need a school setting and curriculum that specializes in the

delivery of a CCR curriculum that speaks to the conditions of their type of community, which may need to be considered and addressed in the classroom as well as in the overall climate of the school.

### References

- Adams, M., Klinsky, S., & Chhetri, N. (2020). Barriers to sustainability in poor marginalized communities in the United States: The criminal justice, the prison-industrial complex and foster care systems. *Sustainability*, *12*(1), 220. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12010220
- An, B. P. (2013). The impact of dual enrollment on college degree attainment: Do low-SES students benefit? *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *35*(1), 57–75. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373712461933
- Allport, B. S., Johnson, S., Aqil, A., Labrique, A. B., Nelson, T., Angela, K. C., Yorghos C., & Marcell, A. V. (2018). Promoting father involvement for child and family health.

  \*Academic Pediatrics\*, 18(7), 746–753. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2018.03.011
- Assari, S. (2020). Family socioeconomic status and exposure to childhood trauma: Racial differences. *Children*, 7(6), 57. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/children7060057">https://doi.org/10.3390/children7060057</a>
- Assari, S., & Lankarani, M. M. (2018). Educational attainment promotes fruit and vegetable intake for Whites but not Blacks. *J (Basel)*, *I*(1), 29–41. https://doi.org/10.3390/j1010005
- Assari, S., Caldwell, C. H., & Mincy, R. (2018). Family socioeconomic status at birth and youth impulsivity at age 15;\: Blacks' diminished return. *Children*, *5*(5), 58. https://doi.org/10.3390/children5050058
- At-risk. (2013). In *The glossary of education reform*. Great Schools Partnership. https://www.edglossary.org/at-risk/
- Auspurg, K., Schneck, A., & Hinz, T. (2019). Closed doors everywhere? A meta-analysis of field experiments on ethnic discrimination in rental housing markets. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 45(1), 95–114. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2018.1489223
- Babineau, K. (2018). Closing the gap: An overview of the literature on college persistence and underrepresented populations. Cowen Institute.

- Bacher-Hicks, A., Billings, S. B., & Deming, D. J. (2019). *The school to prison pipeline: Long-run impacts of school suspensions on adult crime (NBER No. 26257)*. National Bureau of Economic Research. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3386/w26257">https://doi.org/10.3386/w26257</a>
- Bailey, R. (2018). Sport, physical education and educational worth. *Educational Review*, 70(1), 51-66.
- Bailey, Z. D., Feldman, J. M., & Bassett, M. T. (2021). How structural racism works—Racist policies as a root cause of US racial health inequities. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 384, 768–773. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMms2025396
- Bal, A. (2018). Culturally responsive positive behavioral interventions and supports: A process—oriented framework for systemic transformation. *Review of Education, Pedagogy, and Cultural Studies*, 40(2), 144–174. https://doi.org/10.1080/10714413.2017.1417579
- Barrett, S., Eber, L., McIntosh, K., Perales, K., & Romer, N. (2018). Teaching social-emotional competencies within a PBIS framework. *OSEP Technical Assistance Center on Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports, Eugene, OR*.
- Bartanen, B., Grissom, J. A., & Rogers, L. K. (2019). The impacts of principal turnover. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 41(3), 350-374.
- Berkovec, J. A., Canner, G. B., Hannan, T. H., & Gabriel, S. A. (2018). Race, redlining, and residential mortgage defaults: Evidence from the FHA-insured single-family loan program. In J. Goering & R. Wienk (Eds.), *Mortgage lending, racial discrimination, and federal policy* (pp. 251–287). Routledge.
- Berman, J. D., McCormack, M. C., Koehler, K. A., Connolly, F., Clemons-Erby, D., Davis, M.F., Gummerson, C., Leaf, P. J., Jones, T. D., & Curriero, F. C. (2018). School environmental conditions and links to academic performance and absenteeism in urban,

- mid-Atlantic public schools. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 221(5), 800–808. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2018.04.015
- Blake, J. J., Keith, V. M., Luo, W., Le, H., & Salter, P. (2017). The role of colorism in explaining African American females' suspension risk. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 32(1), 118–130. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000173
- Blau, P. M., & Duncan, O. D. (1967). The American occupational structure. The Free Press.
- Bloch, S., & Phillips, S. A. (2021). Mapping and making gangland: A legacy of redlining and enjoining gang neighborhoods in Los Angeles. *Urban Studies*, *59*(4), 750–770. https://doi.org/10.1177/00420980211010426
- Bolli, T., & Renold, U. (2017). Comparative advantages of school and workplace environments in skill acquisition: Empirical evidence from a survey among professional tertiary education and training students in Switzerland. *Evidence-Based HRM: A Global Forum for Empirical Scholarship*, *5*(1), 6–29. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/EBHRM-05-2015-0020">https://doi.org/10.1108/EBHRM-05-2015-0020</a>
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021). To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample-size rationales. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, *13*(2), 201–216. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1704846
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1992). Ecological systems theory. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1976). The experimental ecology of education. *Educational Researcher*, 5(9), 5–15. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2307/1174755">https://doi.org/10.2307/1174755</a>
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1993). The ecology of cognitive development: Research models and fugitive findings. In R. H. Wozniak & K. W. Fischer (Eds.), *Development in Context:*\*\*Acting and Thinking in Specific Environments (pp. 3–44). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.

- Burke, L. M., & Schwalbach, J. (2021, March 11). Housing redlining and its lingering effects on education opportunity. Backgrounder No. 3594. *The Heritage Foundation*. <a href="https://www.heritage.org/sites/default/files/2021-03/BG3594.pdf">https://www.heritage.org/sites/default/files/2021-03/BG3594.pdf</a>
- Calderon, A. B. B., & Ancho, I. V. (2018). Examining malpractice in the education context.

  \*\*Journal of Research, Policy & Practice of Teachers and Teacher Education, 8(2), 95–103. https://doi.org/10.37134/jrpptte.vol8.no2.9.2018
- Calnitsky, D., & Gonalons-Pons, P. (2021). The impact of an experimental guaranteed income on crime and violence. *Social Problems*, 68(3), 778–798.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/socpro/spaa001">https://doi.org/10.1093/socpro/spaa001</a>
- Career-ready. (2013). In *The glossary of education reform*. Great Schools Partnership. https://www.edglossary.org/career-ready/
- Castellano, M., Ewart Sundell, K., & Richardson, G. B. (2017). Achievement outcomes among high school graduates in college and career readiness programs of study. *Peabody Journal of Education*, *92*(2), 254–274. https://doi.org/10.1080/0161956X.2017.1302220
- Castro, E. L. (2021). "They Sellin'Us a Dream They Not Preparin'Us for": College readiness, dysconscious racism, and policy failure in one rural black high school. *The Urban Review*, *53*, 617-640.
- Chan, M. Y., Na, J., Agres, P. F., Savalia, N. K., Park, D. C., & Wig, G. S. (2018).

  Socioeconomic status moderates age-related differences in the brain's functional network organization and anatomy across the adult lifespan. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115(22), E5144–E5153. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1714021115">https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1714021115</a>
- Chattoraj, A. K., & Shabnam, S. (2015). Importance of soft skills in business. *Anusandhanika*, 7(2), 105–110.

- https://www.proquest.com/openview/d53ec6ac8cf64c8fc78a1c56378627fd/1.pdf?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=2032620
- Chen, L., Zhu, H., Gutin, B., & Dong, Y. (2019). Race, gender, family structure, socioeconomic status, dietary patterns, and cardiovascular health in adolescents. *Current Developments in Nutrition*, *3*(11), 117. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/cdn/nzz117">https://doi.org/10.1093/cdn/nzz117</a>
- Choi, H., Schoeni, R. F., Martin, L. G., & Langa, K. M. (2018). Trends in the prevalence and disparity in cognitive limitations of Americans 55–69 Years Old. *The Journals of Gerontology*, *16*(73), S29–S37. https://doi.org:10.1093/geronb/gbx155
- Clarke, J. H. (1978). Black Americans: Immigrants against their will. *Présence Africaine*, 105/106, 90–108.
- Coleman, J. S. (1966). The possibility of a social welfare function. *The American Economic Review*, *56*(5), 1105-1122.
- Concepts, L. (2015). The glossary of education reform [Online]. http://edglossary.org
- Condon, E. M., & Sadler, L. S. (2019). Toxic stress and vulnerable mothers: A multilevel framework of stressors and strengths. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, *41*(6), 872–900. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0193945918788676">https://doi.org/10.1177/0193945918788676</a>
- Conley, D. (2018). *The promise and practice of next generation assessment*. Harvard Education Press.
- Connolly, S., Flynn, E. E., Jemmott, J., & Oestreicher, E. (2017). First year experience for at-risk college students. *College Student Journal*, *51*(1), 1–6.
- Cooke, B., & Zaby, A. (2015). Skill gaps in business education: Fulfilling the needs of tech startups in Berlin. *Journal of Higher Education Theory and Practice*, *15*(4), 97–112. http://digitalcommons.www.na-businesspress.com/JHETP/ZabyA Web15 4 .pdf

- Crawford, B. F., Snyder, K. E., & Adelson, J. L. (2020). Exploring obstacles faced by gifted minority students through Bronfenbrenner's bioecological systems theory. *High Ability Studies*, *31*(1), 43–74. https://doi.org/10.1080/13598139.2019.1568231
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches* (3rd ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth C. N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry research design* (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Crimmins, E. M., Saito, Y., Kim, J. K., Zhang, Y. S., Sasson, I., & Hayward, M. D. (2018).

  Educational differences in the prevalence of dementia and life expectancy with dementia:

  Changes from 2000 to 2010. *The Journals of Gerontology*, 73(Supp. 1), S20–S28.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbx135">https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbx135</a>
- Curry, J., & Milsom, A. D. (2014). Career counseling in P-12 schools. Springer.
- Dari, T., Chan, C. D., & Del Re, J. (2021). Integrating culturally responsive group work in schools to foster the development of career aspirations among marginalized youth. *The Journal for Specialists in Group Work*, 46(1), 75–89.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/01933922.2020.1856255
- Daniel, J., Quartz, K. H., & Oakes, J. (2019). Teaching in community schools: Creating conditions for deeper learning. *Review of Research in Education*, 43(1), 453-480.
- de Souza Morais, R. L., de Castro Magalhães, L., Nobre, J. N. P., Pinto, P. F. A., da Rocha Neves, K., & Carvalho, A. M. (2021). Quality of the home, daycare and neighborhood environment, and the cognitive development of economically disadvantaged children in early childhood: A mediation analysis. *Infant Behavior and Development*, *64*, 101619. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2021.101619

- DeGruy, J. A. (2009). Post-slavery syndrome. In A. Kalayjian & D. Eugene (Eds.) Mass trauma and emotional healing around the world: Rituals and practices for resilience and meaning-making (pp. 227–250). Praeger.
- Denzin, N. K. (1978). Sociological methods. McGraw-Hill Publications.
- Desimone, L. M., Stornaiuolo, A., Flores, N., Pak, K., Edgerton, A., Nichols, T. P., & Porter, A. (2019). Successes and challenges of the "new" college-and career-ready standards: Seven implementation trends. *Educational Researcher*, *48*(3), 167–178. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X19837239
- Domitrovich, C. E., Durlak, J. A., Staley, K. C., & Weissberg, R. P. (2017). Social-emotional competence: An essential factor for promoting positive adjustment and reducing risk in school children. *Child Development*, 88(2), 408–416. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12739
- Duttweiler, P. C. (1995). *Effective strategies for educating students in at-risk situations*. National Dropout Prevention Center. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED392005.pdf
- Edgerton, A. K., & Desimone, L. M. (2018). Teacher implementation of college-and career-readiness standards: Links among policy, instruction, challenges, and resources. *Aera Open*, 4(4). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858418806863">https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858418806863</a>
- English, D., Cushing, E., Therriault, S., & Rasmussen, J. (2017). *College and career readiness begins with a well-rounded education: Opportunities under the Every Student Succeeds Act*. College & Career Readiness & Success Center at American Institutes for Research. <a href="https://ccrscenter.org/sites/default/files/AskCCRS">https://ccrscenter.org/sites/default/files/AskCCRS</a> Well-Rounded Education.pdf
- Eppard, L. M., Okum, T. S., & Everidge, L. (2020). Inequality of place and social mobility in the United States: Low-and high-opportunity states. *Sociological Viewpoints*, *34*(1), 76–114. https://doi.org/10.26908/3412020 014

- Evans, D. N., Blount-Hill, K. L., & Cubellis, M. A. (2019). Examining housing discrimination across race, gender and felony history. *Housing Studies*, *34*(5), 761–778. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037.2018.1478069
- Evans, J. H., & Burck, H. D. (1992). The effects of career education interventions on academic achievement: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 71(1), 63–68. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.1992.tb02173.x
- Falco, L. D., & Steen, S. (2018). Using school-based career development to support college and career readiness: An integrative review. *Journal of School-Based Counseling Policy and Evaluation*, *I*(1), 51–67. https://doi.org/10.25774/v1t4-c816
- Farah, M. J. (2018). Socioeconomic status and the brain: prospects for neuroscience-informed policy. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *19*(7), 428–438. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-018-0023-2">https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-018-0023-2</a>
- Flynn, S. (2020). Ecosystems of educational disadvantage: Supporting children and young people receiving child protection and welfare services in Ireland. *Social Work & Social Sciences Review*, 21(3). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1921/swssr.v21i3.1359">https://doi.org/10.1921/swssr.v21i3.1359</a>
- Fogel, Y., Rosenblum, S., & Josman, N. (2020). Environmental factors and daily functioning levels among adolescents with executive function deficits. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 83(2), 88–97. https://doi.org/10.1177/0308022619876557
- Fornili, K. S. (2018). Racialized mass incarceration and the war on drugs: A critical race theory appraisal. *Journal of Addictions Nursing*, *29*(1), 65-72.
- García, E., & Weiss, E. (2019). US schools struggle to hire and retain teachers: The second report in" The Perfect Storm in the Teacher Labor Market" series. *Economic Policy Institute*.

- Gaston, S., Brunson, R. K., & Grossman, L. S. (2020). Are minorities subjected to, or insulated from, racialized policing in majority–minority community contexts?. *The British Journal of Criminology*, 60(6), 1416–1437. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjc/azaa038
- Gay, L. R., Mills, G., & Airasian, P. (2006). *Educational research: Competencies for analysis and applications* (8th ed). Pearson.
- Gerra, G., Benedetti, E., Resce, G., Potente, R., Cutilli, A., & Molinaro, S. (2020).
  Socioeconomic status, parental education, school connectedness and individual socio-cultural resources in vulnerability for drug use among students. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(4), 1306.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17041306">https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17041306</a>
- Ghazzawi, I., Lee, B., & Cho, Y. (2019). Reaching out to underserved high school students: An experiential approach to higher education. *Journal of Higher Education Theory and Practice*, 19(4), 42–59. https://doi.org/10.33423/jhetp.v19i4.2201
- Gilley, T., & Aranda, A. R. (2019). Closing the revolving door: Year-long residency prepares pre-service teachers for urban schools. *Urban Education Research & Policy Annuals*, 6(2), 25–33. <a href="http://orcid.org/0000-0001-5327-3035">http://orcid.org/0000-0001-5327-3035</a>
- Gilstrap, D. L. (2020). Understanding persistence of at-risk students in higher education enrollment management using multiple linear regression and network analysis. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, 88(3), 470–485.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/00220973.2019.1659217">https://doi.org/10.1080/00220973.2019.1659217</a>
- Glesne, C. & Peshkin, A. (1992). Becoming qualitative researchers: An introduction. White Plains, NY: Longman.

- Gonzales, A. L., McCrory Calarco, J., & Lynch, T. (2020). Technology problems and student achievement gaps: A validation and extension of the technology maintenance construct.

  \*Communication Research\*, 47(5), 750–770. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650218796366">https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650218796366</a>
- Grace-Odeleye, B., & Santiago, J. (2019). A review of some diverse models of summer bridge programs for first-generation and at-risk college students. *Administrative Issues Journal:*Connecting Education, Practice, and Research, 9(1), 35–47.

  <a href="https://dc.swosu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1295&context=aij">https://dc.swosu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1295&context=aij</a>
- Grant, C. M., & Arnold, N. W. (2015). The Title I program: Fiscal issues and challenges. *International Journal of Educational Reform*, *24*(4), 363–375.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/105678791502400405
- Grantham-McGregor, S., & Smith, J. (2020). The effect of malnutrition and micronutrient deficiency on children's mental health. In E. Taylor, F. Verhulst, J. Wong, & K. Yoshida (Eds.), *Mental health and illness of children and adolescents* (pp. 375–393). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-2348-4\_34
- Groos, M., Wallace, M., Hardeman, R., & Theall, K. P. (2018). Measuring inequity: A systematic review of methods used to quantify structural racism. *Journal of Health Disparities Research and Practice*, 11(2), Article 13.

  https://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/jhdrp/vol11/iss2/13
- Gross-Manos, D., Cohen, A., & Korbin, J. E. (2020). Community change programs for children and youth at-risk: A review of lessons learned. *Trauma, Violence & Abuse*, 23(1), 20–35. https://doi.org.10.1177/1524838020915622
- Guba, E. G. (1981). Criteria for assessing the trustworthiness of naturalistic inquiries.

  \*Educational Communication and Technology Journal, 29(2), 75–91.

  http://www.jstor.org/stable/30219811

- Hackman, D. A., Gallop, R., Evans, G. W., & Farah, M. J. (2015). Socioeconomic status and executive function: Developmental trajectories and mediation. *Developmental Science*, 18(5), 686–702. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12246">https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12246</a>
- Hammad, N. (2019). Shackled to economic appeal: How prison labor facilitates modern slavery while perpetuating poverty in Black communities. *Virginia Journal of Social Policy and the Law*, 26, 65.

  https://heinonline.org/HOL/LandingPage?handle=hein.journals/vajsplw26&div=9&id=& page=
- Harun, H., Salleh, R., Baharom, M. N. R., & Memon, M. A. (2017). Employability skills and attributes of engineering and technology graduates from employers' perspective:
   Important vs. satisfaction. *Global Business and Management Research: An International Journal*, 9(1), 572–580. <a href="https://www.proquest.com/docview/1903433176">https://www.proquest.com/docview/1903433176</a>
- Harris III, J. J. (1979). Educational Malpractice and Intentional Student Misrepresentation.
- Henry, L. A., & Stahl, N. A. (2017). Dismantling the developmental education pipeline: Potent pedagogies and promising practices that address the college readiness gap. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 60(6), 611–616. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaal.640
- Herndon, J. S., & Bembenutty, H. (2017). Self-regulation of learning and performance among students enrolled in a disciplinary alternative school. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *104*(January), 266–271. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.08.027">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.08.027</a>
- Hines, E. M., Moore III, J. L., Mayes, R. D., Harris, P. C., Vega, D., Vanderpoof Robinson, D., Gray, C. N., & Jackson, C. E. (2020). Making student achievement a priority: The role of school counselors in turnaround schools. *Urban Education*, 55(2), 216–237.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085916685761">https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085916685761</a>

- Hines, E. M., Vega, D. D., Mayes, R., Harris, P. C., & Mack, M. (2019). School counselors and school psychologists as collaborators of college and career readiness for students in urban school settings. *Journal for Multicultural Education*, 13(3), 190–202. https://doi.org/10.1108/JME-02-2019-0015
- Hines, M. (2021). We have emerged better equipped to fight greater battles: Black education and the civilian conservation corps, 1933–1942. *The Journal of African American History*, 106(3), 439–466. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1086/713885">https://doi.org/10.1086/713885</a>
- Hinton, E., Henderson, L., & Reed, C. (2018, May). *An unjust burden: The disparate treatment of Black Americans in the criminal justice system.* Vera Institute of Justice.

  <a href="https://www.vera.org/downloads/publications/for-the-record-unjust-burden-racial-disparities.pdf">https://www.vera.org/downloads/publications/for-the-record-unjust-burden-racial-disparities.pdf</a>
- Hochschild, J. L. (2021). Social class in public schools. *Journal of Social Issues*, *59*(4), 821–840. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0022-4537.2003.00092.x
- Holmes, C., Brieant, A., Kahn, R., Deater-Deckard, K., & Kim-Spoon, J. (2019). Structural home environment effects on developmental trajectories of self-control and adolescent risk taking. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 48(1), 43–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-018-0921-7
- Howell, J. (2019). The truly advantaged: Examining the effects of privileged places on educational attainment. *The Sociological Quarterly*, 60(3), 420–438. https://doi.org/10.1080/00380253.2019.1580546
- Huang, F. L., & Cornell, D. G. (2017). Student attitudes and behaviors as explanations for the black-white suspension gap. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 73(February), 298–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.01.002

- Huang, F. L., & Cornell, D. (2018). The relationship of school climate with out-of-school suspensions. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 94(November), 378–389.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.08.013">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.08.013</a>
- Hung, J. L., Shelton, B. E., Yang, J., & Du, X. (2019). Improving predictive modeling for at-risk student identification: A multistage approach. *IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies*, 12(2), 148–157. https://doi.org/10.1109/TLT.2019.2911072
- Hussar, B., Zhang, J., Hein, S., Wang, K., Roberts, A., Cui, J., Smith, M., Mann, F. B., Barmer,
  A., & Dilig, R. (2020). *The condition of education 2020* (NCES 2020-144). National
  Center for Education Statistics at the Institute of Education Sciences.
  <a href="https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2020/2020144.pdf">https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2020/2020144.pdf</a>
- Hussar, W. J., & Bailey, T. M. (2011, September). *Projections of education statistics to 2020* (39th ed., NCES 2011-026). National Center for Education Statistics at the Institute of Education Sciences. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2011/2011026.pdf
- Isaac, C., Berstein, A., & Balloun, J. (2021). A case study of the role of a school in a community undergoing rapid gentrification. *Journal of Higher Education Theory and Practice*, 21(10), 69–76. <a href="https://doi.org/10.33423/jhetp.v21i10.4626">https://doi.org/10.33423/jhetp.v21i10.4626</a>
- Jackson, I. (2021). Not suspended but not protected: Challenging school discipline reform in the name of restorative justice for young adult black girls. *Northwest Journal of Teacher Education*, 16(2), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.15760/nwjte.2021.16.2.4
- Jackson, I., & Knight-Manuel, M. (2019). "Color does not equal consciousness": Educators of color learning to enact a sociopolitical consciousness. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 70(1), 65-78.
- Jeffrey, J. (1978). Education for children of the poor: A study of the origins and implementation of the elementary and secondary education Act of 1965 [Doctoral dissertation, Rice

- University]. Rice University Electronic Theses and Dissertations. No. 13783. https://hdl.handle.net/1911/14856
- Kaiser, T., Li, J., Pollmann-Schult, M., & Song, A. Y. (2017). Poverty and child behavioral problems: The mediating role of parenting and parental well-being. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *14*(9), 981.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14090981">https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14090981</a></a>
- Kezar, A., & Kitchen, J. A. (2020). Supporting first-generation, low-income, and underrepresented students' transitions to college through comprehensive and integrated programs. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 64(3), 223–229. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764219869397
- Kim, S., & Glassgow, A. E. (2018). The effect of father's absence, parental adverse events, and neighborhood disadvantage on children's aggression and delinquency: A multi-analytic approach. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 28(5), 570–587. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2018.1443866">https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2018.1443866</a>
- Kilgore, W., & Wagner, E. (2017). Dual enrollment from two points of view: Higher education and K-12. *College and University*, 92(3), 57–62. <a href="https://www.aacrao.org/docs/default-source/research-docs/cuj9203ar-kilgore.pdf?sfvrsn=601f7c9b\_4">https://www.aacrao.org/docs/default-source/research-docs/cuj9203ar-kilgore.pdf?sfvrsn=601f7c9b\_4</a>
- Kitchen, R. S. (2017). An overview of schooling in high-poverty communities. In R. S. Kitchen, J. DePree, S. Celédon-Pattichis, & J. Brinkeroff, *Mathematics education at highly effective schools that serve the poor: Strategies for change* (pp. 1–20). Routledge.
- Kivimäki, M., Batty, G. D., Pentti, J., Shipley, M. J., Sipilä, P. N., Nyberg, S. T., Souminen, S.
  G., Otasanen, T., Stenholm, S., Virtanen, M., Marmot, M. G., Singh-Manoux, A.,
  Brunner, E. J., Lindbohm, J. V., Ferrie, J. E., & Vahtera, J. (2020). Association between socioeconomic status and the development of mental and physical health conditions in

- adulthood: a multi-cohort study. *The Lancet Public Health*, *5*(3), e140–e149. https://doi.og/ 10.1016/S2468-2667(19)30248-8
- Kremer, K. P. (2022). Predictors of college success outcomes in emerging adults: the role of high school dual enrollment courses. *Emerging Adulthood*, *10*(1), 188-196.
- Krueger, R., & Casey, M. (2009). Focus groups: A practical guide for applied research (4th ed.).

  Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Larkin, M., Shaw, R., & Flowers, P. (2019). Multiperspectival designs and processes in interpretative phenomenological analysis research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *16*(2), 182-198.
- Lawson, G. M., Hook, C. J., & Farah, M. J. (2017). A meta-analysis of the relationship between socioeconomic status and executive function performance among children.

  \*Developmental Science, 21(2), e12529. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12529
- Lecheile, B. M., Spinrad, T. L., Xu, X., Lopez, J., & Eisenberg, N. (2020). Longitudinal relations among household chaos, SES, and effortful control in the prediction of language skills in early childhood. *Developmental Psychology*, *56*(4), 727–738.

  https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000896
- Leung, M., Cardichon, J., Scott, C., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2021). *Inequitable Opportunity to Learn*.
- Libosada, Y. (2021). *House prices vs population and public schools in the metro-Atlanta area*.

  2021 Fall Symposium of Student Scholars, Kennesaw State University.

  <a href="https://digitalcommons.kennesaw.edu/undergradsymposiumksu/Fall2021/presentations/7">https://digitalcommons.kennesaw.edu/undergradsymposiumksu/Fall2021/presentations/7</a>

  1/

- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1990). Judging the quality of case study reports. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, *3*(1), 53–59.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/0951839900030105">https://doi.org/10.1080/0951839900030105</a>
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (2018). Multiple-case holistic studies. In M. Sarvimäki, *Case study strategies for architects and designers: Integrative data research methods* (pp. 70–83).

  SAGE Publications.
- Lindsay, C. A., & Hart, C. D. (2017). Teacher, race, and school discipline: Are students suspended less often when they have a teacher of the same race? *Education Next*, *17*(1), 72–78. <a href="https://www.educationnext.org/teacher-race-and-school-discipline-suspensions-research/">https://www.educationnext.org/teacher-race-and-school-discipline-suspensions-research/</a>
- Loesch, M. (2018). Mind the gap: The relationship between socioeconomic status and educational outcomes: A literature review. *Maneto Undergraduate Research Journal*, *1*(2018). <a href="https://doi.org/10.15367/m:turj.v1i1.79">https://doi.org/10.15367/m:turj.v1i1.79</a>
- MacDermott, C., & Ortiz, L. (2017). Beyond the business communications course: A historical perspective of the where, why, and how of soft skills development and job readiness for business graduates. *The IUP Journal of Soft Skills, 11*(2), 7–24.

  <a href="https://www.proquest.com/openview/55e0d8e486e936b1bffe1b506e14f5d9/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=2029989">https://www.proquest.com/openview/55e0d8e486e936b1bffe1b506e14f5d9/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=2029989</a>
- Malin, J. R., Bragg, D. D., & Hackmann, D. G. (2017). College and career readiness and the Every Student Succeeds Act. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *53*(5), 809–838. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X17714845
- Marsh, S., Dobson, R., & Maddison, R. (2020). The relationship between household chaos and child, parent, and family outcomes: a systematic scoping review. *BMC Public Health*, 20(1), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-08587-8

- Martin, T. (2019). Review of student soft skills development using the 5Ws/H approach resulting in a realistic, experiential, applied, active learning and teaching pedagogical classroom.

  \*Journal of Behavioral and Applied Management, 19(1), 41–57.\*

  https://doi.org/10.21818/jbam.19.1.3
- Marttila-Tornio, K., Männikkö, N., Ruotsalainen, H., Miettunen, J., & Kääriäinen, M. (2021). Lower parental socioeconomic status in childhood and adolescence predicts unhealthy health behavior patterns in adolescence in Northern Finland. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 35(3), 742–752. https://doi.org/10.1111/scs.12888
- Mason, W. (2020). 'No one learned': Interpreting a drugs crackdown operation and its consequences through the 'lens' of social harm. *The British Journal of Criminology*, 60(2), 382–402. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjc/azz047
- McCrea, K. T., Richards, M., Quimby, D., Scott, D., Davis, L., Hart, S., Thomas, A., & Hopson, S. (2019). Understanding violence and developing resilience with African American youth in high-poverty, high-crime communities. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 99, 296–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.12.018
- McField, G. (2008). Proposition 227 (California). In J. M. González (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of bilingual education* (pp. 692–696. SAGE Publications, Inc.
- McMahon, G., Griffith, C., Mariani, M., & Zyromski, B. (2017). School counseling intervention research on college readiness, college access, and postsecondary success: A 10-year content analysis of peer-reviewed research. *Journal of College Access*, *3*(2), 8–27. <a href="https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1167416.pdf">https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1167416.pdf</a>
- McLeigh, J. D., McDonell, J. R., & Lavenda, O. (2018). Neighborhood poverty and child abuse and neglect: The mediating role of social cohesion. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 93(October), 154–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.07.018

- Merçon, A., Vargas, E. A., Lima, R. F. F., Rosa, E. M., & Tudge, J. (2020). Processing proximal processes: What Bronfenbrenner meant, What he didn't mean, and what he should have meant. *Journal of Family Theory & Review*, *12*(3), 321–334. https://doi.org/10.1111/jftr.12373
- Melguizo, T., & Ngo, F. (2020). Mis/alignment between high school and community college standards. *Educational Researcher*, 49(2), 130-133.
- Micalizzi, L., Brick, L. A., Flom, M., Ganiban, J. M., & Saudino, K. J. (2019). Effects of socioeconomic status and executive function on school readiness across levels of household chaos. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 47, 331–340. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2019.01.007
- Michney, T.M., & Winling, L. (2019). New perspectives on new deal housing policy:

  Explicating and mapping HOLC loans to African Americans. *Journal of Urban History*,

  46(1), 150–180. https://doi.org/10.1177/0096144218819429
- Mills, G. (2007). Action research: A guide for the teacher researcher. Pearson Publishing.
- Mitchell, O. (2018). The paradox of a Black incarceration boom in an era of declining Black crime: Causes and consequences. In J. D. Unever, S. L. Gabbidon, & C. Chouhy, *Building a Black criminology* (pp. 343–367). Routledge. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429425257">https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429425257</a>
- Mokher, C. G., Leeds, D. M., & Harris, J. (2018). Adding it up: How the Florida college and career readiness initiative impacted developmental education. *Educational Evaluation* and *Policy Analysis*, 40(2), 219–242. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373717744891
- Morris, E. W., & Perry, B. L. (2016). The punishment gap: School suspension and racial disparities in achievement. *Social Problems*, *63*(1), 68–86. https://doi.org/10.1093/socpro/spv026

- Moshidi, N., & Jusoh, A. J. (2020). A narrative review of the literature on students at risk of dropping out. *EurAsian Journal of BioSciences*, *4*(2), 6009–6017.
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Sage publications.
- Murray, N., Ma, X., & Tyler, K. (2021). Examining academic success among African American high school students. *Educational Studies*, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2021.1944062
- Namin, S., W. Xu, Y. Zhou, and K. Beyer. The legacy of the home owners' loan corporation and the political ecology of urban trees and air pollution in the United States. *Social Science & Medicine*, 246(February), 112758. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.112758">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.112758</a>
- National Governors Association. (2010). Common core state standards. Washington, DC.
- Nielsen, F. (2018). Genes and status achievement. In R. Hopcroft (Ed.) *The Oxford handbook of evolution, biology, and society* (pp. 305–326). Oxford University Press.
- Nisha, S. M., & Rajasekaran, V. (2018). Employability skills: A review. *IUP Journal of Soft Skills*, *12*(1), 29–37.

  <a href="https://www.proquest.com/openview/1f9f5ad8e5798a6b992e4c1bee830cbb/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=2029989">https://www.proquest.com/openview/1f9f5ad8e5798a6b992e4c1bee830cbb/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=2029989</a>
- Novak, A. (2019). The school-to-prison pipeline: An examination of the association between suspension and justice system involvement. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *46*(8), 1165–1180. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854819846917">https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854819846917</a>
- O'Connor, M., Chong, S., Hutchinson, D., Sanson, A., McIntosh, J., Olsson, C. A., & Goldfeld, S. (2019). Socioeconomic disadvantage in infancy and academic and self-regulation outcomes. *Pediatrics*, *143*(5), e20182640. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2018-2640

- O'Connor, M., Slopen, N., Becares, L., Burgner, D., Williams, D. R., & Priest, N. (2020).

  Inequalities in the distribution of childhood adversity from birth to 11 years. *Academic Pediatrics*, 20(5), 609–618. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2019.12.004
- Orrock, J., & Clark, M. A. (2018). Using systems theory to promote academic success for African American males. *Urban Education*, *53*(8), 1013-1042.
- Owens, A. (2018). Income segregation between school districts and inequality in students' achievement. *Sociology of Education*, *91*(1), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1177/003804071774118
- Owens, A., & Candipan, J. (2019). Social and spatial inequalities of educational opportunity: A portrait of schools serving high-and low-income neighborhoods in US metropolitan areas.

  \*Urban Studies\*, 56(15), 3178–3197. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098018815049">https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098018815049</a>
- Paolini, A. C. (2019). School counselors promoting college and career readiness for high school students. *Journal of School Counseling*, *17*(2), n2.
- Passaro, R., Quinto, I., & Thomas, A. (2018). The impact of higher education on entrepreneurial intention and human capital. *Journal of Intellectual Capital*.
- Pastor, R., & Tur, J. A. (2020). Effectiveness of interventions to promote healthy eating habits in children and adolescents at risk of poverty: Systematic review and meta-analysis.

  Nutrients, 12(6), 1891. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12061891">https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12061891</a>
- Patton, M. Q. (1999). Enhancing the quality and credibility of qualitative analysis. *HSR: Health Services Research*, *34*(5), 1189–1208.

  https://europepmc.org/backend/ptpmcrender.fcgi?accid=PMC1089059&blobtype=pdf
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). Two decades of developments in qualitative inquiry: A personal, experiential perspective. *Qualitative Social Work*, 1(3), 261–283. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325002001003636

- Payne, R. (1996). Understanding and working with students and adults from poverty.

  \*Instructional Leader\*, 9(2), 1–5. <a href="https://www.ahaprocess.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/Understanding-Poverty-Ruby-Payne-Poverty-Series-I-IV.pdf">https://www.ahaprocess.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/Understanding-Poverty-Ruby-Payne-Poverty-Series-I-IV.pdf</a>
- Pettit, B., & Gutierrez, C. (2018). Mass incarceration and racial inequality. *American Journal of Economics and Sociology*, 77(3–4), 1153–1182. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajes.12241
- Pfister, T., Beach, S., Carlisle, L., & Fleming, J. (2021). Intersectional identities, school resources, and law enforcement: A study of discipline disparity in public high schools.

  Advance. Preprint. <a href="https://doi.org/10.31124/advance.16559433.v1">https://doi.org/10.31124/advance.16559433.v1</a>
- Pope, C., & Mays, N. (1995). Qualitative research: Reaching the parts other methods cannot reach: An introduction to qualitative methods in health and health services research. *BMJ*, 311(6996), 42–45. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.311.6996.42
- Porter, A., McMaken, J., Hwang, J., & Yang, R. (2011). Common core standards: The new US intended curriculum. *Educational Researcher*, 40(3), 103–116. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X11405038
- Poshka, A. (2019). Common core standards in US and the needs of public education. *Knowledge International Journal*, 30(2), 293–296.

  <a href="https://ikm.mk/ojs/index.php/kij/article/view/2386/2384">https://ikm.mk/ojs/index.php/kij/article/view/2386/2384</a>
- Potter, D., & Morris, D. S. (2017). Family and schooling experiences in racial/ethnic academic achievement gaps: A cumulative perspective. *Sociological Perspectives*, 60(1), 132–167. <a href="https://www.jstor.org/stable/26579797">https://www.jstor.org/stable/26579797</a>
- Rothstein, R. (2021). Suppressed history: The intentional segregation of America's cities.

  \*American Educator\*, 45(1), 32–37. <a href="https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1292310.pdf">https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1292310.pdf</a>
- Rosenbaum, J. E., Ahearn, C. E., & Rosenbaum, J. E. (2017). *Bridging the gaps: College pathways to career success*. Russell Sage Foundation.

- Sanchez, D., Hamilton, E. R., Gilbert, D. J., & Vandewater, E. A. (2018). Examining Africentric cultural values, ethnic identity, and substance use abstinence in low-income, early adolescent, African American girls. *Journal of Black Psychology*, *44*(1), 74–100. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798417746265
- Schmidt, R. A. (2018, March). *Issue brief: Academic support classes*. U.S. Department of Education, Office of Planning, Evaluation and Policy Development, Policy and Program Studies. https://www2.ed.gov/rschstat/eval/high-school/academic-support.pdf
- Scott-Jones, G., & Kamara, M. R. (2020). The traumatic impact of structural racism on African Americans. *Delaware Journal of Public Health*, *6*(5), 80–82. https://doi.org/10.32481/djph.2020.11.019
- Shogren, K. A., Shaw, L. A., Raley, S. K., & Wehmeyer, M. L. (2018). Exploring the effect of disability, race-ethnicity, and socioeconomic status on scores on the self-determination inventory: Student report. *Exceptional Children*, 85(1), 10–27. https://doi.org/10.1177/0014402918782150
- Simckes, M., Willits, D., McFarland, M., McFarland, C., Rowhani-Rahbar, A., & Hajat, A. (2021). The adverse effects of policing on population health: a conceptual model. *Social Science & Medicine*, *281*(July), 114103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114103
- Smith, T., & Shouppe, G. (2018). Is there a relationship between schools' climate ratings and student performance data? *National Teacher Education Journal*, *11*(1), 23–26.

  <a href="https://img1.wsimg.com/blobby/go/003a8836-40db-4b0c-b44f-4211ffada1e1/downloads/1ckfv3524\_482388.pdf">https://img1.wsimg.com/blobby/go/003a8836-40db-4b0c-b44f-4211ffada1e1/downloads/1ckfv3524\_482388.pdf</a>
- Solyali, S., & Celenk, S. (2020). The impact of family on school achievement. *Revista de Cercetare si Interventie Sociala*, 71, 325–342.

- https://www.proquest.com/openview/8e9b48fe209bc799010fa8adc8c17c76/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=2031098
- Standards-based. (2017). In *The glossary of education reform*. Great Schools Partnership. https://www.edglossary.org/standards-based/
- Stevens, A. E., Hartung, C. M., Shelton, C. R., LaCount, P. A., & Heaney, A. (2019). The effects of a brief organization, time management, and planning intervention for at-risk college freshmen. *Evidence-Based Practice in Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, *4*(2), 202–218. https://doi.org/10.1080/23794925.2018.1551093
- Stewart, C., Wall, A., & Marciniec, S. (2016). Mixed signals: Do college graduates have the soft skills that employers want? Competition Forum, *14*(2), 276–281.

  <a href="https://www.proquest.com/openview/fa7c5369a44d3fc071a43203a1ef6d5e/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=39801">https://www.proquest.com/openview/fa7c5369a44d3fc071a43203a1ef6d5e/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=39801</a>
- Stitt, M. E. (2021). "Broken windows" discipline and racial disparities in school punishment.

  Punishment & Society, 25(1), 241–253. https://doi.org/10.1177/14624745211042199
- Swail, W. S., & Perna, L. W. (2002). Pre-college outreach programs. *Increasing Access to College: Extending Possibilities for All Students*, *37*(1), 15–34.

  <a href="https://sunypress.edu/content/download/450972/5483213/version/1/file/9780791453636\_imported2\_excerpt.pdf">https://sunypress.edu/content/download/450972/5483213/version/1/file/9780791453636\_imported2\_excerpt.pdf</a>
- Tampio, N. (2018). A democratic critique of the Common Core English Language Arts (ELA)

  Standards. *Democracy and Education*, 26(1), 4.

  https://democracyeducationjournal.org/home/vol24/iss2/4
- Taylor-Robinson, D. C., Straatmann, V. S., & Whitehead, M. (2018). Adverse childhood experiences or adverse childhood socioeconomic conditions?. *The Lancet Public Health*, 3(6), e262–e263. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(18)30094-X

- Teh, M. K., & Russo, C. J. (2018). Educational negligence: Is it a viable form of action?. In K.
  K. Trimmer, R. S. Dixon, & Y. Findlay (Eds.). *The Palgrave Handbook of Education*Law for Schools. (pp. 39–58). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-77751-1\_3">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-77751-1\_3</a>
- The Legislative Analyst's Office. (1998). *Proposition 227: English language in public schools*.

  The California Legislature's Nonpartisan Fiscal and Policy Advisor.

  <a href="https://lao.ca.gov/ballot/1998/227\_06\_1998.htm#:~:text=Specifically%2C%20it%3A,would%20stay%20in%20special%20classes">https://lao.ca.gov/ballot/1998/227\_06\_1998.htm#:~:text=Specifically%2C%20it%3A,would%20stay%20in%20special%20classes</a>
- Tudge, J., & Rosa, E. M. (2019). Bronfenbrenner's ecological theory. *The encyclopedia of child and adolescent development*, 1–11.

  https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/9781119171492.wecad251
- Uleanya, C., & Omoniyi, I. B. (2019). Effects of household poverty trap on learners' academic performances: A case of rural high schools in Nongoma Circuit of South Africa.

  \*\*AFFRIKA Journal of Politics, Economics and Society, 9(1), 139–165.\*\*

  https://www.proquest.com/openview/ee7f23a27e3411e8d7188970b768499d/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=2044839
- United States Government Accountability Office. (2018, October). Report to the ranking member, committee on education and the workforce, House of Representatives: K-12 Education: Public high schools with more students in poverty and smaller schools provide fewer academic offerings to prepare for college (GAO-19-8). Author. <a href="https://www.gao.gov/assets/gao-19-8.pdf">https://www.gao.gov/assets/gao-19-8.pdf</a>
- Vagle, M. D. (2018). Crafting phenomenological research. Taylor & Francis.
- van Zwieten, A., Teixeira-Pinto, A., Lah, S., Nassar, N., Craig, J. C., & Wong, G. (2021).

  Socioeconomic status during childhood and academic achievement in secondary school. *Academic pediatrics*, 21(5), 838–848. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2020.10.013

- von Stumm, E. M., Polanin, J. R., Polanin, M., & Carr, A. L. (2018). Keeping Latina/o students in school: Factors related to academic intentions of students at risk for school dropout.

  \*\*Journal of Latina/o Psychology, 6(1), 34–48. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/lat0000082">https://doi.org/10.1037/lat0000082</a>
- von Stumm, S., Smith S., Woolley, E., Ayorech, Z., McMillan, A., Rimfeld, K., Dale, P. S., & Plomin, R. (2020). Predicting educational achievement from genomic measures and socioeconomic status. *Developmental Science*, *23*(3), e12925.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12925">https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12925</a>
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes.

  Harvard University Press.
- Wang, M. T., Smith, L. V., Miller F., Cotto, D., & Huguley, J. P. (2020). Parental ethnic, racial socialization and children of color's academic success: A meta-analytic review. *Child Development*, *91*(3), e528–e544. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13254
- Wang, M. T., & Sheikh-Khalil, S. (2014). Does parental involvement matter for student achievement and mental health in high school? *Child Development*, 85(2), 610–625. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12153
- Ward, G. (2018). Living histories of white supremacist policing: Towards transformative justice.

  \*Du Bois Review: Social Science Research on Race, 15(1), 167–184.

  https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12153
- Welsing, F. C. (1975). Build a world without racism. *Integrated Education: Minority Children in Schools*, 13(1), 20–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/0020486730130107
- Welsing, F. C. (1991). The Isis papers: The keys to the colors. CW Publishing.
- West, M., Sima, A., Wehman, P., Chan, F., & Luecking, R. (2018). *Rehabilitation Research, Policy, and Education*, 32(2), 78–88. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1891/2168-6653.32.2.78">https://doi.org/10.1891/2168-6653.32.2.78</a>

- Wilcox, K. C., Schiller, K., Durand, F., Lawson, H., Kramer, C., & Leo, A. (2018). *College and career readiness: Promising practices from odds-beating secondary schools: Methods and procedures report.* School of Education, SUNY at Albany. <a href="https://ny-kids.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Final-Cross-Case-Report.pdf">https://ny-kids.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Final-Cross-Case-Report.pdf</a>
- Wiley, A., Wyatt, J., & Camara, W. J. (2010). *The development of a multidimensional college*readiness index. CollegeBoard Research Report 2010–2013.

  https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED563050.pdf
- Williams, M. R., Tompkins, P., & Rogers, B. (2018). High school teachers' perceptions of developmental education. *Journal of Developmental Education*, 41(2), 2. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1200686.pdf
- Wong, R. S. M., Ho, F. K. W., Wong, W. H. S., Tung, K. T. S., Chow, C. B., Rao, N., Chan, K. L., & Ip, P. (2018). Parental involvement in primary school education: Its relationship with children's academic performance and psychosocial competence through engaging children with school. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 27(5), 1544–1555. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-017-1011-2">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-017-1011-2</a>
- Wyatt, J., Wiley, A., Camara, W. J., & Proestler, N. (2011). *The development of an index of academic rigor for college readiness*. CollegeBoard Research Report 2011-11. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED561023.pdf
- X, M. (1963, November 10). Message to the Grassroots. *Teaching American History*. <a href="https://teachingamericanhistory.org/document/message-to-grassroots/">https://teachingamericanhistory.org/document/message-to-grassroots/</a>
- Yavuz, O., Parzych, J., & Generali, M. (2019). A systematic approach to exploring college and career readiness program needs within high-poverty urban public schools. *Education and Urban Society*, *51*(4), 443–473. https://doi.org/10.1177/00131245177270

- Young, D. C. (2020). Educator malpractice: A tort whose time has come?. *Education & Law Journal*, 28(3), 297–311. <a href="https://www.proquest.com/docview/2339021022?pq-origsite=gscholar&fromopenview=true#:~:text=Educators%20rarely%20face%20litigation%20for,been%20failed%20by%20the%20system.">https://www.proquest.com/docview/2339021022?pq-origsite=gscholar&fromopenview=true#:~:text=Educators%20rarely%20face%20litigation%20for,been%20failed%20by%20the%20system.
- Zhang, F., Jiang, Y., Ming, H., Yang C., & Huang, S. (2020a). Family socioeconomic status and adolescents' academic achievement: The moderating roles of subjective social mobility and attention. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 49(9), 1821–1834.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-020-01287-x">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-020-01287-x</a>
- Zhang, Z., Liu, H., & Choi, S. W. (2020b). Early-life socioeconomic status, adolescent cognitive ability, and cognition in late midlife: Evidence from the Wisconsin longitudinal study.

  \*\*Social Science & Medicine\*, 244, 112575.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.112575

# Appendix A: IRB Approval

Date: 11-2-2022

IRB #: IRB-FY22-23-262

Title: A Qualitative Phenomenological Study Of The Lived, Post-Secondary Experiences Of High School Graduates

Who Were At-Risk Students From Traditionally Marginalized Communities

Creation Date: 9-6-2022

End Date: Status: Approved

Principal Investigator: Raquel Grindley Review Board: Research Ethics Office

Sponsor:

# Study History

Submission Type Initial	Review Type Limited	Decision Exempt - Limited IRB

# **Key Study Contacts**

Member Raquel Grindley	Role Principal Investigator	Contact
Member Raquel Grindley	Role Primary Contact	Contact
Member Sherrita Rogers	Role Co-Principal Investigator	Contact

### **Appendix B: Consent Form**

### **CONSENT FORM**

A QUALITATIVE PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY OF THE LIVED, POSTSECONDARY EXPERIENCES OF HIGH SCHOOL GRADUATES WHO WERE AT-RISK STUDENTS FROM TRADITIONALLY MARGINALIZED COMMUNITIES

Raquel A. Grindley Liberty University School of Education

You are invited to be in a research study on the postsecondary readiness of students in traditionally marginalized communities. This study aims to examine the experience of Title I high school graduates who were formerly at-risk for dropping out of school, and who completed the state-required, standards-based CCR curriculum designed to prepare students for life in postsecondary settings. You were selected as a possible participant because you graduated from a Title I high school and you are from a traditionally marginalized community. Please read this form and ask any questions you may have before agreeing to be in the study.

Raquel A. Grindley, a doctoral candidate in School of Education at Liberty University, is conducting this study.

**Background Information:** The purpose of this study is to describe the experiences of high school graduates who completed the state standard-based college and career readiness curriculum at a Tile I public high school.

**Procedures:** If you agree to be in this study, I would ask you to do the following things:

- 1. Be available for two 30-minute meetings: one-on-one interview and at least one of the two focus group sessions (randomly assigned), that will be video and audio recorded via the Zoom platform.
- 2. Complete four short written prompts.
- 3. Review transcripts of the meetings in which you were involved, adding additional notes as necessary.

**Risks:** The risks involved in this study are minimal, which means they are equal to the risks you would encounter in everyday life.

### **Benefits:**

Participants should not expect to receive a direct benefit from taking part in this study. Benefits to society include a demonstration of why nationwide education reforms that incorporate the perspective of people who experienced the reforms found the most success when students and families of that community were involved in the reform.

**Compensation:** Participants will not be compensated for participating in this study.

**Confidentiality:** The records of this study will be kept private. In any sort of report I might publish, I will not include any information that will make it possible to identify a subject. Research records will be stored securely, and only the researcher will have access to the records.

- Participants will be assigned a pseudonym. I will conduct the interviews in a private location where others will not easily overhear the conversation.
- Data will be stored on a password locked computer and may be used in future presentations. As per federal regulation, after three years, all electronic records will be deleted.
- Interviews will be recorded and transcribed. Recordings will be stored on a password locked computer for three years and then erased. Only the researcher will have access to these recordings.
- I cannot assure participants that other members of the focus group will not share what was discussed with persons outside of the group.

**Voluntary Nature of the Study:** Participation in this study is voluntary. Your decision whether or not to participate will not affect your current or future relations with Liberty University. If you decide to participate, you are free to not answer any question or withdraw at any time without affecting those relationships.

How to Withdraw from the Study: If you choose to withdraw from the study, please contact the researcher at the email address/phone number included in the next paragraph. Should you choose to withdraw, data collected from you, apart from focus group data, will be destroyed immediately and will not be included in this study. Focus group data will not be destroyed, but your contributions to the focus group will not be included in the study if you choose to withdraw.

Contacts and Questions: The researcher conducting this study is Raquel A. Grindley. You may ask any questions you have now. If you have questions later, you are encouraged to contact her at . You may also contact the researcher's faculty chair, Dr. Rogers, at

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study and would like to talk to someone other than the researcher, you are encouraged to contact the Institutional Review Board, 1971 University Blvd., Green Hall Ste. 2845, Lynchburg, VA 24515 or email at <a href="mailto:irb@liberty.edu">irb@liberty.edu</a>.

Please notify the researcher if you would like a copy of this information for your records.

**Statement of Consent:** I have read and understood the above information. I have asked questions and have received answers. I consent to participate in the study.

☐ The researcher has my permission to audio-record and video-record me through the Zoom platform as part of my participation in this study.		
Signature of Participant	Date	
Signature of Investigator	Date	

### **Appendix C: Recruitment Letter**

October 15, 2022

Dear Prospective Participant,

As a graduate student in the School of Education at Liberty University, I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a doctoral degree. The purpose of my research is to describe the experiences of high school graduates who were at-risk for dropping out of school due to socioeconomic factors, but still graduated from a Tile I public high school. I am writing to invite eligible participants to join my study.

Participants must be 18 years of age or older, be a graduate of a Title I public high school located in northwest Georgia and were considered at-risk for dropping out of school due to socioeconomic factors. Participants, if willing, will be asked to participate in a semi-structured interview, to participate in one focus group, and to complete a writing prompt with four questions. Participants will receive the transcripts of their interview and their focus group so that they can review the accuracy of their given accounts. It should take approximately 30 minutes to complete the semi-structured interview, approximately 30 minutes to complete the focus group meetings, and 30 minutes to complete the written prompts. Names and other identifying information will be requested as part of this study, but the information will remain confidential.

To participate, please complete the attached survey and return it by sending it to me via email at @liberty.edu.

A consent document is attached to this recruitment email and it contains additional information about my research. If you choose to participate, you will need to save a copy of the attached consent form to your computer, type your name and the date on the form, save the completed form, and return it to me as an emailed attachment before the study procedures begin.

Sincerely,
Raquel A. Grindley Doctoral Student, Liberty University
()

### **Appendix D: Recruitment Survey**

- 1. Did you graduate from a Title I high school in the southern region of Atlanta, Georgia?
- 2. If yes, what year?
- 3. What were your guardians' highest levels of education?
- 4. Will you make yourself available to participate in a one-on-one interview about your experience with the college and career readiness curriculum at the high school you attended?
- 5. Are you available to participate in a focus group about your experience with the college and career readiness curriculum at the high school you attended?
- 6. Are you willing to provide written responses about your experience with the college and career readiness curriculum at the high school you attended?

### **Appendix E: Semi-Structured Individual Interview Questions**

- 1. Please introduce yourself. CRQ
- 2. Please share the year you graduated from high school. CRQ
- 3. With as much detail as possible, describe your definition of college readiness. SQ1
- 4. With as much detail as possible, describe your definition of career readiness. SQ2
- 5. What were your positive experiences with your high school's college and career readiness curriculum? SQ1
- 6. What were your negative experiences with your high school's college and career readiness curriculum? SQ1
- 7. Describe the high school teachers' instructional styles. SQ1
- 8. Tell me how your high school teachers' instructional styles affected your interest in/readiness for college settings? SQ1
- 9. Tell me how your high school teachers' instructional styles affected your interest in/readiness for workforce settings? SQ2
- 10. What are the characteristics of an effective high school teacher at a Title I school? CRQ
- 11. What do you think ARS should be taught about college and career readiness? CRQ
- 12. Explain whether or not you feel your socioeconomic status (SES) affected your ability to be successful in a postsecondary institution (college, trade school, certificate program)? SQ1
- 13. Explain whether or not you feel your socioeconomic status (SES) affected your readiness to enter the workforce? SQ2
- 14. With as much detail as possible, describe the postsecondary plans you created during your senior year of high school. SQ1
- 15. What information from the college and career readiness curriculum helped you attain your postsecondary goals? SQ1

- 16. What recommendations to you have for college and career readiness curriculum writers?
  CRQ
- 17. Is there any other information you would want to share with me about your experience with the college and career readiness curriculum at your school or its effect on your postsecondary outcomes? CRQ
- 18. How involved were your parents/guardians involved in your college or career readiness plans? CRQ
- 19. How do you feel about your parents'/guardians' role in your high school education? CRQ

### **Appendix F: Focus Group Questions**

- 1. Please describe the most memorable experiences in your high school CCR course. SQ1
- 2. Tell me about the low points in your high school CCR course experience. SQ1
- 3. What was your perception of the high school CCR curriculum? SQ1
- 4. Tell me about your level of comfort in college/ trade school environments? SQ2
- 5. Describe the connections between your experience with the high school CCR curriculum and your postsecondary experiences. SQ2
- 6. What challenges have you experienced in postsecondary life? CRQ
- 7. What is your opinion of the CCR culture of your high school while you were enrolled? SQ1
- 8. What suggestions do you have for future CCR curriculum developers? CRQ

# **Appendix G: Written Response Prompts**

- 1. Describe any challenges you encountered with your postsecondary education. SQ1
- 2. Describe your opinions and thoughts of the college environment in comparison to your high school environment. SQ1
- 3. Describe any challenges you encountered in finding (or trying to find) employment. SQ2
- 4. Describe your opinions and thoughts of a professional environment in comparison to your high school environment. CRQ

# Appendix H: Audit Trail

Date	Entry: Event/Task/Update
08/14/2022	First version of manuscript sent to SOE for approval.
08/21/2022	Dissertation proposal manuscript approved by SOE.
08/29/2022	Dissertation proposal defense passed and approved.
08/30/2022-09/02/2022	Revised original prospectus of Chapters 1 and 2 to past tense.
09/06/2022	Creation of IRB application on Cayuse.
09/12/2022	Preliminary submission of IRB application.
09/21/2022	IRB application returned for revision.
10/15/2022	Second submission of IRB application.
11/02/2022	IRB approval granted to begin research study.
11/02/2022	Recruitment email sent out.
11/02/2022-11/13/2022	Consent forms received from potential participants.
11/02/2022–11/19/2022	Conducted one-on-one interviews, focus groups and received written responses.
11/14/2022-11/20/2022	Transcribed all interviews. Interview transcriptions sent back to participants to allow for member checks.
11/15/2022–1/21/2022	Transcriptions received back from participants. Themes were coded.
11/21/2022–11/24/2022	Chapter 4 completed. Revised Chapter 3 to past tense. Edited Chapters 1–3.
11/24/2022-11/27/2022	Completed Chapter 5 draft. Edited/revised Chapters 1–5
11/28/2022	Submitted to Chair for review.
12/11/2022	Resubmitted to Chair for review of Chapter 4 and Chapter 5 revisions.

### **Appendix I: Sample Interview**

### Speaker 1

Thanks so much for being a participant. How are you doing?

#### Speaker 2

I'm pretty good thank you. How are you?

#### Speaker 1

I'm doing well, thanks for asking. If you're ready we can get started.

### Speaker 2

I'm ready.

#### Speaker 1

Great. What year did you graduate from high school?

#### Speaker 2

2014.

#### Speaker 1

Please describe your definition of college readiness.

#### Speaker 2

Able to work with others, stay optimistic, and having just a really good support system and being willing to learn and explore different things.

### Speaker 1

Awesome. Please describe your definition of career readiness.

#### Speaker 2

Well, definitely after getting some form of education or learning some type of skill and feeling willing to just start with a career and work towards building a career for yourself. Knowing stuff like how to complete a job application or write a resume and cover letter. Gathering references and stuff like that. None of my high school classes covered that stuff.

### Speaker 1

What were your positive experiences with your high schools', college and career curriculum?

### Speaker 2

Well, there was actually an engineering program that was at my high school and due to budget cuts, it was no longer was available to us. And there was budget cuts that cut out a lot of what I would feel would be necessary as far as being able to be college ready and career ready. Especially afterschool programs and extracurricular activities. So it pretty much was not the best experience as far as with the high school experience. After those budget cuts came and removed a lot of the programs and afterschool activities that were helping students become ready for college and their career.

### Speaker 1

That actually leads into my next question What were your negative experiences with your high school's college and career readiness curriculum?

#### Speaker 2

Where do I start? There were so many. It definitely didn't match what I needed to get into college and it didn't' teach me about how to be professional are survive in professional spaces. I think there should be a class in there that is about the transition to real life, like how to manage money or how to actually choose a college. My problem too was the way some of the teachers were teaching. I think it not just about what you learn but also how your being taught that effects how good the curriculum is.

#### Speaker 1

Please describe your high school teachers' instructional styles.

#### Speaker 2

There was different high school teachers, ones that I really adored and would wish that everyone had as a teacher were the ones that was really understanding. What I mean by that is that they were very patient with their students and when nobody else believed in them, they were the one to believe in the students, even if they didn't believe in themselves. I had a few teachers that treated like I was their daughter, who really cared about me. Other teachers. I feel like maybe due to the budget cuts, maybe it was a decrease in their pay, or even maybe if they were just stretched very thin, they were not as understanding or empathetic or wanting to really be of support system students. So that would be probably one of the negative experience of a high school teacher like that. Some of those teachers just stopped caring about us after a while and others would let students do whatever they wanted in the class.

#### Speaker 1

How does your high school teacher's instructional style affect your interest in college and career readiness?

### Speaker 2

It affected it a lot because if a teacher doesn't believe in you and you know that you need to improve in some form or fashion and they really don't want to sit with you or your parents to talk through the changes, that could be helpful. That can be very hard for a student as far as when they're in high school trying to find their way, especially the most effective learning style for them. So when they go into college and they're more independent, they learn how or they'll know how they learn and how to be successful in college, it also can be isolating, which takes away from that team building component that's very important. I feel like when you're in college and when you're trying to build a career because network is your net worth essentially. So you need to learn how to talk to people and to work with people. And in college you're pretty much trained that you're on an island by yourself and pretty much you have to figure out on your own how to be successful in high school. It can be really burdensome to burdensome for a student to try to, like, overcome those obstacles and find their way and also build a very good career for themselves and also be successful in college, especially if it's a very new environment that they're not used to.

#### Speaker 1

Thank you, that response actually answered the next two questions. What are the characteristics of an effective high school teacher in a Title I high school?

### Speaker 2

I think the characteristics is patience, support, wisdom, and being able to, no matter what they're going through, separate their personal lives with their professional lives and actually want to give back to the student, whether it's helping them learn how to network or know something that would be really useful to students when they're in college. Like if they know, hey, you know, if you go into college for this specific college, this is the person you need to talk to. Or these are resources or don't be afraid to actually try to seek out a tutor because there's one available usually to the school. Tips like that. I think that would be really helpful for a student. So a characteristic is definitely like just wanting to really be there for the

students in a way kind of being like that additional parents that they may need in their lives. Oh I almost forgot they need to be very tech-friendly. Like really integrate tech into their lesson because college professors expect you to know about that kind of stuff. I had access and home so I was comfortable with it but my teachers never really used it in class.

#### Speaker 1

What do you think at-risk students should be taught about college and career readiness?

#### Speaker 2

Can you define at risk students?

#### Speaker 1

Yes. An at-risk student is an individual who is in grade school for the purposes of this study. An individual who's in grade school that is in danger of dropping out of school, usually for different factors. Usually it's socioeconomic factors. So if they're at risk, that means that because of where they come from or the neighborhood that they're in or the family that they have, or the race that they are or the economic status that they have, they have a higher danger of dropping out of school before getting their diploma.

#### Speaker 2

Cool. Can you repeat the question? I'm sorry. Yeah.

#### Speaker 1

Sure. What do you think at risk students should be taught about college and career readiness? So if a student is in danger of dropping out of high school specifically because of those socioeconomic factors, what should they be taught about college and career readiness?

### Speaker 2

I think they should be taught the different options as far as what's available to them. I feel like there's a lot of resources out there that students are not aware of. Some people don't even know that they can go to a trade school. Some people don't know that they can get education while serving. And some people don't know about the transfer program so that they can go to a college that is maybe not as well known for a couple of years. It will be cheaper, and then they can transfer to another college that is a little more expensive. But at the end of the day they got that stamp on their diploma. I think what is also important that students should learn that our at risk is financial their sleep. I think if they decide to drop off and they are working, they should know how to manage their money because even if they drop off, they can still pretty much get an education. You know, it'll be a harder and more difficult route, but it's definitely possible. And with money being probably one of the resources that will really be helpful to them, since they don't have the traditional route that's on their side, they can really like, really use their money more wisely.

#### Speaker 2

That will help them still achieve their goals, wherever that may be nontraditional. And I think also what's really important for asterisk students is that I feel like in the environment that's very toxic. They can be trained that the only way to be successful is on this route instead of like other routes or other paths. So making it known to them that, hey, you can be successful if you do this. If you go to trade school and you become an electrician, you can still make six figures. It doesn't have to be athletic or like being an athlete or doing all these other things that they see on television. They can do other that are still going to help them make a lot money and the money can help them achieve whatever dream that they have. They also need to be taught about how much more work they'll have to do once they get to college. One thing I noticed when I got to college was the amount of work I had to do. I took four courses my first semester and it seemed like the amount of work I did in those four courses was more than all my classes in an

entire year of high school. I felt so overwhelmed and it was frustrating because I felt like I never had enough time or energy to study for one of my college classes, let alone four.

### Speaker 1

Please explain whether or not you feel your socioeconomic status affected your ability to get into a postsecondary institution. So college, trade school or certificate program?

#### Speaker 2

It definitely could have. I feel like when I transferred to a college where I graduated from, there was definitely not a lot of representation there and I really had to fight for that transfer. Like, there was an error on my application and if I wasn't upfront and vocal about it, I wouldn't have been able to transfer to that school. And I also feel like even of transferring or getting to a school or whatnot, there was definitely some racism that was present when I got to the destination at the school. And I feel like if I had more of an interview instead of a paper application with my school, I might have experienced that racism during the decision process when they were making a decision on me. I think I'm very fortunate to have characteristics, whether it's my name or my voice or whatnot, that doesn't give away my race immediately. But I feel like if I just had the wrong name or if I spoke differently or in person with the people that were making a decision on my application, it would have definitely impacted me.

#### Speaker 1

Please explain whether or not you feel your socioeconomic status affected your readiness to enter the workforce.

#### Speaker 2

Yeah, it's funny because when I graduated, one of the reasons why I wanted to transfer to the school that I transferred to because pretty much people were telling me, hey, if you graduate, it doesn't matter your grades, it doesn't matter all that stuff. You'll have that stamp, whatever. I didn't find that to be completely true for still looking at my GPA, I've had to prove to people that I'm intelligent, and that because I may be a double minority in my industry or my field, that doesn't mean that I'm less of a people to have ever I was talking to. So during the application, like even the application process, again, it's not very telling my race, but when I had the interviews, et cetera, with the people that were making the decision, I really had to make a strong case on why I'm a fit for this role. And right now, still I have some difficulties. Like, I'm thinking about I was thinking about or I'm still thinking about switching careers and maybe getting a new job. That's what I was thinking about before I did this current job. But it was very difficult because people are still kind of wanting to really make that they're making the right decision.

### Speaker 2

And I don't know if that's something that everyone experience, but I definitely am aware of it.

### Speaker 1

Please describe the postsecondary plans you had created when you were in your senior year of high school.

#### Speaker 2

Can you define postsecondary plan?

### Speaker 1

Postsecondary is anything after high school.

### Speaker 2

Oh, okay. So after I graduated from high school, I was still doing dual enrollment, which was doing college well from high school. And during that time, I knew that I wanted to stay at the college that I was

doing dual enrollment with. I actually was working on transferring to another school. But during my time at the college that I was doing dual enrollment with, there was a lot of people that came back from that school that I was applying for, and that's the school that I was applying for. It was the one that I eventually went to England, but there was people saying, hey, I didn't make it in that school and I have to come back. And that's pretty much going to be your future. And I would go to a professor or two and be like, yeah, I'm planning to eventually transfer to this school. And I guess because I was not a straight A student or there could have been other factors to that, they didn't really think that I would be successful after I transferred. So when I think I applied to go to the school right after high school, and I think I was declining the mission and it was really, like, devastating.

#### Speaker 2

I didn't look more into my application. I probably could have. I have mentors that works at the school that were telling me, hey, I can check on your application and see exactly why this didn't go through, because we think you should have been able to have been admitted. And I said, no, I didn't want to continue trying to get into the school. I didn't feel like I was ready, and I stayed an additional, like, two years at the school I was doing dual enrollment with, and I found out about the transfer program and did that instead.

#### Speaker 1

What information from the college and career curriculum at your high school helps you attain your postsecondary goals?

#### Speaker 2

One more time. Can you have the question one more time? Sorry?

#### Speaker 1

What information from your college and career curriculum in high school helped you attain your postsecondary goals?

### Speaker 2

That's a good question. So when it came to before I transferred, I definitely was reading all the flyers and poster boards that were up on the campus, and I think because I read it and found out that way, I didn't even sign out through my counselor. I found out through reading material that was around the school about the transfer program that was available to me at the school. Who wanted to go for an engineering program or engineering degree. I didn't really have a lot of people in my family that were engineers. I didn't know any engineers, really. I was very fortunate to have met a mentor while at high school through a friend of mine who was an engineer and thought that I would be a great role, great fit for an engineering degree. And I was very fortunate to also have some teachers, some good teachers that were in high school that I listened to say, hey, you should definitely consider engineering degree. So when I saw the opportunity, I definitely researched it and I started nagging my account about it. And eventually I got in to the transfer school and I had some unfortunate things happen, but I really just focused on graduating, and I really learned a lot about my learning style.

#### Speaker 1

What recommendations to you have for college and career readiness curriculum writers?

### Speaker 2

I realized after I transferred that school is not to define me by my grade. School is what is supposed to help me learn how to learn, because my education is not going to stop there. It's going to continue on, especially as I build my career observant, really listening to people, especially that are older than me, and then people who really were very willing to be mentors and show me the ropes and tell me about resources that were available and just always looking for opportunities after opportunities really helped with me reaching my goals when it came to my schooling. So those writers need to have a class that helps

students meet people like that or assign people to each student that can help them in that way. Like a mentorship class or internship.

### Speaker 1

How involved were your parents or guardians in your college and career readiness plans?

### Speaker 2

But my parents were so shocked, and they even mentioned not helping me pay for school. And it was really just kind of sad because I was like, I keep trying to make progress, and I'm hit with all these obstacles as far as being able to get an education. It seemed like they want me to achieve or be, like, succeed, but they are at the same time being an obstacle for me and I don't know why. So eventually they would help out and stuff, but I really had to do a lot of research. I had to look into the scholarship, I found scholarships and had to apply for them. I was still working while in school and stuff like that, so it was not like, easy at all and I really had to be, like, very independent and it was pretty tough, I'm not going to lie. But, yeah, when it comes to my parents, I wish they were a little more supportive, a little more like, filling the confidence in me and saying that I can do stuff instead of not showing that at all.

#### Speaker 1

Is there any other information that you would like to share with me about your postsecondary experience?

### Speaker 2

Yeah, I think when it comes to, like, college, first of all, no matter what college you go to, if people are saying that it doesn't matter your GPA once you graduate and stuff, they're lying. Second at all, I say that because I found out after college, jobs will still look at your GPA within five years of your career. So that's very important. There's no right way of getting your education. I'm trying to talk to my siblings about this. I am the oldest of seven and they're looking like they're not going to be taking the traditional route when it comes to getting their education. And I feel like I'm very fortunate to have had the opportunities that I received when it came to like, me being able to reach my postsecondary goals. But not everybody is like that and, you know, I just want people to be aware that there's no right way. You can do a lot of things and go a lot of different paths that will still get you in the same place that I am today or that you want to be tomorrow. And I want to also share some other resources that I found was very useful.

### Speaker 2

I think Junior Achievement is definitely like a program that I would recommend they teach kids entrepreneurship, and I feel like that's where the future is heading. It doesn't seem like jobs are becoming more secure. If anything, they're less secure. And I feel like people are really trying to find ways to help make their child ready for postsecondary schooling, but they're not really focused on how to make sure their kids are independent and don't have to worry. About how they will replace one source of income if anything happens to their jobs that they thought was steady and going to benefit them to retirement. So that's something that I wanted to share also. I wanted to share that mentorship is very, very important. If I learned anything, if there's one thing that can be changed overnight that I feel like will help students, I think having a mentorship program really helps them because it shows representation as someone who can also probably get them into networks that they probably wouldn't have been able to get through or to any other means. And yeah, I really hope that the future for at risk students continue to shine a little bright or a little brighter each day.

### Speaker 2

But yeah, it's really tough out here. So I really hope that these resources hopefully become useful and helpful to students.

#### Speaker 1

Thank you so much. That was a fantastic interview.

# Speaker 2

You're welcome, I hope it helps. Good luck on your studies.

# Speaker 1

It definitely helps, thank you so much. Have a good day.

# Speaker 2

You too bye bye.